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44 Legal proceedings continued 

Lovaza  
In March 2009, the Group received notice that Teva 
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc., Par Pharmaceutical, Inc., and Apotex 
Inc., had filed ANDAs with a certification that two patents 
covering Lovaza are invalid, unenforceable, or not infringed. The 
patents expire in 2013 and 2017. The Group is the licensee 
under these patents. Pronova Biopharma Norge AS, the owner of 
the patents, sued Teva, Par and Apotex in the US District Court 
for the District of Delaware. FDA approval of the ANDAs will be 
stayed until the earlier of May 2012 or a decision favourable to 
one of the generics. 

Malarone  
In August 2009 the Group filed suit in the US District Court for the 
District of Delaware against Glenmark Generics Inc. USA for 
infringement of its patents related to Malarone. The Group had 
received notification that Glenmark had filed an ANDA for 
Malarone, with certification alleging that the Group’s patents were 
invalid, unenforceable, or not infringed. These patents, which 
expire in 2014, cover the combination of atovaquone and 
proguanil hydrochloride and its use for preventing malaria. FDA 
approval of Glenmark’s ANDA is stayed until the earlier of 
January 2012 or a judgment adverse to GSK. 

Paxil/Seroxat  
In the USA a number of manufacturers or distributors of generic 
Paxil filed applications with the FDA to market their generic 
versions prior to the expiration in 2007 of the Group’s patent on 
paroxetine hyrdrochloride hemihydrate. Of these actions, only 
one remains pending, namely an action against Apotex in the US 
District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania on patents 
with composition of matter and process of manufacture claims. 
An anti-trust counterclaim has been asserted by Apotex, as 
discussed under ‘Anti-trust’ on page 175. The case has now been 
set for trial in April 2010. 

In Europe, generic products containing paroxetine hydrochloride 
are now on the market in most European countries. The Group’s 
Netherlands patent infringement action against Farmaceutisch 
Analytisch Laboratorium Duiven B.V. (FAL), and FAL’s 
counterclaims for unfair competition, was settled in July 2009.  

Following the litigation in Canada with Apotex over several 
patents related to paroxetine, Apotex launched its generic 
product in Canada in October 2003. Apotex has now alleged that 
as a result of that litigation it had been enjoined from launching 
that product after receipt of regulatory approval. An action by 
Apotex to recover damages related to the delay occasioned by 
those injunctions is ongoing.  

Requip XL  
In January 2009, the Group received letters from Impax 
Laboratories, Inc. and Actavis South Atlantic LLC indicating that 
their ANDAs for Requip XL had been accepted by the FDA. The 
letters included an allegation that the patent licensed by the 
Group from SkyePharma covering the extended release 
formulation was not infringed by their products. Additional ANDAs 
were filed in 2009 by Torrent Pharmaceuticals and Lupin Ltd. with 
certifications that the formulation patent was not infringed. The 
Group did not bring suits against these companies. 

Treximet  
In October 2008, the Group received a letter from Par 
Pharmaceuticals that the FDA had accepted its ANDA for 
Treximet, which included a certification that patents owned by 
Pozen, Inc. relating to Treximet were invalid, unenforceable 
and/or not infringed. Pozen’s patents are licensed to the Group. 
In November 2008, Pozen filed suit against Par under three of its 
patents in the District Court for the Eastern District of Texas. In 
November 2008, the Group received a letter from Alphapharm 
and its designated agent, Mylan Pharmaceuticals, that the FDA 
had accepted its ANDA for Treximet, which included a 
certification that Pozen’s patents relating to Treximet were 
invalid, unenforceable and/or not infringed. Pozen filed suit 
against Alphapharm and Mylan in January 2009 for infringement 
of its patents in the District Court for the Eastern District of Texas 
and Delaware. The Delaware case has since been dismissed. In 
2009, Pozen also sued Teva Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. and 
Dr. Reddy’s under the same patents in the same court. Treximet 
has data exclusivity that precludes approval of a generic product 
until April 2011. The Group is not a party to any of the lawsuits 
brought by Pozen. 

Valtrex  
In July 2009, Apotex Inc. filed a complaint for a declaratory 
judgment in the District Court for the Middle District of North 
Carolina that Apotex’s valacyclovir product did not infringe a 
formulation patent owned by the Group for Valtrex. Apotex filed a 
para iv certification in 2008 challenging this patent and GSK did 
not file suit challenging the certificate. GSK filed a response to 
this declaratory judgment complaint in August 2009 and did not 
contest the non-infringement allegation. In October 2009, Apotex 
filed a motion for judgment. The matter is pending a decision on 
the motion. In November 2009, Ranbaxy launched the first 
generic product for valacyclovir. 

Vesicare  
The Group markets Vesicare under license from Astellas Pharma 
Inc. In September 2009, Astellas filed suit against Teva 
Pharmaceuticals USA, Inc. in the Federal District Court for the 
Southern District of New York for infringement of its patent 
covering the active ingredient in Vesicare. Astellas had received 
notice that Teva Pharmaceuticals had filed an ANDA with a 
certification that the basic patent, which expires in 2018, was 
invalid or unenforceable. FDA approval of Teva’s ANDA is stayed 
until the earlier of February 2012 or a decision in the case 
favourable to Teva. 

Product liability 
Pre-clinical and clinical trials are conducted during the 
development of potential products to determine the safety and 
efficacy of products for use by humans following approval by 
regulatory bodies. Notwithstanding these efforts, when drugs and 
vaccines are introduced into the marketplace, unanticipated 
safety issues may become evident. The Group is currently a 
defendant in a number of product liability lawsuits related to the 
Group’s pharmaceutical and consumer healthcare products. The 
most significant of those matters are described on pages 172 and 
173. 
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44 Legal proceedings continued 

Avandia  
The Group has been named in product liability lawsuits on behalf 
of individuals and purported class action cases asserting 
consumer fraud and/or personal injury claims on behalf of 
purchasers and users of Avandia. The federal cases are part of a 
multi-district litigation proceeding pending in the US District Court 
for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania. Cases have also been 
filed in state courts. Cases filed in Philadelphia have been 
coordinated in the Mass Tort Program. These matters are in the 
discovery phase, with the first trial scheduled for June 2010. 
Additionally, a purported nationwide class action suit was filed in 
February 2009 in the US District Court for the Eastern District of 
Pennsylvania on behalf of all third party payers seeking economic 
damages under various state unfair trade practices and 
consumer protection laws. Plaintiffs have indicated that they will 
be filing an amended complaint in the future. 

Finally, one purported class action has been filed in Israel, and 
briefing of whether to certify the class action is underway. Ten 
class actions are pending in Canada, and are at an early stage.  

Baycol  
The Group and Bayer Corporation, the principal US subsidiary of 
Bayer AG, have signed an allocation agreement under which 
Bayer Corporation has agreed to pay 95% of all settlements and 
compensatory damages judgments, with each party retaining 
responsibility for its own attorneys’ fees and any punitive 
damages. The federal cases have been consolidated in a multi-
district litigation proceeding in the US District Court for the District 
of Minnesota. The multi-district litigation is in the process of 
winding down, with less than 10 plaintiffs remaining. To date two 
statewide class actions have been certified – a medical 
monitoring case in Pennsylvania and a Consumer Fraud and 
Deceptive Business Practices Act case in Illinois. The medical 
monitoring action was dismissed by the court on summary 
judgment, and the Supreme Court of Illinois likewise dismissed 
the consumer fraud claim on summary judgment in 
December 2009. A nationwide class of third-party payers was 
certified by a Pennsylvania state court. That case settled before 
trial. Another class action, in which the Group was not named as 
a defendant, had been certified in Oklahoma. That case has been 
decertified, and the deadline for appealing the decertification 
order has passed. More than 3,100 claims for death or serious 
injury have been settled and thousands of others alleging muscle 
aches and pains have been voluntarily or involuntarily dismissed. 

Paxil and Paxil CR  
The Group has received numerous lawsuits and claims alleging 
that use of Paxil (paroxetine) has caused a variety of injuries. 
Many of these lawsuits and claims allege that the use of Paxil 
during pregnancy resulted in the birth of a child with birth defects 
or health issues. Other lawsuits and claims allege that patients 
who took Paxil committed or attempted to commit suicide and/ or 
acts of violence. Finally, a third group of lawsuits and claims 
allege that the use of Paxil caused patients to suffer symptoms 
on discontinuing treatment with Paxil. 

The cases filed in Philadelphia alleging injury during pregnancy 
have been coordinated in the Philadelphia Mass Tort Program. In 
October 2009, the first trial resulted in an adverse jury verdict in 
the amount of $2.5 million (Kilker v. GlaxoSmithKline). No 
punitive damages were awarded. Post-trial motions are pending. 
The Group also has purported class action litigation in Canada 
concerning use of Paxil during pregnancy.  

In the claims and lawsuits alleging that treatment with Paxil has 
caused homicidal or suicidal behaviour exhibited by users of the 
product, class certification was denied in January 2007 in a 
purported personal injury class action lawsuit. Cases remain 
pending in federal and state courts. The cases filed in 
Philadelphia have been coordinated in the Mass Tort Program.  

With respect to the lawsuits filed in state and federal courts in the 
USA and Canada alleging that Paxil is addictive and causes 
dependency and withdrawal reactions, virtually all the US actions 
have now been resolved. A California court granted plaintiffs’ 
motion to certify a class in a consumer fraud lawsuit seeking only 
economic damages, focused on discontinuation symptoms. In 
Canada, the Quebec court denied plaintiffs motion to certify a 
class of patients who allegedly experienced discontinuation 
symptoms. That decision is on appeal. In the UK, public funding 
has been granted for hundreds of patients to pursue common 
issues in litigation alleging that paroxetine has caused them to 
suffer from withdrawal reactions and dependency. The trial is 
scheduled to commence in January 2011.  

Poligrip  
A number of product liability lawsuits and claims have been filed 
against the Group in both state and federal courts in the USA, 
including purported class actions, alleging that the zinc in Poligrip 
causes copper depletion and permanent neurologic injury. The 
first lawsuit alleging neurologic injuries from zinc in Poligrip was 
filed in August 2005. The federal cases are part of the Denture 
Cream Adhesive multi-district litigation in the US District Court for 
the Southern District of Florida which was established in 
June 2009. Both the Group and Procter & Gamble are 
defendants in this litigation. Included in the MDL are purported 
class actions asserting economic loss claims under state 
consumer protection laws and claims for medical monitoring. 
With one exception (a state court case in Arkansas), all of the 
state court cases have been consolidated in the Mass Tort 
Program in Philadelphia. A purported class action asserting 
consumer fraud claims was recently filed in Canada. On 18th 
February 2010, the Group announced that it was voluntarily 
withdrawing all zinc-containing formulations of Poligrip. 

Thimerosal  
The Group, along with a number of other pharmaceutical 
companies, has been named as a defendant in numerous 
individual personal injury lawsuits in state and federal district 
courts in the USA alleging that thimerosal, a preservative used in 
the manufacture of vaccines, causes neurodevelopmental 
disorders and other injuries, including autism. 

Two of the cases are purported class actions, although there has 
been no determination whether any of those cases will be 
permitted to proceed as a class action. A number of purported 
class actions in other jurisdictions have been withdrawn or 
dismissed. Plaintiffs seek remedies including compensatory, 
punitive and statutory damages as well as the cost of a fund for 
medical monitoring and research.  

As of the date of this report, in the limited number of cases that 
have approached trial dates, vaccine manufacturers and 
manufacturers of other thimerosal containing medicinal products 
have been successful in excluding testimony of plaintiffs’ expert 
witnesses on causation, specifically on grounds that plaintiffs 
have failed to establish that the hypothesised link between 
thimerosal and neurodevelopmental disorders is generally 
accepted as reliable within the relevant scientific community.  
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44 Legal proceedings continued 

Additionally, in February 2009, the Office of Special Masters of 
the United States Court of Federal Claims rejected the first three 
of approximately 4,900 autism claims filed under the National 
Vaccine Injury Compensation Program (NVICP) on the grounds 
that claimants failed to produce reliable scientific evidence linking 
their vaccinations to their medical conditions, including autism.  

The Group was not a party to these proceedings. The findings 
from them cannot be used as evidence in the pending lawsuits 
against the Group. All three decisions were upheld on appeal by 
the United States Court of Federal Claims. Two of the three 
NVICP claimants now have appealed the rulings to the US Court 
of Appeals for the Federal Circuit. The third claimant has elected 
not to appeal further and has rejected the decision from the 
NVICP. This claimant now has the option of filing an action either 
against the Group and/or the physician who administered the 
vaccine in question. As of this date, no such action has been 
commenced.  

The remaining approximately 4,900 NVICP claimants also will 
ultimately have the option of pursuing personal injury lawsuits 
against the vaccine manufacturers, including the Group. It is too 
early to determine whether the announcement of the NVCIP 
decisions is likely to lead to an increase in the number of civil 
cases filed against the Group. As of the date of this report, there 
are no cases scheduled for trial in 2010 in which the Group is a 
defendant.  

Sales and marketing and regulation 
Marketing and promotion  
In February 2004, the Group received a subpoena from the US 
Attorney’s office in Colorado regarding the Group’s sales and 
promotional practices relating to nine of its largest selling 
products, for the period from January 1997 to 2004. In particular, 
the government has inquired about alleged promotion of these 
drugs for off-label uses, as well as Group-sponsored continuing 
medical education programmes, other speaker events, special 
issue boards, advisory boards, speaker training programmes, 
clinical studies and related grants, fees, travel and entertainment. 
Although the original subpoena was issued from the US 
Attorney’s office in Colorado, the scope of the inquiry is 
nationwide. 

The government is also inquiring about the Group’s response to 
an October 2002 letter from the FDA’s Division of Drug 
Marketing, Advertising and Communication requesting 
information on the Group’s alleged promotion of Wellbutrin SR for 
off-label use. The Group is co-operating with the investigation 
and providing the requested information.  

Following a United Nations report alleging that bribes had been 
paid to Iraqi government officials in connection with the UN Oil for 
Food Programme, the Group received a subpoena from the SEC 
in February 2006 in respect of the Group’s participation in that 
programme. The US Department of Justice also initiated an 
investigation. In December 2007, the UK Serious Fraud Office 
issued a formal notice to the Group requiring production of 
documents related to the Group’s participation in the programme. 
The Group is co-operating with the investigations and has 
provided documents responsive to the subpoena and the notice, 
and continues to respond to follow up questions and requests.  

Average wholesale price  
The United States Department of Justice, a number of states and 
putative classes of private payers have for several years now 
been investigating and/or bringing civil litigation regarding 
allegations that numerous pharmaceutical companies, including 
GSK, have violated federal or state fraud and abuse laws as a 
result of the way ‘average wholesale price’ (AWP) and ‘wholesale 
acquisition cost’ (WAC) have been determined and reported for 
various drugs reimbursed under the Medicare, Medicaid and 
other insurance programmes. In 2005 the Group reached a 
$149 million civil settlement with the federal government to 
resolve allegations relating to the pricing and marketing of Zofran 
and Kytril. The Group also amended its existing corporate 
integrity agreement as a requirement of the settlement. In 2007, 
the Group received final approval of a $70 million nationwide 
private payer class action settlement relating to the Group’s price 
reporting in an MDL proceeding in the US District Court for the 
District of Massachusetts. 

A number of states, through their respective attorneys general, 
and most of the counties in New York State have filed civil 
lawsuits in state and federal courts against GSK and many other 
drug companies claiming damages and restitution due to AWP 
and/or WAC price reporting for pharmaceutical products covered 
by the states’ Medicaid programmes. The states seek recovery 
on behalf of the states as payers and, in some cases, on behalf 
of in-state patients as consumers.  

The Group has separately resolved AWP claims by state 
Medicaid programmes in more than two-thirds of the states 
through the DOJ Settlement or separate negotiations. Litigation 
concerning AWP issues is continuing with eight states, as well as 
with New York counties. In July 2008, an Alabama state court 
jury returned an $81 million verdict against the Group in one such 
case filed by the State of Alabama. In October 2009 the Alabama 
Supreme Court reversed the jury verdict and rendered judgment 
in GSK’s favour. The court expressly found that GSK had not 
defrauded the Alabama Medicaid programme. In January 2010 
the Alabama Supreme Court declined Alabama’s petition for 
reconsideration of the reversal.  

In November 2009 a Kentucky state court jury returned a 
$661,860 compensatory damages only verdict against the Group 
in another such case filed by the State of Kentucky. The jury 
found the Group liable for violating the state’s consumer 
protection laws, but not liable under the state’s Medicaid fraud 
and false advertising statutes. In January 2010 the judge in the 
case awarded the State of Kentucky an additional $5,828,000 in 
statutory penalties. The Group is considering whether to appeal.  

Nominal pricing  
The Group responded to two letter requests from the US Senate 
Committee on Finance, dated April 2004 and February 2005, for 
documents and information relating to the nominal price 
exception to the best price reporting requirements under the 
Medicaid Drug Rebate Programme. In January 2007, the 
committee released its findings that some pharmaceutical 
manufacturers inappropriately used the nominal price exception 
contrary to the committee’s interpretation of Congressional intent. 
In May 2004, the Group was advised by the US Department of 
Justice that it is investigating certain of the Group’s nominal 
pricing and bundled sales arrangements to determine whether 
those arrangements qualify under the exception to the best price 
reporting requirements or violate civil statutes or laws. 
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In March 2008, the Group received a broad letter request from 
the US Department of Justice seeking a range of documents 
relating to all of the Group’s nominal pricing arrangements since 
1994 and any possible bundled sales. The Group is continuing to 
co-operate in the investigation and produce documents. The 
Group has also received subpoenas and requests for documents 
and information from Delaware and Michigan related to the 
Group’s nominal price arrangements. The Group is cooperating 
in those investigations and producing responsive documents. In 
addition to these governmental investigations, allegations 
concerning the nominal pricing have been made by certain 
government payers as part of the AWP litigation. The Group has 
not entered into any nominal price arrangements since 
December 2003. 

340B Programme  
The Group is defending an action filed in federal court in the US 
District Court for the Northern District of California by the County 
of Santa Clara and one other county, which seeks to represent a 
putative class of hospitals, clinics and other entities in California 
that are eligible to receive discounted ‘ceiling prices’ on 
pharmaceuticals under a federal programme known as the ‘340B 
Programme’. Plaintiffs allege that the Group and numerous other 
pharmaceutical manufacturers have been setting ‘ceiling prices’ 
higher than allowed by law and, under the contract that governs 
the programme, and have therefore overcharged the entities in 
California that are eligible to participate in the 340B Programme. 
The lawsuit was dismissed in 2006. It was reinstated in August 
2008 following an appeal. It is now being actively litigated at the 
trial court level. Part of plaintiffs’ claim is that the defendants 
miscalculated ‘Average Manufacturer Prices’ (AMPs) and ‘Best 
Prices’ (BPs) under the Medicaid rebate program which, because 
they form part of the ‘ceiling price’ formula, resulted in inflated 
‘ceiling prices.’ Defendants have asserted, and continue to 
assert, that these plaintiffs are not entitled to challenge the 
calculation of AMPs and BPs as part of this lawsuit. 

Paxil/Seroxat  
Following the Group’s 2004 settlement of a lawsuit filed by the 
New York State Attorney General’s office alleging failure to 
disclose data on the use of Paxil in children and adolescents, 
similar cases, some of which purported to be class actions, were 
filed by private plaintiffs seeking to recover amounts paid for Paxil 
purchased for use by patients under the age of 18. Following a 
class settlement with consumers in 2007, the US District Court 
for the District of Minnesota in 2008 approved a $40 million class 
settlement of ensuing lawsuits seeking recovery on behalf of 
insurance companies and other third-party payers for payments 
for prescriptions of Paxil to children and adolescents. The Group 
denied liability in both settlements. In 2009, a similar purported 
class action was filed in US District Court for the District of 
Minnesota on behalf of all federal, state and local government 
entities that paid for prescriptions of Paxil to minors. There also 
remains a similar purported class action in Canada seeking 
economic damages on behalf of individuals, third party payers 
and governmental entities that purchased Paxil for use by 
patients under the age of 18. 

Cidra, Puerto Rico manufacturing site  
In October 2007 the Group announced plans to cease operations 
at its manufacturing facilities located in Cidra, Puerto Rico. On 
30th July 2009; the Cidra site ceased operations and 
commenced decommissioning activities. The remaining 
operational staffs were released on 30th September 2009. On 6th
October 2009, the US District Court for the Eastern District of 
North Carolina entered an order vacating the Consent Decree to 
which the Group and the FDA agreed regarding the Group’s 
manufacturing operations at the site. The Group has completed 
decommissioning activities and is currently pursuing opportunities
to sell the site to a third party. 

In October 2003, the US federal government executed a search 
warrant at the Cidra facility and seized records relating to the 
manufacturing operations at the site.  

In April 2005, the Group received a subpoena from the US 
Attorney’s Office in Boston requesting production of records 
regarding manufacturing at the Cidra site, covering information 
that is similar to that seized by the US government in Puerto Rico 
in 2003. Subsequently, the Group received additional subpoenas 
from the government related to the Cidra facility. The Group is 
co-operating with the US Attorney’s Office and producing the 
records responsive to the subpoenas. In addition, in July 2007, 
the Group learned that the US District Court for the District of 
Massachusetts had unsealed a complaint brought by a former 
employee under the federal False Claims Act claiming monetary 
damages as a result of the alleged failure of the Cidra facility to 
comply with FDA Good Manufacturing Processes (GMPs) in the 
manufacture of various products.  

The Group is also named in two purported consumer fraud class 
action lawsuits – one filed in California state court and the other 
in the US District Court for the District of Puerto Rico - alleging 
that Paxil products were not manufactured according to GMP. 
Plaintiffs sought economic, statutory and punitive damages, 
along with a request for injunctive relief. In the summer of 2008, 
the Group reached a tentative agreement to settle these matters. 
The settlement covers nationwide classes of consumer 
purchasers and third party payers. It provides a claims procedure 
for class members to receive payment only for split/defective 
Paxil CR tablets. The settlement received final trial court approval 
in September 2009. Objectors to the settlement filed appeals, but 
the appeals were dismissed in February 2010. Accordingly, the 
settlement has become final and effective in accordance with its 
terms. Under the settlement agreement, the consumer fraud 
class action lawsuits will be dismissed with prejudice. The related 
third party payer suit filed in the Philadelphia Court of Common 
Pleas was marked as settled, discontinued and ended as of 5th 
October 2009.  
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44 Legal proceedings continued 
 
Anti-trust 
Paxil/Seroxat  
The trial date for the remaining patent infringement action 
brought by the Group against Apotex and Apotex’s counterclaim 
remains set for 15th April 2010 in the US District Court for the 
Eastern District of Pennsylvania. In this matter, the Group seeks 
substantial damages for Apotex’s alleged infringement of one of 
the Group’s patents on paroxetine hydrochloride, and Apotex in 
turn seeks damages from the Group in an amount substantially 
larger than the damages sought by the Group, for alleged 
violations of federal anti-trust laws, as well as those involving 
advertising and state anti-trust and consumer protection laws. 
Under the federal anti-trust laws, the damages sought by Apotex 
would be trebled in the event of an adverse jury verdict against 
the Group. On 2nd December 2009, the Court ordered that the 
Group and Apotex engage in mediation to attempt to reach 
settlement on the patent infringement claim and the counterclaim.

EU sector inquiry  
In January 2008, the European Commission announced an 
inquiry into certain aspects of competition in the pharmaceutical 
sector and initiated inspections at the premises of a number of 
innovator and generic pharmaceutical companies, including the 
Group. The Commission published a preliminary report in 
November 2008 based on information provided to it by innovator 
and generic pharmaceutical companies. The report suggests that 
defensive patenting strategies may lead to obstacles to 
innovation and that innovator companies employ measures to 
hinder generics coming onto the market. The final report was 
issued in July 2009. While not contradicting the preliminary report 
the final report conceded that delays in generic entry was as 
much the fault of the regulatory environment as innovator 
companies’ defensive strategies. In this report, the Commission 
stated that it did not attack legitimate patenting practices and 
identified areas for follow up scrutiny by the Commission and 
recommended regulatory reform and improvement. 

Wellbutrin SR  
In December 2004, January 2005 and February 2005, lawsuits, 
several of which purported to be class actions, were filed in the 
US District Court for the Eastern District of Pennsylvania against 
the Group on behalf of direct and indirect purchasers of 
Wellbutrin SR. The complaints allege violations of US anti-trust 
laws through sham litigation and fraud on the patent office by the 
Group in obtaining and enforcing patents covering Wellbutrin SR. 
The complaints followed the introduction of generic competition to 
Wellbutrin SR in April 2004, after district and appellate court 
rulings that a generic manufacturer did not infringe the Group’s 
patents. While a class of direct purchasers has been certified, no 
decision has yet been made by the Court with regard to 
certification of an indirect purchaser class. Discovery has been 
substantially completed and the Group’s motion for summary 
judgment remains pending. 

Secondary wholesaler 
In July 2006, RxUSA Wholesale, Inc., a ‘secondary wholesaler’, 
filed suit against the Group and many other pharmaceutical 
manufacturers and wholesalers in the US District Court for the 
Eastern District of New York. The complaint alleges that the 
defendants engaged in a conspiracy to refuse to supply 
pharmaceutical products to RxUSA in violation of federal and 
state anti-trust laws. The Group’s motion to dismiss the complaint 
was granted. The plaintiff has filed an appeal. 

Wellbutrin XL  
Actions have been filed against Biovail and GSK by purported 
classes of direct and indirect purchasers who allege unlawful 
monopolization and other anti-trust violations related to the 
enforcement of Biovail’s Wellbutrin XL patents and the filing, by 
Biovail, of citizen petitions. The Group’s motion to dismiss the 
amended complaint of the indirect purchasers was granted in 
respect of some, but not all, of the claims of the class 
representatives and many of the claims asserted by the indirect 
purchasers. The case has proceeded to discovery with respect to 
the remaining claims as well as the ones brought by the 
purported class of direct purchasers. 

Flonase  
Purported direct and indirect purchaser class actions have been 
filed in the US District Court for the Eastern District of 
Pennsylvania alleging the Group illegally maintained monopoly 
power in the ‘market’ for Flonase and charged plaintiffs supra-
competitive prices. Additionally, a suit has been filed by Roxane 
Laboratories, Inc., a generic competitor, seeking lost profits from 
the Group’s alleged actions unlawfully delaying Roxane’s entry 
into the market. The predicate for all of these allegations was the 
filing by the Group of allegedly sham citizen petitions and 
subsequent litigation. The Group has successfully narrowed the 
claims of the purported class of indirect purchasers through 
motions to dismiss their complaint and amended complaints. The 
Group’s motion to dismiss Roxane’s complaint was recently 
denied. Discovery with regard to all parties is scheduled to 
conclude in Q1 2010. 

Commercial and corporate 
Securities class actions  
In November 2007, attorneys purporting to represent a class of 
purchasers of GlaxoSmithKline shares and ADS filed an 
amended consolidated complaint against the Group and senior 
officers in the US District Court for the Southern District of New 
York. It alleged that the Group and the individual defendants 
violated US securities laws and artificially inflated the price of 
GlaxoSmithKline’s stock by misleading investors about the safety 
of Avandia. The amended consolidated complaint also alleges 
that several current and former senior officers and members of 
the Group engaged in insider trading. A motion to dismiss the 
complaint has been filed on behalf of the Group and the 
individual defendants. In May 2008, the District Court entered an 
order dismissing the case as to all defendants. Plaintiffs filed an 
appeal with the US Court of Appeals for the Second Circuit. In 
August 2009, the Court of Appeals affirmed the District Court’s 
dismissal. This matter has now concluded. 
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44 Legal proceedings continued 

On 6th July 2009, a class action suit brought on behalf of current 
and former employees of Stiefel Laboratories, Inc., was filed in 
US District Court for the Southern District of Florida. The 
complaint alleges that Stiefel and its officers and directors 
violated US Employee Retirement Income Security Act 
(ERISA) and federal and state securities laws by inducing Stiefel 
employees to sell their shares in the employee stock plan back to 
Stiefel company at a greatly undervalued price and without 
disclosing to employees that Stiefel was about to be sold. In 
January, defendants’ motion to dismiss was granted in part and 
denied in part. Specifically, while the Court determined that the 
ERISA claims against the individual Stiefel defendants as well as 
the federal securities claims against the individual defendants 
and Stiefel could go forward, the Court dismissed the Florida 
Securities Act and common law breach of fiduciary duty claims 
holding that ERISA pre-empts state and common law, as well as 
a malpractice claim against Stiefel’s former accountants.  

Wage and hour claims  
In December 2006, two purported class actions were filed against 
the Group on behalf of the entire Group’s US pharmaceutical 
sales representatives. These actions, which were filed in or 
transferred to the US District Court for the Central District of 
California, initially alleged that those representatives are not 
‘exempt’ employees under California law and/or the US Fair 
Labor Standards Act and are consequently entitled to overtime 
pay, among other things. 

Plaintiffs subsequently amended their complaints to assert a 
class action, limited solely to pharmaceutical sales 
representatives working in California, and only asserting claims 
under California’s wage and hour laws.  

The suits seek a variety of compensatory, punitive and statutory 
damages. The Group moved for summary judgement dismissing 
the claims of the putative class representatives on the ground 
that they were exempt employees. The Court held that there are 
appeals pending in the United States Court of Appeals for the 
Ninth Circuit in cases involving other manufacturers ‘with virtually 
the same factual and legal arguments’. It therefore deferred ruling 
on the summary judgement motion and stayed any further activity 
in the case until the appellate court rules in at least one of the 
other companies’ pending cases.  

A third case, filed in the US District Court for the District of 
Arizona in November 2008, sought to establish a nationwide 
collective action on behalf of the entire Group’s US 
pharmaceutical sales representatives on the ground that those 
representatives were not exempt employees under the US Fair 
Labor Standards Act. Plaintiffs sought double damages for all 
overtime allegedly worked by the Group’s pharmaceutical sales 
representatives over a three year period. In November 2009, the 
Court granted the Group’s motion for summary judgment and 
dismissed the lawsuit on the ground that the sales 
representatives were ‘exempt’ employees under the outside sales 
exemption to the US Fair Labor Standards Act. Plaintiffs asked 
the Court to reconsider and amend its judgment based on the 
rationale advanced by the US Department of Labor in a brief the 
Department had filed in a case involving another company. On 
1st February 2010, the Court reaffirmed its dismissal the action. 
Plaintiffs subsequently filed a notice that they are appealing the 
decision to the US Court of Appeals for the Ninth Circuit.  

Environmental matters  
GSK has been notified of its potential responsibility relating to 
past operations and its past waste disposal practices at certain 
sites, primarily in the USA. Some of these matters are the subject 
of litigation, including proceedings initiated by the US federal or 
state governments for waste disposal, site remediation costs and 
tort actions brought by private parties. 

GSK has been advised that it may be a responsible party at 
approximately 29 sites, of which 14 appear on the National 
Priority List created by the Comprehensive Environmental 
Response Compensation and Liability Act (Superfund). These 
proceedings seek to require the operators of hazardous waste 
facilities, transporters of waste to the sites and generators of 
hazardous waste disposed of at the sites to clean up the sites or 
to reimburse the government for cleanup costs. In most 
instances, GSK is involved as an alleged generator of hazardous 
waste. Although Superfund provides that the defendants are 
jointly and severally liable for cleanup costs, these proceedings 
are frequently resolved on the basis of the nature and quantity of 
waste disposed of by the generator at the site. GSK’s 
proportionate liability for cleanup costs has been substantially 
determined for about 20 of the sites referred to above.  

GSK’s potential liability varies greatly from site to site. While the 
cost of investigation, study and remediation at such sites could, 
over time, be substantial, GSK routinely accrues amounts related 
to its share of the liability for such matters.  
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Analysis of shareholdings at 31st December 2009 

The Bank of New York Mellon’s holding held through BNY (Nominees) Limited represents the company’s ADR programme, whereby 
each ADS represents two Ordinary Shares of 25p nominal value. At 19th February 2010, BNY (Nominees) Limited held 735,816,825 
Ordinary Shares representing 14.17% of the issued share capital excluding Treasury shares at that date.  

At 19th February 2010, the number of holders of shares in the USA was 1,088 with holdings of 1,310,916 shares, and the number of 
registered holders of the ADR was 33,963 with holdings of 367,903,742 ADR. Certain of these shares and ADR were held by brokers or 
other nominees. As a result the number of holders of record or registered holders in the USA is not representative of the number of 
beneficial holders or of the residence of beneficial holders.  

GSK Annual Report 2009

   

 

                 
  Number of  % of total  % of total  Number of 
 accounts  accounts  shares shares

         

Holding of shares          
Up to 1,000   118,849   72   1   42,629,294 
1,001 to 5,000   36,802   22   1   78,738,160 
5,001 to 100,000   8,503   5   2   124,902,813 
100,001 to 1,000,000   875   1   6   312,712,630 
Over 1,000,000   423   –   90   5,106,145,822 

  
 
  

 
  

 

    165,452   100   100   5,665,128,719 
  

 

  

 

  

 

Held by                 
Nominee companies 27,603   17   74 4,176,525,968
Investment and trust companies   44   –   –   2,385,639 
Insurance companies   9   –   –   5,144 
Individuals and other corporate bodies   137,794   83   5   276,192,537 
BNY (Nominees) Limited   1   –   13   735,825,273 
Held as Treasury shares by GlaxoSmithKline   1   –   8   474,194,158 

  
 
  

 
  

 

    165,452   100   100   5,665,128,719 
   

  

 

  

 

  

 

The shareholder information section includes the financial record 
presenting historical information prepared in accordance with 
IFRS as adopted by the European Union, and also with IFRS as 
issued by the IASB, and the full product development pipeline. 
The section also discusses shareholder return in the form of 
dividends and share price movements and provides other 
information for shareholders.  

The share price movements and dividends are shown by the 
graphs below. Details of the price movements and dividends are 
on pages 193 to 194.  

Shareholder information   177 
Quarterly trend   178 
Five year record   186 
Product development pipeline   189 
Share price and dividends   193 
Nature of trading market 194
Annual General Meeting   194 
Investor relations and Registrar   195 
Taxation information for shareholders   196 
Glossary of terms   197 
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Quarterly trend  

An unaudited analysis of the Group results and pharmaceutical sales by therapeutic area is provided by quarter in Sterling for the 
financial year 2009.  

Income statement – results before major restructuring 

The calculation of results before major restructuring is described in Note 1 to the financial statements, ‘Presentation of the financial 
statements’.  
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Income statement – total 12 months 2009  Q4 2009

 £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £% 
              

Turnover – Pharmaceuticals   23,714   2   16   6,916   15   19 
– Consumer Healthcare   4,654   7   17   1,178   5   6 

              

Total turnover 28,368 3  16   8,094 13 17
Cost of sales   (7,380)   6   15   (2,119)   4   8 
Selling, general and administrative   (9,592)   6   25   (2,954)   13   29 
Research and development   (4,106)   1   12   (1,127)   (9)  (7)
Other operating income   1,135           553         

              

Operating profit   8,425   4   18   2,447   68   55 
              

Finance income   70           5         
Finance costs (783)      (213)
Profit on disposal of interest in associate   115                     
Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures   64           11         

              

Profit before taxation   7,891   4   19   2,250   77   61 
Taxation (2,222)      (582)
Tax rate %   28.2 %           25.9 %         

              

Profit after taxation for the period   5,669   6   20   1,668   79   64 
 

      

 

  

 

  

 

Profit attributable to minority interests   138           38         
Profit attributable to shareholders   5,531           1,630         

 

      

 

  

 

  

 

Basic earnings per share (pence)   109.1p   8   23   32.1p   82   66 
 

      

 

  

 

  

 

Diluted earnings per share (pence)   108.2p           31.8p         
 

      

 

  

 

  

 

                         
 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

Total turnover   28,368   3   16   8,094   13   17 
Cost of sales   (7,095)   13   23   (2,098)   22   28 
Selling, general and administrative   (9,200)   6   25   (2,780)   11   26 
Research and development   (3,951)   2   13   (1,092)   (2)   – 
Other operating income 1,135      553 

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

Operating profit   9,257   (1)   12   2,677   37   27 
 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

Finance income   70           5         
Finance costs   (780)           (213)         
Profit on disposal of interest in associate   115                     
Share of after tax profits of associates and joint ventures   64           11         

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

Profit before taxation   8,726   (1)   12   2,480   40   29 
Taxation   (2,443)           (646)         
Tax rate %   28.0 %           26.0 %         

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

Profit after taxation for the period   6,283   –   13   1,834   42   32 
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

Profit attributable to minority interests   138           38         
Profit attributable to shareholders   6,145           1,796         

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

Adjusted earnings per share (pence)   121.2p   2   16   35.4p   43   33 
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

Diluted earnings per share (pence)   120.3p           35.1p         
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Q3 2009  Q2 2009 Q1 2009 

  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £% 
 
  

 
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

    5,593   2   14   5,582   (4)   13   5,623   (6)   18 
    1,165   8   17   1,165   9   23   1,146   4   25 

                       

    6,758   3   15   6,747   (2)   15   6,769   (5)   19 
    (1,782)   5   12   (1,692)   1   12   (1,787)   (17)   31 
    (2,146)   4   18   (2,292)   4   28   (2,200)   1   26 
    (882)   (5)   1   (973)   4   19   (1,124)   20   44 
    123           405           54         

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 

    2,071   7   25   2,195   (5)   13   1,712   (40)   (13)
                       

    19           18           28         
    (199)           (168)           (203)         
                            115         
    22           17           14         

                       

    1,913   5   23   2,062   (6)   12   1,666   (40)   (11)
    (542)           (601)           (497)         
    28.3 %           29.1 %           29.8 %         

                       

    1,371   11   30   1,461   (7)   12   1,169   (41)   (12)
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

    36           26           38         
    1,335           1,435           1,131         

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

    26.3p   11   31   28.3p   (4)   15   22.3p   (39)   (9)
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

    26.1p           28.1p           22.2p         
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

                                      

                       

    6,758   3   15   6,747 (2) 15  6,769   (5) 19
    (1,732)   11   19   (1,621)   6   18   (1,644)   13   27 
    (2,064)   9   24   (2,227)   3   26   (2,129)   (1)   24 
    (862)   (4)   3   (923)   –   15   (1,074)   14   38 
    123           405           54         

                       

    2,223   (3)   12   2,381   (6)   12   1,976   (31)   (4)
                       

    19           18           28         
    (199)           (166)           (202)         
                  115    
    22           17           14         

                       

    2,065   (5)   10   2,250   (6)   11   1,931   (31)   (2)
    (585)           (652)  (560)    
    28.3 %           29.0 %           29.0 %         

                       

    1,480   (3)   12   1,598   (7)   11   1,371   (31)   (2)
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

    36           26           38         
    1,444           1,572           1,333         

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

    28.5p   (3)   13   31.0p   (4)   14   26.3p   (28)   3 
 

  

 

    

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

    28.3p           30.8p           26.2p         
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180  

Shareholder information 

Quarterly trend  

Pharmaceutical turnover – total Group  

Pharmaceutical turnover includes co-promotion income.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                       
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009 Q2 2009  Q1 2009
  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Respiratory   1,914   7   11   1,594 6 18 1,734 6   25   1,735 1 28
Avamys/Veramyst   33   36   32   31   59   82   47   >100   >100   31   85   >100
Flixonase/Flonase   35   (14)   (17)   28   (21)   (15)   39   (46)   (40)   69   11   50
Flixotide/Flovent   222   3   7   169 – 13 189 1   20   195 (6) 20
Seretide/Advair   1,366   7   10   1,152   5   17   1,245   9   29   1,214   –   27
Serevent   61   (14)   (13)   54 (18) (10) 59 (21)   (11)   62 (24) (7)
Ventolin   139   28   34   110   28   41   112   23   40   116   23   51
Zyrtec   22   67   83   18   >100   >100   17   63   >100   18   9   64

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Anti-virals   1,033   9   12   1,049 15 32 952 5   27   1,116 18 51
HIV   412   (3)   (1)   392   (7)   4   382   (10)   6   419   (8)   17
Agenerase, Lexiva   44   (9)   (6)   43 (3) 8 43 (8)   13   48 6 37
Combivir   109   (5)   (4)   102   (15)   –   102   (17)   (2)   112   (16)   7
Epivir   30   (17)   (17)   34 (14) (3) 31 (24)   (9)   34 (21) –
Epzicom/Kivexa   149   11   16   131   6   19   129   6   24   137   10   38
Trizivir   49   (19)   (17)   48   (12)   (2)   48   (18)   (4)   56   (20)   4
Ziagen   27   (7)   (4)   26 (11) (4) 25 (19)   (4)   27 (16) 8

Valtrex   222   (34)   (39)   349 (1) 15 379 9   37   344 2 38

Relenza   256   >100   >100   182   >100   >100   60   >100   >100   222   >100   >100
Zeffix   55   –   4   54 14 29 55 (4)   17   53 (13) 15

                                  

Central nervous system   504   (27)   (24)   418   (37)   (29)   449   (53)   (45)   499   (53)   (40)
Imigran/Imitrex   81   (50)   (50)   53 (74) (72) 68 (65)   (61)   64 (68) (61)
Lamictal   132   (27)   (25)   121   (21)   (11)   103   (73)   (68)   144   (61)   (50)
Requip   65   3   12   43   (30)   (23)   51   (22)   (12)   50   (56)   (47)

Requip XL   40   85   100   31 87 >100 30 >100   >100   22 >100 >100
Seroxat/Paxil   139   (16)   (10)   120   (12)   7   138   (13)   9   126   (21)   4
Treximet   14   15   8   15 >100 >100 12 25   50   14 – –
Wellbutrin, Wellbutrin XL   22   (64)   (67)   16   (70)   (70)   30   (72)   (69)   64   (63)   (49)

                                  

Cardiovascular and urogenital  615   10   12   552   5   18   580   10   33   551   6   38
Arixtra   74   31   35   60 20 36 61 39   69   59 29 69
Avodart   143   16   19   131   14   28   134   21   46   122   12   44
Coreg   31   (46)   (49)   39 (30) (22) 51 (9)   16   51 (23) 6
Fraxiparine   60   2   3   56   (12)   (5)   58   (9)   –   55   (8)   8
Levitra   17   6   –   20   6   25   18   8   38   20   7   43
Lovaza   129   29   32   111 27 48 104 22   55   106 54 >100
Vesicare   29   26   26   25   17   39   26   31   63   24   21   71
Volibris   7   >100   >100   6 >100 >100 4 –   –   2 – –

                                  

Metabolic   300   (15)   (13)   284   (13)   (2)   303   (12)   6   294   (16)   8
Avandia products   191   (17)   (17)   185   (14)   (3)   198   (14)   2   197   (19)   3

Avandia   112   (24)   (24)   108 (19) (8) 121 (19)   (3)   121 (23) (1)
Avandamet   69   (3)   (1)   66   (6)   5   67   (7)   10   66   (16)   6

Bonviva/Boniva   67   (13)   (12)   60 (5) 7 66 (2)   18   62 (4) 27
                                  

Anti-bacterials   409   2   3   376   3   11   381   3   16   426   (1)   17
Augmentin   173   7   9   162 8 14 146 2   12   186 – 19

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Oncology and emesis   170   17   23   149   4   16   166   19   42   144   1   27
Hycamtin   45   7   10   41   9   21   43   3   23   43   10   43
Promacta   5   –   –   3 – – 3 –   –   2 – –
Tyverb/Tykerb   48   29   37   46   54   77   41   64   86   34   42   79
Zofran   24   35   41   23 (33) (30) 30 (16)   (3)   32 (7) 10

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Vaccines   1,523   78   91   802   (2)   10   756   14   31   625   18   43
Boostrix   35   100   >100   39   55   77   39   78   >100   26   62   100
Cervarix   38   (33)   (31)   28 (40) (35) 73 >100   >100   48 >100 >100
Fluarix, FluLaval   42   (33)   (36)   147   (14)   2   14   >100   >100   6   –   –
Flu pandemic   836   >100   >100   11 – 10 30 (26)   (12)   6 20 20
Hepatitis   151   (19)   (18)   170   (12)   (2)   195   (2)   17   149   (12)   7
Infanrix, Pediarix   153   (24)   (21)   167   (10)   (1)   154   (20)   (8)   175   (5)   14
Rotarix   70   5   6   84 92 >100 71 69   >100   57 74 >100
Synflorix   48   –   –   13   –   –   12   –   –   –   –   –

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Other   311   17   20   258 15 24 261 (1)   13   233 (25) (11)
                                  

    6,779   13   17   5,482   –   12   5,582   (4)   13   5,623   (6)   18
    

    
 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Stiefel products   137   –   –   111   –   –                        
    

    
 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

    6,916   15   19   5,593   2   14                        
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Shareholder information 

Quarterly trend  

Pharmaceutical turnover – USA  

Pharmaceutical turnover includes co-promotion income.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                       
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009 Q2 2009  Q1 2009 
  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £% 

   
  

 
      

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 

Respiratory   910   5  7   744 2 17 825 5   34   844 (1) 37
Avamys/Veramyst   15   (17)   (17)   15   8   25   18   7   29   20   17   67 
Flixonase/Flonase   6   (25)   (25)   3   (57)   (57)   8   (82)   (76)   10   100   >100 
Flixotide/Flovent   115   9  12   85 4 20 97 12   43   99 (4) 32
Seretide/Advair   704   3   4   587   (1)   14   648   7   37   653   (5)   31 
Serevent   20   (9)  (9)   16 (18) (6) 18 (13)   13   19 (18) 12
Ventolin   48   100   >100   35   >100   >100   32   >100   >100   38   >100   >100 
Zyrtec   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 

   
  

 
      

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 

Anti-virals   413   (14)  (17)   500 8 26 496 10   40   488 2 41
HIV   189   (3)   (2)   168   (5)   10   164   (8)   15   195   (8)   28 
Agenerase, Lexiva   25   (4)  (4)   24 – 14 23 6   28   27 6 50
Combivir   47   (9)   (11)   43   (10)   5   44   (15)   7   53   (16)   18 
Epivir   12   (7)  (14)   12 (9) 9 11 (18)   –   13 (18) 18
Epzicom/Kivexa   63   13   15   52   2   18   50   –   28   58   5   45 
Trizivir   26   (19)   (19)   23   (13)   (4)   25   (13)   9   30   (22)   11 
Ziagen   13   (7)  (7)   13 10 30 11 (18)   –   14 – 40
Valtrex   129   (45)   (54)   265   3   19   291   16   49   257   8   49 
Relenza   62   >100  >100   45 >100 >100 19 >100   >100   11 – 38
Zeffix   4   –   –   4   –   –   5   (25)   25   4   –   33 

                                 

Central nervous system   178   (50)   (50)   115   (67)   (64)   142   (79)   (74)   216   (73)   (64)
Imigran/Imitrex   43   (64)  (65)   19 (89) (88) 33 (79)   (76)   28 (83) (79)
Lamictal   72   (40)   (39)   64   (35)   (24)   45   (86)   (83)   86   (74)   (64)
Requip   16   27  45   (4) >(100) >(100) 6 (78)   (67)   8 (90) (87)

Requip XL   12   >100   >100   7   75   75   8   –   –   5   –   – 
Seroxat/Paxil   10   (47)   (47)   5   (54)   (62)   13   (31)   (19)   14   (61)   (55)
Treximet   14   8  8   15 >100 >100 12 25   50)   14 – –
Wellbutrin, Wellbutrin XL   10   (79)   (82)   4   (86)   (91)   20   (81)   (78)   54   (68)   (55)

   
  

 
      

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 

Cardiovascular and urogenital  375   8  9   336 4 20 360 12   43   344 7 48
Arixtra   43   35   39   32   23   45   33   63   >100   33   26   74 
Avodart   83   11   11   80   10   27   83   16   51   73   8   49 
Coreg   31   (45)  (48)   39 (31) (20) 50 (7)   16   51 (23) 6
Fraxiparine   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Levitra   16   –  –   18 7 20 17 –   31   19 8 46
Lovaza   128   29   31   111   25   48   104   24   58   105   52   >100 
Vesicare   29   26   26   25   17   39   26   31   63   24   21   71 
Volibris   –   –  –   – – – – –   –   – – –

                                 

Metabolic   150   (18)   (18)   132   (15)   (3)   149   (17)   7   150   (18)   13 
Avandia products   109   (17)  (17)   97 (14) (2) 107 (19)   3   112 (18) 13

Avandia   69   (22)   (22)   62   (18)   (7)   71   (22)   (1)   74   (25)   4 
Avandamet   33   (3)  (3)   29 (8) 12 29 (8)   16   31 (4) 29

Bonviva/Boniva   41   (20)   (20)   35   (17)   (3)   41   (11)   14   38   (15)   15 
                                 

Anti-bacterials   41   (16)   (18)   39   (15)   (3)   46   (8)   18   47   (24)   4 
Augmentin   9   (33)  (40)   9 (22) – 11 13   38   16 (29) (6)

                                 

Oncology and emesis   86   30   34   64   (11)   –   88   19   54   70   (12)   21 
Hycamtin   26   4  4   24 – 20 24 5   26   26 6 53
Promacta   5   –   –   3   –   –   3   –   –   2   –   – 
Tyverb/Tykerb   14   (7)   –   12   (8)   –   17   18   55   11   (20)   10 
Zofran   (1)   100  90   (1) (100) >(100) 4 (25)   –   7 67 >100

                                 

Vaccines   294   55   65   206   (20)   (6)   196   22   58   119   (21)   9 
Boostrix   17   >100  >100   24 54 85 21 78   >100   11 60 >100
Cervarix   4   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Fluarix, FluLaval   5   (64)   (77)   63   (19)   –   3   –   –   –   –   – 
Flu pandemic   162   >100  >100   – – – 25 –   –   – – –
Hepatitis   51   (27)   (31)   67   (29)   (18)   87   2   32   52   (28)   (2)
Infanrix, Pediarix   27   (50)  (52)   30 (52) (46) 38 (43)   (22)   39 (41) (24)
Rotarix   17   –   –   22   >100   >100   22   –   –   15   –     
Synflorix   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 

   
  

 
      

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 

Other   3   67   –   7   (75)   (13)   2   >100   >100   5   –   25 
   

  
 
      

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 

    2,450   (4)   (3)   2,143   (12)   2   2,304   (15)   8   2,283   (22)   7 
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182  

Shareholder information 

Quarterly trend  

Pharmaceutical turnover – Europe  

Pharmaceutical turnover includes co-promotion income.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                       
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009 Q2 2009  Q1 2009
  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Respiratory   594   4   8   511 7 14 550 2   11   546 (1) 12
Avamys/Veramyst   11   83   83   9   >100   >100   16   >100   >100   9   >100   >100
Flixonase/Flonase   10   (17)   (17)   9   (18)   (18)   12   (25)   (25)   12   (23)   (8)
Flixotide/Flovent   49   (4)   (2)   38 (5) – 43 (5)   –   48 (2) 9
Seretide/Advair   436   7   11   378   9   17   401   3   13   394   –   14
Serevent   29   (15)   (12)   27 (16) (16) 29 (18)   (15)   31 (22) (16)
Ventolin   42   –   5   35   3   13   36   3   9   37   (3)   12
Zyrtec   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Anti-virals   251   7   12   247 13 24 236 (2)   8   340 45 63
HIV   155   (10)   (6)   155   (6)   3   156   (14)   (5)   169   (9)   8
Agenerase, Lexiva   14   (7)   (7)   15 (7) – 16 (13)   –   17 (7) 13
Combivir   37   (14)   (12)   36   (13)   (5)   37   (25)   (16)   41   (17)   (2)
Epivir   11   (27)   (27)   12 (15) (8) 12 (33)   (20)   14 (20) (7)
Epzicom/Kivexa   63   5   11   60   10   20   59   –   9   62   10   29
Trizivir   19   (18)   (14)   19   (23)   (14)   20   (25)   (17)   24   (17)   –
Ziagen   9   (11)   –   8 (13) – 9 (20)   (10)   9 (11) –
Valtrex   41   5   8   38   (3)   9   39   (3)   8   42   –   20
Relenza   39   >100   >100   38 – – 25 >100   >100   110 – –
Zeffix   7   (14)   –   7   –   –   8   17   33   7   (14)   –

                                  

Central nervous system   146   (7)   (3)   139   (9)   (2)   144   (8)   1   145   (2)   12
Imigran/Imitrex   25   (8)   –   23 (8) (4) 23 (13)   (4)   25 (4) 9
Lamictal   39   (5)   –   38   (5)   3   38   (8)   –   39   3   18
Requip   37   (8)   (3)   34 (9) (3) 35 3   13   32 (3) 10

Requip XL   27   67   80   23   100   >100   22   >100   >100   17   >100   >100
Seroxat/Paxil   22   (24)   (24)   22   (26)   (19)   27   (19)   (13)   28   (14)   –
Treximet   –   –   –   – – – – –   –   – – –
Wellbutrin, Wellbutrin XL   9   33   50   8   33   33   7   100   >100   6   67   100

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Cardiovascular and urogenital  155   8   13   142 2 10 145 2   12   141 2 22
Arixtra   26   14   24   24   11   26   23   24   35   22   29   57
Avodart   39   12   18   36   10   24   37   21   32   36   7   29
Coreg   –   –   –   – – – – –   –   – – –
Fraxiparine   45   –   2   42   (15)   (11)   43   (15)   (7)   43   (10)   5
Levitra   1   –   –   1 – – 1 –   –   1 – –
Lovaza   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –
Vesicare   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –
Volibris   7   >100   >100   5 >100 >100 4 –   –   2 – –

                                  

Metabolic   69   (13)   (9)   67   (14)   (7)   71   (11)   (3)   68   (21)   (7)
Avandia products   40   (17)   (15)   42 (19) (13) 46 (18)   (6)   43 (30) (20)

Avandia   15   (25)   (25)   16   (25)   (20)   18   (20)   (10)   18   (27)   (18)
Avandamet   24   (12)   (8)   25 (12) (4) 26 (18)   (7)   24 (32) (23)

Bonviva/Boniva   23   (4)   –   22   11   22   23   6   28   21   20   40
                                  

Anti-bacterials   181   (3)   1   146   (4)   4   146   (4)   4   189   (7)   8
Augmentin   82   7   11   68 2 10 61 –   7   84 (9) 6

                                  

Oncology and emesis   52   –   4   51   15   24   50   12   22   51   16   38
Hycamtin   15   7   7   14 8 17 15 17   25   15 9 36
Promacta   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –
Tyverb/Tykerb   21   12   24   19   90   90   18   88   >100   17   >100   >100
Zofran   12   (25)   (25)   12 (20) (20) 14 (25)   (13)   14 (25) (13)

                                  

Vaccines   794   >100   >100   344   (3)   7   320   7   16   286   23   43
Boostrix   11   57   57   11 43 57 10 14   43   8 40 60
Cervarix   19   (58)   (58)   17   (61)   (55)   63   >100   >100   39   >100   >100
Fluarix, FluLaval   11   (43)   (48)   60   (10)   3   –   –   –   –   –   –
Flu pandemic   511   >100   >100   4 (60) (60) 5 (86)   (86)   5 25 25
Hepatitis   64   (16)   (14)   65   –   7   72   (8)   –   61   (5)   9
Infanrix, Pediarix   101   (14)   (11)   105 8 18 91 (13)   (3)   109 14 35
Rotarix   14   8   8   14   9   27   12   20   20   13   22   44
Synflorix   11   –   –   11   –   –   10   –   –   –   –   –

    
    

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

Other   119   12   16   87   25   30   84   –   5   74   (7)   4
    

    
 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

    2,361   23   29   1,734   3   11   1,746   1   9   1,840   7   23
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Shareholder information 

Quarterly trend  

Pharmaceutical turnover – Rest of World  

Pharmaceutical turnover includes co-promotion income.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                       
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009 Q2 2009  Q1 2009 
  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £% 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 

Respiratory   410   17  25   339 14 28 359 16   33   345 9 36
Avamys/Veramyst   7   >100   >100   7   >100   >100   13   >100   >100   2   –   – 
Flixonase/Flonase   19   (9)   (14)   16   (7)   7   19   6   19   47   14   62 
Flixotide/Flovent   58   (2)  5   46 (3) 15 49 (11)   4   48 (12) 12
Seretide/Advair   226   23   32   187   15   30   196   27   45   167   26   52 
Serevent   12   (20)  (20)   11 (27) – 12 (38)   (25)   12 (38) (8)
Ventolin   49   15   20   40   –   5   44   (3)   10   41   (5)   11 
Zyrtec   22   67   83   18   >100   >100   17   63   >100   18   9   64 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 

Anti-virals   369   71  85   302 32 54 220 5   24   288 16 57
HIV   68   12   15   69   (11)   (7)   62   (5)   13   55   (6)   12 
Agenerase, Lexiva   5   (33)  (17)   4 – – 4 (50)   –   4 100 100
Combivir   25   26   32   23   (23)   (26)   21   (5)   11   18   (17)   – 
Epivir   7   (14)  –   10 (18) (9) 8 (13)   –   7 (25) (13)
Epzicom/Kivexa   23   24   35   19   6   19   20   55   82   17   27   55 
Trizivir   4   (20)   (20)   6   67   100   3   –   –   2   (33)   (33)
Ziagen   5   –  –   5 (33) (44) 5 (20)   –   4 (50) (33)
Valtrex   52   (4)   6   46   (16)   2   49   (15)   7   45   (17)   10 
Relenza   155   >100  >100   99 >100 >100 16 –   –   101 >100 >100
Zeffix   44   2   5   43   19   39   42   (5)   14   42   (14)   17 

                                    

Central nervous system   180   4   12   164   11   34   163   4   27   138   (3)   30 
Imigran/Imitrex   13   –  –   11 (10) 10 12 –   20   11 – 38
Lamictal   21   11   11   19   20   27   20   (6)   18   19   –   12 
Requip   12   22  33   13 13 63 10 –   11   10 40 100

Requip XL   1   –   –   1   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Seroxat/Paxil   107   (8)   1   93   1   29   98   (8)   23   84   (3)   35 
Treximet   –   –  –   – – – – –   –   – – –
Wellbutrin, Wellbutrin XL   3   –   (25)   4   (33)   33   3   (20)   (40)   4   50   100 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 

Cardiovascular and urogenital  85   25  27   74 14 30 75 19   39   66 10 32
Arixtra   5   100   67   4   67   33   5   –   67   4   50   100 
Avodart   21   58   75   15   50   50   14   44   56   13   50   63 
Coreg   –   –  –   – – – 1 (100)   –   – – –
Fraxiparine   15   7   7   14   –   17   15   17   25   12   –   20 
Levitra   –   –  –   1 – – – –   –   – – –
Lovaza   1   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   1   –   – 
Vesicare   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Volibris   –   –  –   1 – – – –   –   – – –

                                    

Metabolic   81   (9)   (7)   85   (10)   5   83   (4)   14   76   (8)   15 
Avandia products   42   (18)  (16)   46 (9) 5 45 2   10   42 (8) 11

Avandia   28   (29)   (26)   30   (16)   (3)   32   (12)   (3)   29   (14)   – 
Avandamet   12   20  20   12 9 9 12 38   50   11 14 57

Bonviva/Boniva   3   50   50   3   50   50   2   100   –   3   –   >100 
                                    

Anti-bacterials   187   11   11   191   14   20   189   12   26   190   13   33 
Augmentin   82   16  17   85 17 20 74 3   14   86 20 43

                                    

Oncology and emesis   32   21   33   34   26   48   28   32   47   23   11   28 
Hycamtin   4   50  100   3 100 50 4 (50)   –   2 50 –
Promacta   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 
Tyverb/Tykerb   13   >100   >100   15   >100   >100   6   >100   100   6   100   >100 
Zofran   13   –  18   12 (17) – 12 –   9   11 – 10

                                    

Vaccines   435   56   66   252   20   33   240   20   36   220   46   73 
Boostrix   7   >100  >100   4 100 100 8 >100   >100   7 100 >100
Cervarix   15   50   50   11   >100   >100   10   100   >100   9   >100   >100 
Fluarix, FluLaval   26   4   13   24   (9)   4   11   83   83   6   –   – 
Flu pandemic   163   >100  >100   7 – – – –   –   1 – –
Hepatitis   36   (8)   (3)   38   10   23   36   7   24   36   3   20 
Infanrix, Pediarix   25   (8)  –   32 22 39 25 (4)   4   27 14 29
Rotarix   39   6   8   48   83   100   37   20   48   29   39   61 
Synflorix   37   –   –   2   –   –   2   –   –   –   –   – 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 

Other   189   20   24   164   16   23   175   (4)   17   154   (32)   (18)
    

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 

    1,968   28   36   1,605   16   31   1,532   10   28   1,500   6   32 
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Shareholder information 

Quarterly trend  

Consumer Healthcare turnover – total Group  

  

Consumer Healthcare turnover – USA  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                       
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009  Q2 2009  Q1 2009 
  £m  CER%  £%  £m CER% £% £m CER%  £%  £m CER% £%

    
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
      

 
  

 
  

Over-the-counter medicines  612   4   6   567   9   19   573   13   29   567   5   30 
alli   40   33   33   49 >100 >100 82 >100   >100   32 >100 >100
Breathe Right   22   (19)   (19)   23 5 21 20 (6)   11   27 24 59
Cold sore franchise   25   (11)   (11)   28 14 27 20 (11)   5   23 (5) 15
Nicotene replacement   90   (5)   (3)   79   (16)   (5)   88   12   35   82   12   41 
Panadol   104   19   24   96 7 17 94 8   21   99 6 24
Tums   26   (4)   (4)   25 – 19 25 (5)   14   30 5 43

                                 

Oral healthcare   375   6   9   375 10 21 366 7   23   368 5 27
Aquafresh franchise   121   (2)   (1)   126   (2)   9   121   (1)   13   128   –   20 
Biotene   7   >100   >100   7 – – 6 –   –   6 – –
Denture care   87   9   13   85 10 25 84 9   27   80 5 33
Sensodyne franchise   114   11   14   118 20 31 113 14   30   112 7 30

                                 

Nutritional healthcare   191   4   3   223   4   7   226   2   8   211   1   9 
Horlicks   55   19   17   64 13 21 61 17   27   75 20 34
Lucozade   86   (2)   (3)   104 4 4 106 (4)   (1)   80 (12) (7)
Ribena   38   –   3   40 (9) (9) 44 (2)   2   38 (5) 3

                                 

    1,178   5   6   1,165 8 17 1,165 9   23   1,146 4 25
    

  

 

  

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

      

 

  

 

  

                     
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009 Q2 2009  Q1 2009 
  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £% 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

Over-the-counter medicines  185  (11)   (11)  174 (3) 12 183 1   28   180 4 44
alli   22  (18)   (21)  20 – 11 25 12   47   29 >100 >100
Breathe Right   11   (31)   (31)   15   –   15   10   (20)   –   14   11   56 
Cold sore franchise   11  (27)   (27)  17 40 70 9 (22)   –   9 – 29
Nicotene replacement   63  (7)   (7)  58 (17) (3) 68 13   45   58 11 53
Panadol   –  –   –  – – – – –   –   – – –
Tums   23  –   –  20 – 11 22 (5)   16   27 6 50

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

Oral healthcare   75   10   10   75   20   39   71   10   42   78   14   56 
Aquafresh franchise   22  (12)   (15)  23 – 15 21 (6)   17   27 (5) 35
Biotene   5  >100   >100  4 – – 5 –   –   5 – –
Denture care   19  –   –  19 13 27 20 –   33   19 – 36
Sensodyne franchise   27   29   29   28   41   65   23   20   53   26   27   73 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

Nutritional healthcare   –  –   –  – – – – –   –   – – –
Horlicks   –  –   –  – – – – –   –   – – –
Lucozade   –  –   –  – – – – –   –   – – –
Ribena   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   –   – 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

    260  (5)   (5)  249 3 19 254 3   32   258 7 47
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Shareholder information 

Quarterly trend  

Consumer Healthcare turnover – Europe  

  

Consumer Healthcare turnover – Rest of World  

GSK Annual Report 2009

                       
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009  Q2 2009  Q1 2009 
  £m  CER%  £%  £m CER% £% £m CER%  £%  £m CER% £%

    
    

 
    

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Over-the-counter medicines  221   17   18   186   27   31   185   31   38   156   (2)   8 
alli   17   –   –   29 – – 56 –   –   3 – –
Breathe Right   5   (17)   (17)   5 – 25 5 –   –   7 20 40
Cold sore franchise   10   (9)   (9)   9 – 13 8 –   (11)   11 (10) 10
Nicotene replacement   19   6   6   13   –   –   15   8   15   17   6   6 
Panadol   33   35   43   26 32 37 20 11   11   20 (11) 5
Tums   –   –   –   1 – – – –   –   – – –

                                   

Oral healthcare   196   1   4   190 3 9 190 4   12   184 1 16
Aquafresh franchise   72   (3)   (1)   75   (3)   4   71   (2)   8   73   (2)   14 
Biotene   1   –   –   1 – – 1 –   –   – – –
Denture care   33   –   3   32 15 19 32 7   19   28 – 17
Sensodyne franchise   50   –   4   48 7 12 50 7   16   47 2 15

                                   

Nutritional healthcare   107   (3)   (3)   125   (2)   (2)   130   (5)   (3)   95   (15)   (14)
Horlicks   6   –   –   4 (20) (20) 4 (20)   (20)   5 (17) (17)
Lucozade   74   (3)   (3)   92 2 3 92 (5)   (3)   65 (16) (14)
Ribena   26   (4)   (4)   29 (12) (12) 33 (6)   (3)   25 (7) (7)

                                   

    524   6   8   501 9 13 505 10   16   435 (4) 5
    

    

 

    

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

                      
  Q4 2009  Q3 2009 Q2 2009  Q1 2009 
  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £%  £m  CER%  £% 

   
  

 
    

 
      

 
    

 
      

 

Over-the-counter medicines  206   8   11   207 6 16 205 8   23   231 13 38
alli   1   (50)   (50)   – – – 1 –   –   – – –
Breathe Right   6   20   20   3   50   50   5   33   67   6   67   100 
Cold sore franchise   4   100   100   2 (25) (50) 3 –   >100   3 – –
Nicotene replacement   8   (14)   14   8 (30) (20) 5 20   –   7 50 75
Panadol   71   13   16   70 – 11 74 7   23   79 11 30
Tums   3   –   –   4 (33) 33 3 –   –   3 – –

   
  

 
    

 
      

 
    

 
      

 

Oral healthcare   104   15   21   110   18   34   105   13   33   106   8   33 
Aquafresh franchise   27   9   17   28 – 17 29 (4)   26   28 9 22
Biotene   1   –   –   2 – – – –   –   1 – –
Denture care   35   27   35   34 4 31 32 17   33   33 14 50
Sensodyne franchise   37   16   19   42   27   40   40   21   38   39   3   30 

   
  

 
    

 
      

 
    

 
      

 

Nutritional healthcare   84   15   12   98 15 21 96 14   26   116 22 40
Horlicks   49   22   20   60 17 25 57 21   33   70 24 40
Lucozade   12   –   (8)   12 18 9 14 8   17   15 20 50
Ribena   12   10   20   11   –   –   11   11   22   13   –   30 

   
  

 
    

 
      

 
    

 
      

 

    394   11   14   415 11 21 406 11   26   453 14 37
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Shareholder information 

Five year record  
A record of financial performance is provided, analysed in accordance with current reporting practice. The information included in the Five year 
record is prepared in accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union and also with IFRS as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board. 

Pharmaceutical turnover includes co-promotion income.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                     
  2009  2008  2007  2006  2005 
Pharmaceutical turnover by therapeutic area  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

    
  

 
  

 
    

Respiratory   6,977   5,817   5,032   4,991   5,050 
Anti-virals   4,150   3,206   3,027   2,826   2,598 
Central nervous system   1,870   2,897   3,348   3,642   3,219 
Cardiovascular and urogenital   2,298   1,847   1,554   1,636   1,331 
Metabolic   1,181   1,191   1,508   1,870   1,488 
Anti-bacterials  1,592 1,429 1,323   1,363 1,513
Oncology and emesis   629   496   477   1,069   1,016 
Vaccines   3,706   2,539   1,993   1,692   1,389 
Other   1,311   959   901   924   979 

              

   23,714 20,381 19,163   20,013 18,583
    

  

 

  

 

    

                     
  2009 2008 2007  2006 2005
Pharmaceutical turnover by geographic area  £m £m £m  £m £m

              

USA   9,180   8,894   9,273   10,353   9,106 
Europe  7,681 6,483 5,560   5,437 5,458
Rest of World:                     

Emerging markets   2,973   2,290   1,895   1,783   1,671 
Japan   1,649   1,027   867   860   854 
Asia Pacific   1,051   891   834   806   763 
Canada   635   503   477   483   443 
Other   545   293   257   291   288 

Rest of World   6,853   5,004   4,330   4,223   4,019 
    

  
 
  

 
    

    23,714   20,381   19,163   20,013   18,583 
    

  

 

  

 

    

                     
  2009  2008  2007  2006  2005 
Consumer Healthcare turnover  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

    
  

 
  

 
    

OTC medicines   2,319   1,935   1,788   1,561   1,515 
Oral healthcare   1,484   1,240   1,049   993   943 
Nutritional healthcare   851   796   716   658   619 

    
  

 
  

 
    

    4,654   3,971   3,553   3,212   3,077 
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Shareholder information 

Return on capital employed is calculated as total profit before taxation as a percentage of average net assets over the year.  
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  2009  2008  2007  2006  2005 
Financial results – total  £m  £m  £m  £m  £m 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Turnover   28,368   24,352   22,716   23,225   21,660 
Operating profit   8,425   7,141   7,593   7,808   6,874 
Profit before taxation   7,891   6,659   7,452   7,799   6,732 
Profit after taxation   5,669   4,712   5,310   5,498   4,816 

    

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

                     
  pence  pence  pence  pence  pence 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Basic earnings per share   109.1   88.6   94.4   95.5   82.6 
Diluted earnings per share   108.2   88.1   93.7   94.5   82.0 

    

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

                     
  2009  2008  2007       
Financial results – before major restructuring  £m  £m  £m         
 

  
 
  

 
         

Turnover    28,368   24,352   22,716         
Operating profit    9,257   8,259   7,931         
Profit before taxation    8,726   7,782   7,790         
Profit after taxation    6,283   5,551   5,571         
 

  

 

  

 

         

                     
  pence  pence          
 

  
 
             

Adjusted earnings per share   121.2   104.7             
Adjusted diluted earnings per share   120.3   104.1             
 

  

 

             

                     
  2009  2008  2007  2006  2005 
  millions millions millions  millions millions

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Weighted average number of shares in issue:                     
Basic   5,069   5,195   5,524   5,643   5,674 
Diluted  5,108 5,226 5,567   5,700 5,720

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

                     
  % % %  % %

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Return on capital employed   82.8   73.1   76.2   90.6   99.7 
    

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

                     
  2009  2008  2007  2006  2005 
Balance sheet  £m £m £m  £m £m

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Non-current assets   25,292   22,124   17,377   14,561   14,021 
Current assets   17,570   17,269   13,626   10,992   13,177 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Total assets   42,862   39,393   31,003   25,553   27,198 
    

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Current liabilities   (12,118)   (10,017)   (10,345)   (7,265)   (9,511)
Non-current liabilities   (20,002)   (21,058)   (10,748)   (8,640)   (10,117)

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Total liabilities   (32,120)   (31,075)   (21,093)   (15,905)   (19,628)
    

  
 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Net assets   10,742   8,318   9,910   9,648   7,570 
 

  

 

  

 

  

 

  

 

Shareholders’ equity   10,005   7,931   9,603   9,386   7,311 
Minority interests   737   387   307   262   259 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
  

 

Total equity   10,742   8,318   9,910   9,648   7,570 
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188  

Shareholder information 

Number of employees  

The geographic distribution of employees in the table above is based on the location of GSK’s subsidiary companies. The number of 
employees is the number of permanent employed staff at the end of the financial period. It excludes those employees who are employed and 
managed by GSK on a contract basis.  

Exchange rates  

As a guide to holders of ADS, the following tables set out, for the periods indicated, information on the exchange rate of US dollars for Sterling 
as reported by the Federal Reserve Bank of New York (‘noon buying rate’).  

The average rate for the year is calculated as the average of the noon buying rates for each day of the year.  

As at 31st December 2008, the Federal Reserve Bank of New York ceased publishing noon buying rates. The Bank of England 4pm buying 
rates have been used for subsequent calculations.  

The 4pm buying rate on 19th February 2010 was £1 = US$1.54.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

                     
  2009 2008 2007  2006 2005

              

USA  22,594 21,176 24,838   24,726 23,822
Europe   42,048   44,677   46,869   45,758   43,999 
Rest of World:                     

Asia Pacific, including China   21,011   18,983   17,525   17,570   15,991 
Japan   3,264   3,174   3,284   3,195   3,098 
Middle East, Africa   3,619   3,403   3,156   3,204   5,682 
Latin America   5,169   5,228   5,249   5,856   5,664 
Canada   2,208   2,362   2,562   2,386   2,472 
    

  
 
  

 
    

Rest of World   35,271   33,150   31,776   32,211   32,907 
              

    99,913   99,003   103,483   102,695   100,728 
    

  

 

  

 

    

Manufacturing   31,162   32,622   33,995   33,235   31,615 
Selling  44,621 42,430 44,499   44,484 44,393
Administration   9,405   8,787   8,960   9,024   9,225 
Research and development   14,725   15,164   16,029   15,952   15,495 

              

    99,913   99,003   103,483   102,695   100,728 
    

  

 

  

 

    

                     
  2009 2008 2007  2006 2005

              

Average  1.56 1.85 2.00   1.85 1.81
    

  

 

  

 

    

                         
 Feb  Jan Dec Nov  Oct Sept
  2010  2010  2009  2009  2009  2009 

    
  

 
  

 
  

 
    

High   1.60   1.64   1.67   1.68   1.66   1.67 
Low   1.54   1.59   1.59   1.64   1.58   1.59 
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Product development pipeline  

Key  
 

 MAA and NDA/BLA Regulatory milestones shown in the table below are those that have been achieved. Future submission dates are not 
included in this list.  
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     Achieved Regulatory
     review milestones
Compound  Type Indication  Phase MAA NDA/BLA
 

      
Biopharmaceuticals
933776   monoclonal antibody   Alzheimer’s disease  I     
1070806   monoclonal antibody   metabolic disease  I     
1223249   monoclonal antibody  amyotrophic lateral sclerosis  I
2401502† 

 
domain antibody targeted  

multi-component vaccine 
malignant melanoma 

 
I   

APN01† 
 

recombinant human angiotensin  
converting enzyme 2 

acute respiratory distress syndrome 
 

I   

iboctadekin† (+ Doxil) 
 

IL18 immunomodulator (+ topoisomerase II  
inhibitor)   

ovarian cancer 
 

I
 

 
 
 

iboctadekin† (+ rituximab) 
 

IL18 immunomodulator (+ anti-CD20 
monoclonal antibody)   

follicular lymphoma 
 

I
 

 
 
 

otelixizumab†  anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody (s.c.)  type 1 diabetes  I
249320   monoclonal antibody   stroke  II     
315234   monoclonal antibody   rheumatoid arthritis  II     
679586   monoclonal antibody  severe asthma  II
Arzerra (ofatumumab)†  anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody   follicular lymphoma (relapsed patients)  II     
Benlysta (belimumab)† 

 
anti-B lymphocyte stimulator monoclonal antibody 

(s.c.)   
systemic lupus erythematosus 

 
II

 
 

 
 

mepolizumab  anti-IL5 monoclonal antibody   severe asthma & nasal polyposis  II     
ofatumumab†  anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody  multiple sclerosis  II
Arzerra (ofatumumab)† 

 
anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody  chronic lymphocytic leukaemia, first line therapy & 

use in relapsed patients  
III   

Arzerra (ofatumumab)†  anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody   diffuse large B cell lymphoma (relapsed patients)  III     
Arzerra (ofatumumab)†  anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody   follicular lymphoma (refractory patients)  III     
Benlysta (belimumab)† 

 
anti-B lymphocyte stimulator monoclonal antibody 

(i.v.)   
systemic lupus erythematosus 

 
III

 
 

 
 

denosumab† 
 

anti-receptor activator for nuclear kappa (RANK)  
ligand human monoclonal antibody   

bone metastatic disease 
 

III
 

 
 
 

denosumab† 
 

anti-RANK ligand human monoclonal antibody  hormone ablative/chemotherapy bone loss in cancer 
patients  

III   

ofatumumab†  anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody   rheumatoid arthritis  III     
otelixizumab†  anti-CD3 monoclonal antibody (i.v.)  type 1 diabetes  III
Syncria†  glucagon-like peptide 1 agonist   type 2 diabetes  III     
Prolia (denosumab)†  anti-RANK ligand human monoclonal antibody  post-menopausal osteoporosis  Submitted PO:Dec09 N/A
Arzerra (ofatumumab)†  anti-CD20 human monoclonal antibody   chronic lymphocytic leukaemia (refractory patients)  Approved  PO:Jan10  A:Oct09
 

            
Cardiovascular & Metabolic
1278863   prolyl hydroxylase inhibitor   anaemia  I     
1521498   mu-opioid receptor inverse agonist  obesity  I
1614235†   sodium dependent glucose transport (SGLT1) inhibitor  type 2 diabetes  I     
2245840   SIRT1 activator   sarcopaenia (also COPD & psoriasis)  I     
184072   SIRT1 activator  type 2 diabetes (also haematologic cancers)  II
256073  

 
high affinity nicotinic acid receptor (HM74A)  

agonist  
dyslipidaemia 

 
II   

557296   oxytocin antagonist   premature ejaculation  II     
1292263  

 
gastrin-releasing peptide (GPR119) receptor  

agonist  
type 2 diabetes 

 
II   

1362885   glycogen phosphorylase inhibitor   type 2 diabetes  II     
2245840   SIRT1 activator  type 2 diabetes (also COPD & haematologic cancers)  II
losmapimod  p38 kinase inhibitor   cardiovascular disease (also COPD, pain & depression)  II     
retosiban (221149)  oxytocin antagonist   threatened pre-term labour  II     
rilapladib†  Lp-PLA2 inhibitor  atherosclerosis  II
Avandamet XR  PPAR gamma agonist + metformin   type 2 diabetes – extended release  III  N/A   
Avandia + simvastatin  PPAR gamma agonist + statin  type 2 diabetes  III N/A
darapladib†  Lp-PLA2 inhibitor   atherosclerosis  III     
Arixtra 

 
synthetic factor Xa inhibitor  treatment of acute coronary syndrome 

 
Approved A:Aug07 AL:Feb07

& Sep07
Avandia  PPAR gamma agonist   prevention of disease progression  Approved  A:Apr09  A:Jul08
 

†   In-license or other alliance relationship with third party
S   Month of first submission
A  

 
Month of first regulatory approval (for MAA, this is the first 
EU approval letter)

AL/CR 

 

Month Approvable or Complete Response Letter received –
indicates that ultimately approval can be given subject to 
resolution of outstanding queries

PO   Month of EU Positive Opinion
TA   FDA Tentative Approval

   
BLA   Biological License Application
MAA   Marketing Authorisation Application (Europe)
NDA   New Drug Application (USA)
Phase I  

 
Evaluation of clinical pharmacology, usually conducted in 
volunteers

Phase II Determination of dose and initial evaluation of efficacy, 
conducted in a small number of patients

Phase III 

 

Large comparative study (compound versus placebo 
and/or established treatment) in patients to establish 
clinical benefit and safety
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Product development pipeline 

* See Note 40 to the financial statements, ‘Post balance sheet events’.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

           
        Achieved Regulatory
        review milestones
Compound  Type  Indication  Phase  MAA  NDA/BLA
 

            

Infectious Diseases
932121  plasmodium electron transport chain inhibitor  malaria  I     
945237  topoisomerase II inhibitor  treatment of bacterial infections  I     
1322322  novel class antibacterial agent  treatment of bacterial infections  I     
Relenza†  neuraminidase inhibitor (i.v.)  treatment of influenza  II     
sitamaquine  8-aminoquinoline  treatment of visceral leishmaniasis  II    N/A
tafenoquine†  8-aminoquinoline  Plasmodium vivax malaria  II     
 

            

Neurosciences
586529†  CRF1 antagonist  depression & anxiety  I     
618334   dopamine D3 antagonist  drug dependency  I     
1014802   sodium channel blocker  bipolar disorder  I     
1034702   muscarinic acetylcholine agonist  dementia  I     
1144814   NK1/NK3 antagonist  schizophrenia  I     
163090   5HT1 antagonist  depression & anxiety  II     
239512   histamine H3 antagonist  dementia & schizophrenia  II     
561679†  CRF1 antagonist  depression & anxiety  II     
649868†  orexin antagonist  sleep disorders  II     
742457  5HT6 antagonist  dementia  II     
2402968 (PRO051)†  antisense oligonucleotide  Duchenne muscular dystrophy  II     
firategrast†  dual alpha4 integrin antagonist (VLA4)  multiple sclerosis  II     
Horizant (1838262)†  voltage-gated calcium channel modulator  migraine prophylaxis  II     
Horizant (1838262)†  voltage-gated calcium channel modulator  neuropathic pain  II     
losmapimod  p38 kinase inhibitor  pain (also cardiovascular disease, COPD & depression)  II     
losmapimod  p38 kinase inhibitor  depression (also cardiovascular disease, COPD & pain)  II     
orvepitant  NK1 antagonist  depression & anxiety  II     
almorexant†  orexin antagonist  insomnia  III     
Horizant (1838262)†*  voltage-gated calcium channel modulator  restless legs syndrome  Submitted    CR:Feb10
retigabine†  neuronal potassium channel opener  epilepsy – partial seizures  Submitted  S:Oct09  S:Oct09
Lamictal XR  sodium channel inhibitor  epilepsy – partial generalised tonic-clonic seizures, once-daily  Approved  N/A  A:Jan10
Lamictal XR  sodium channel inhibitor  epilepsy – partial seizures, once-daily  Approved  N/A  A:May09
 

            

Oncology
2110183   AKT protein kinase inhibitor  cancer  I     
2118436   BRaf protein kinase inhibitor  cancer  I     
2126458   Pi3 kinase inhibitor  cancer  I     
2141795   AKT protein kinase inhibitor  cancer  I     
184072   SIRT1 activator  haematologic cancers (also type 2 diabetes)  II     
1120212†

 
mitogen-activated protein kinase inhibitor 

(MEK1/2)  
cancer

 
II

 
 

 
 

2285921†  thrombopoietin receptor agonist  thrombocytopaenia  II     
foretinib (1363089)†

 
mesenchymal-epithelial transition factor 

(C-met) kinase inhibitor  
papillary renal cell carcinoma and other cancers

 
II

 
 

 
 

Revolade/Promacta†  thrombopoietin receptor agonist  oncology-related thrombocytopaenia  II     
Tyverb/Tykerb  Her2 and EGFR dual kinase inhibitor  head & neck squamous cell carcinoma (unresectable disease)  II     
Votrient (pazopanib)  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor  breast cancer, adjuvant therapy  II     
Votrient (pazopanib)  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor  non-small cell lung cancer, first line & adjuvant therapy  II     
Votrient (pazopanib)  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor  ovarian cancer, maintenance therapy  III     
Revolade/Promacta†  thrombopoietin receptor agonist  chronic liver disease induced thrombocytopaenia  III     
Revolade/Promacta†  thrombopoietin receptor agonist  hepatitis C induced thrombocytopaenia  III     
Tyverb/Tykerb  Her2 and EGFR dual kinase inhibitor  breast cancer, adjuvant therapy  III     
Tyverb/Tykerb  Her2 and EGFR dual kinase inhibitor  gastric cancer  III     
Tyverb/Tykerb  Her2 and EGFR dual kinase inhibitor  head & neck squamous cell carcinoma (resectable disease)  III     
Votrient (pazopanib)  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor  sarcoma  III     
Votrient (pazopanib) +  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor +  inflammatory breast cancer  III     
   Tyverb/Tykerb  Her2 and EGFR dual kinase inhibitor         
Avodart  5-alpha reductase inhibitor  reduction in the risk of prostate cancer  Submitted  S:Sep09   
Duodart (Avodart + 

alpha blocker)  
5-alpha reductase inhibitor + alpha blocker 

 
benign prostatic hyperplasia – fixed dose combination

 
Submitted

 
S:Dec08

 
TA:Jan10

Revolade/Promacta†  thrombopoietin receptor agonist  idiopathic thrombocytopaenic purpura  Approved  PO:Dec09  A:Nov08
Tyverb/Tykerb  Her2 and EGFR dual kinase inhibitor  breast cancer, first line therapy  Approved  PO:Feb10  A:Jan10
Votrient (pazopanib)  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor  renal cell cancer  Approved  PO:Feb10  A:Oct09
 

            

Ophthalmology
pazopanib  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor (oral)  age-related macular degeneration (also cancer indications)  I     
pazopanib  multi-kinase angiogenesis inhibitor (eye drops)  age-related macular degeneration  II     
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     Achieved Regulatory
     review milestones
Compound  Type Indication  Phase MAA NDA/BLA
 

            
Respiratory & Immuno-inflammation
610677   p38 kinase inhibitor (inhaled)   COPD  I     
681323  

 
p38 kinase inhibitor (i.v.)  

 
acute lung injury & acute 
respiratory distress syndrome  

I
 

 
 
 

1325756   chemokine receptor (CXCR2) antagonist  COPD  I
2245840   SIRT1 activator   COPD & psoriasis (also type 2 diabetes & sarcopaenia)  I     
CCX025†  CCR9 antagonist   Crohn’s disease  I     
256066   PDE4 inhibitor (inhaled)  COPD  II
573719   muscarinic acetylcholine antagonist   COPD  II     
573719 + 642444† 

 
muscarinic acetylcholine antagonist +  

long-acting beta2 agonist   
COPD 

 
II

 
 

 
 

656933   chemokine receptor (CXCR2) antagonist   cystic fibrosis  II     
685698   glucocorticoid agonist  asthma  II
705498  

 
transient receptor potential vanilloid (TRPV1)  

antagonist (intranasal)  
non-allergic rhinitis 

 
II   

870086   novel glucocorticoid agonist (inhaled)   asthma  II     
961081†   muscarinic antagonist, beta2 agonist  COPD  II
962040   motilin receptor agonist   delayed gastric emptying  II     
1399686   anti-inflammatory macrolide conjugate (oral)   inflammatory bowel disease  II     
1605786 (CCX282)†  CCR9 antagonist  Crohn’s disease  II
2190915†   5-lipoxygenase-activating protein (FLAP) inhibitor   asthma  II     
losmapimod 

 
p38 kinase inhibitor (oral)  

 
COPD (also cardiovascular disease, 
pain & depression)  

II
 

 
 
 

Relovair 
   (642444† + 685698)   

long-acting beta2 agonist + glucocorticoid agonist  asthma 
 

II   

Relovair 
(642444† + 685698)  

long-acting beta2 agonist + glucocorticoid agonist  COPD 
 

III   

642444†   long-acting beta2 agonist   COPD  III     
 

            
Paediatric Vaccines
Hexavalent combination 

vaccine 
 

conjugated  

 

Neisseria meningitis C, Haemophilus influenzae type b, 
diphtheria, tetanus, pertussis and poliomyelitis disease 
prophylaxis  

I

 

 

 

 

Heptavalent combination 
vaccine 

 

conjugated  

 

Neisseria meningitis C, Haemophilus influenzae type b, 
diphtheria, Hepatitis B, tetanus, pertussis and 
poliomyelitis disease prophylaxis  

II

 

 

 

 

S. pneumoniae 
paediatric  
next generation  

recombinant – conjugated  

 

Streptococcus pneumoniae disease 
prophylaxis 

 

II

 

 

 

 

Mosquirix  recombinant  malaria prophylaxis (Plasmodium falciparum)  III N/A
Nimenrix (MenACWY-
TT)  

conjugated  Neisseria meningitis groups A, C, W 
& Y disease prophylaxis  

III   

MenHibrix (Hib-MenCY-
TT)  

conjugated  
 

Neisseria meningitis groups C & Y & Haemophilus 
influenzae type b disease prophylaxis  

Submitted 
 

 
 
S:Aug09

Hiberix  conjugated  paediatric booster for Haemophilus influenzae type b  Approved A:Nov07 A:Aug09
Synflorix 

 
conjugated  Streptococcus pneumoniae disease prophylaxis in infants & 

children  
Approved A:Mar09 N/A

 

      
Other Vaccines
Alzheimer’s disease  conjugated  treatment of Alzheimer’s disease  I
Cytomegalovirus  recombinant   cytomegalovirus infection prophylaxis  I     
HIV  recombinant  HIV disease prophylaxis/immunotherapy  I
NTHi-Pneumo  recombinant   Streptococcus pneumoniae and Haemophilus influenzae  I     
         disease prophylaxis in adults   
Dengue fever  attenuated tetravalent   dengue fever prophylaxis  II     
Tuberculosis  recombinant   tuberculosis prophylaxis  II     
Zoster  recombinant  Herpes Zoster prevention  II
New generation flu 
vaccine  

inactivated split – trivalent  seasonal influenza prophylaxis for the elderly 
 

III   

Simplirix  recombinant   genital herpes prophylaxis  III     
Flu pandemic & 

pre-pandemic†  
H5N1 inactivated split – monovalent (Quebec)  pandemic influenza prophylaxis 

 
Submitted S:Jul09 S:Jun09

(Canada)
Arepanrix 
(Flu pandemic)†  

H1N1 inactivated split adjuvanted – monovalent (Quebec)  pandemic influenza prophylaxis (emergency use) 
 

Approved PO:Jan10 A:Oct09
(Canada)

Cervarix† 
 

recombinant  
 

cervical dysplasia and cancer prophylaxis caused  
by HPV 16/18  

Approved 
 

A:Sep07 
 
A:Oct09

Influenza A (H1N1) 2009 
monovalent vaccine 
(Flu pandemic)†  

H1N1 inactivated split – monovalent (Quebec)  pandemic influenza A (H1N1) 2009 prophylaxis 
(emergency use) 

 

Approved  A:Nov09

Pandemrix 
(Flu pandemic)†  

H1N1 inactivated split adjuvanted – monovalent (Dresden)  
 

pandemic influenza prophylaxis 
 

Approved 
 

A: Sep09
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Option-based alliances with third parties that include assets in Phase I and Phase II development  

* Two assets  
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       Achieved Regulatory
       review milestones
Compound  Type  Indication  Phase  MAA NDA/BLA
 

            
Antigen Specific Cancer Immunotherapeutic (ASCI)
WT1  recombinant   treatment of acute myelogenous leukaemia  II     
MAGE-A3  recombinant   treatment of melanoma  III   
MAGE-A3  recombinant   treatment of non-small cell lung cancer  III     
 

            
Dermatology (Stiefel), late stage assets only
Duac low dose  clindamycin/benzoyl peroxide gel   acne vulgaris  III     
tazarotene foam  retinoid foam   acne vulgaris  III   
calcipotriene  vitamin D3 analog   mild to moderate plaque psoriasis  Submitted    S:Dec09
itraconazole tablets  oral anti-fungal   onychomycosis  Submitted   S:Mar09
Veltin  antibiotic/retinoid gel   acne vulgaris  Submitted    S:Oct09
 

            
HIV (ViiV Healthcare)
1265744†   HIV integrase inhibitor   HIV infections  II     
1349572†   HIV integrase inhibitor  HIV infections  II   
2248761 (IDX899)† 

 
non-nucleotide reverse transcriptase 

inhibitor   
HIV infections 

 
II

 
 

 
 

PF-232798  CCR5 antagonist   HIV infections  II   
UK-453061 

 
non-nucleotide reverse transcriptase 

inhibitor   
HIV infections 

 
II

 
  

Selzentry/Celsentri  CCR5 antagonist   HIV infection, use in treatment naive patients  Approved    A:Nov09
 

          
Company Disease Area  Phase
 

Anacor Pharmaceuticals   anti-bacterial  I      
 

ChemoCentryx   inflammatory disease*  I & II      
 

Concert Pharmaceuticals   HIV (protease inhibitor)  I      
 

Galapagos   autoimmune disease  I      
 

NeuroSearch   neuroscience (anxiety & pain)  I      
 

OncoMed Pharmaceuticals  oncology  I
 

Prosensa Therapeutics   neuroscience  I      
 

Ranbaxy Laboratories   respiratory  I      
 

Theravance   gastrointestinal  I      
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The Ordinary Shares of the company are listed on the London Stock 
Exchange and on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE) in the form 
of American Depositary Shares (ADS). For details of listed debt and 
where it is listed refer to Note 32, ‘Net debt’.  

Share price  

The table above sets out the middle market closing prices. The 
company’s share price increased by 2.7% in 2009. This compares 
with an increase in the FTSE 100 index by 22% during the year. The 
share price on 19th February 2010 was £12.35.  

Market capitalisation  
The market capitalisation, based on shares in issue excluding 
Treasury shares, of GlaxoSmithKline at 31st December 2009 was 
£69 billion. At that date GSK was the fifth largest company by market 
capitalisation on the FTSE index.  

SmithKline Beecham plc Floating Rate 
Unsecured Loan Stock 1990/2010  
The Loan Stock is not listed on any exchange but will be redeemed 
in its entirety at par, i.e. £1 for every £1 of loan stock held, on 1st 
June 2010.  

Loan Stock holders will not be required to surrender their 
certificate(s) for this compulsory redemption, which will be made 
automatically at the due time, and a cheque in respect of the 
redemption value will be posted on 28th May 2010.  

Taxation  
General information concerning the UK and US tax effects of share 
ownership is set out on page 202 ‘Taxation information for 
shareholders’.  

Dividends  
GlaxoSmithKline pays dividends quarterly. It continues to increase 
cash returns to shareholders through its dividend policy. Dividends 
remain an essential component of total shareholder return and GSK 
is committed to increasing its dividend over the long-term. Details of 
the dividends declared, the amount and the payment dates are given 
in Note 16 to the financial statements, ‘Dividends’.  

Dividends per share  
The table below sets out the dividends per share in the last five 
years.  

             
  2009 2008  2007
  £ £  £

At 1st January   12.85   12.79   13.44 
High during the year   13.34   13.85   14.93 
Low during the year   9.87   9.95   11.60 
At 31st December   13.20   12.85   12.79 
Increase/(decrease)   2.7%   0.5%   (5)%
 

    

 -

 

     
Year  pence
 

2009    61 
2008   57
2007    53 
2006    48 
2005    44 
 

Dividends per ADS  
The table below sets out the dividends per ADS in US dollars in the 
last five years, translated into US dollars at applicable exchange 
rates.  

Dividend calendar  

Financial reporting calendar  

Results announcements  
Results announcements are issued to the London Stock Exchange 
and are available on its news service. Shortly afterwards, they are 
issued to the media, and sent to the US Securities and Exchange 
Commission and the NYSE.  

Financial reports  
GSK publishes an Annual Report and for the shareholder not 
needing the full detail of the Report, a Summary document. The 
Summary is sent to all shareholders. Shareholders may elect to 
receive the Annual Report by writing to the registrars. Alternatively 
shareholders may elect to receive notification by email of the 
publication of financial reports by registering on 
www.shareview.co.uk.  

Copies of previous financial reports are available from the registrars 
in the UK and from the GSK Response Center in the USA.  

Corporate responsibility report  
In late March 2010, GSK will publish its Corporate Responsibility 
Report covering performance in areas including community 
investment, ethics and integrity, access to medicines, R&D and 
environment, health and safety.  

     
Year US$
 

2009    1.93 
2008    2.01 
2007    2.14 
2006    1.80 
2005 1.57
 

 
Quarter Ex-dividend date Record date Payment date
  

 
 

 
 

 
 

Q4 2009 10th February 2010 12th February 2010 8th April 2010
Q1 2010 5th May 2010 7th May 2010 8th July 2010
Q2 2010  28th July 2010  30th July 2010  7th October 2010
Q3 2010 27th October 2010 29th October 2010 6th January 2011
  

 

 

 

 

 

 

  
Publication  Date
 

Results announcements   
Quarter 1   April 2010
Quarter 2   July 2010
Quarter 3   October 2010
Preliminary/Quarter 4   February 2011
 

Annual Report/Summary   February/March 2011
 



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: 55742
Name: GLAXOSMITHKLINE     

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: 20-F, Doc: 1, Page: 197
Description: GLAXO

0/6197.00.00.00U08350BOT[E/O]
EDGAR 2 *U08350/197/6*

B
O

W
N

E
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 T

Y
PE

SE
T

T
IN

G
 S

Y
ST

E
M

C
R

C
: 5

57
42

N
am

e:
 G

L
A

X
O

SM
IT

H
K

L
IN

E
   

  
D

at
e:

  1
-M

A
R

-2
01

0 
11

:4
4:

50
.9

0
O

pe
ra

to
r:

 B
O

L
00

01
0T

Ph
on

e:
 0

20
-7

55
1-

50
00

Si
te

: B
O

W
N

E
 O

F 
L

O
N

D
O

N

U
08

35
0.

SU
B

, D
oc

N
am

e:
 2

0-
F,

 D
oc

: 1
, P

ag
e:

 1
97

D
es

cr
ip

tio
n:

 G
L

A
X

O

0/
6

19
7.

00
.0

0.
00

U
08

35
0

B
O

T
[E

/O
]

E
D

G
A

R
 2

*
U
0
8
3
5
0
/
1
9
7
/
6
*

                    

  

194  

Shareholder information 
 

 
GSK Annual Report 2009 

Nature of trading market  
The following tables set out, for the periods indicated, the high and 
low middle market closing quotations in pence for the shares on the 
London Stock Exchange, and the high and low last reported sales 
prices in US dollars for the ADS on the NYSE.  

* to 19th February 2010  

         
 Pence per share
 High  Low
 

Quarter ended 31st March 2010*    1340   1196 
February 2010*    1245   1196 
January 2010    1340   1217 
December 2009    1334   1280 
November 2009    1290   1219 
October 2009    1281   1219 
September 2009   1252  1176
Quarter ended 31st December 2009    1334   1219 
Quarter ended 30th September 2009    1252   1063 
Quarter ended 30th June 2009    1117   987 
Quarter ended 31st March 2009    1305   1003 
Quarter ended 31st December 2008    1285   995 
Quarter ended 30th September 2008    1327   1103 
Quarter ended 30th June 2008    1153   1053 
Quarter ended 31st March 2008    1385   1001 
Year ended 31st December 2007   1493  1160
Year ended 31st December 2006    1577   1326 
Year ended 31st December 2005    1544   1175 
 

  
 US dollars per ADS
 High  Low
 

Quarter ended 31st March 2010*    42.97   37.52 
February 2010*   39.49  37.52
January 2010    42.97   39.01 
December 2009    42.91   41.59 
November 2009    42.88   40.30 
October 2009    41.91   38.72 
September 2009    39.67   38.60 
Quarter ended 31st December 2009    42.91   38.72 
Quarter ended 30th September 2009    40.03   34.36 
Quarter ended 30th June 2009    36.56   29.11 
Quarter ended 31st March 2009   39.24  27.27
Quarter ended 31st December 2008    43.39   32.02 
Quarter ended 30th September 2008    49.03   42.08 
Quarter ended 30th June 2008    45.36   41.39 
Quarter ended 31st March 2008    54.36   40.85 
Year ended 31st December 2007    59.35   47.87 
Year ended 31st December 2006    58.38   50.15 
Year ended 31st December 2005    53.53   44.48 
 

Annual General Meeting 2010  

The Queen Elizabeth II Conference Centre, 6th May 2010 
Broad Sanctuary, Westminster, 
London SW1P 3EE  

The AGM is the company’s principal forum for communication with 
private shareholders. In addition to the formal business there will be 
a presentation by the Chief Executive Officer on the performance of 
the Group and its future development. There will be opportunity for 
questions to the Board, and the Chairmen of the Board’s Committees 
will take questions on matters relating to those committees.  

Investors holding shares through a nominee service should arrange 
with that nominee service to be appointed as a corporate 
representative or proxy in respect of their shareholding in order to 
attend and vote at the meeting.  

ADR holders wishing to attend the meeting must obtain a proxy from 
The Bank of New York Mellon which will enable them to attend and 
vote on the business to be transacted. ADR holders may instruct The 
Bank of New York Mellon as to the way in which the shares 
represented by their ADR should be voted by completing and 
returning the voting card provided by the bank in accordance with the 
instructions given.  

Documents on display  
The Memorandum and Articles of Association of the company and 
other documents referred to in this Annual Report are available for 
inspection at the Registered Office of the company.  

Exchange controls and other limitations 
affecting security holders  
There are currently no UK laws, decrees or regulations restricting the 
import or export of capital or affecting the remittance of dividends or 
other payments to holders of the company’s shares who are non-
residents of the UK. There are no limitations relating only to non-
residents of the UK under English law or the company’s 
Memorandum and Articles of Association on the right to be a holder 
of, and to vote in respect of, the company’s shares.  
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Duplicate publications  
Queries relating to receipt of duplicate copies of GSK’s publications 
should be addressed to the registrars.  

Investor relations  
Investor Relations may be contacted as follows:  

UK  
980 Great West Road, Brentford, Middlesex TW8 9GS 
Tel:    +44 (0)20 8047 5000  

USA  
One Franklin Plaza, PO Box 7929, Philadelphia PA 19101 
Tel:    1 888 825 5249 (US toll free) 
Tel:    +1 215 751 4000 (outside USA)  

Registrar  
The company’s registrars are:  

Equiniti Limited 
Aspect House, Spencer Road, Lancing, West Sussex BN99 6DA 
www.shareview.co.uk 
Tel:    0871 384 2991 inside the UK 
Tel:    +44 (0)121 415 7067 outside the UK  

Equiniti also provides the following services:  

Share dealing service  
Shareholders may trade shares, either held in certificates or in the 
Corporate Sponsored Nominee by internet or telephone through 
Shareview Dealing, a share dealing service provided by Equiniti 
Financial Services Limited. For internet deals log on to www. 
shareview.co.uk/dealing. For telephone deals call 08456 037 037 
(inside the UK only).  

For the nominee and ISA service, either www.shareview.co.uk/ 
dealing or call 0845 300 0430. Telephone services are available 
between 8.00 and 18.00, Monday to Friday (market trading hours 
8.00 –16.30).  

Glaxo Wellcome and SmithKline Beecham 
Corporate PEPs  
The Share Centre Limited 
Oxford House, Oxford Road, Aylesbury, Bucks HP21 8SZ 
Tel:    +44 (0)1296 414141  

•  Nominee dealing account and Individual Savings Account (ISA)

•  GlaxoSmithKline Corporate Sponsored Nominee

•  Shareview service

•  Share dealing service

•  Dividend Reinvestment Plan

ADR programme administrator  
The ADR programme is administered by:  
BNY Mellon Shareowner Services 
PO Box 358516  
Pittsburgh, PA 15252-8516 
www.bnymellon.com/shareowner 
Tel:    1 877 353 1154 (US toll free) 
Tel:    +1 201 680 6825 (outside USA) 
email: shrrelations@bnymellon.com  

The administrators also provide Global BuyDIRECT, a direct ADS 
purchase/sale and dividend reinvestment plan for ADR holders.  

GSK Response Center  
Tel:    1 888 825 5249 (US toll free)  

The provision of the details above is not intended to be an invitation 
or inducement to engage in an investment activity. Advice on share 
dealing should be obtained from a stockbroker or independent 
financial adviser.  
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A summary of certain UK tax and US federal income tax 
consequences for certain holders of shares and ADR who are 
citizens of the UK or the USA is set out below. It is not a complete 
analysis of all the possible tax consequences of the purchase or 
ownership of these securities. It is intended only as a general guide. 
Holders are advised to consult their advisers with respect to the tax 
consequences of the purchase and ownership of their shares or 
ADR, and the consequences under state and local tax laws in the 
USA and the implications of the current UK/US Income Tax 
convention.  

US holders of ADR generally will be treated as the owners of the 
underlying shares for the purposes of the current USA/UK double 
taxation conventions relating to income and gains (Income Tax 
Convention), estate and gift taxes (Estate and Gift Tax Convention) 
and for the purposes of the US Internal Revenue Code of 1986, as 
amended (the Code).  

UK shareholders  
This summary only applies to a UK resident shareholder that holds 
shares as capital assets.  

Taxation of dividends  
UK resident individual shareholders will generally be subject to UK 
income tax on the full amount of dividends paid, grossed up for the 
amount of a one ninth dividend tax credit. The tax credit may be set 
against the individual’s income tax liability in respect of the gross 
dividend, but is not repayable to shareholders with a tax liability of 
less than the associated tax credit. For the tax year 2010-11 and 
subsequent tax years, an additional rate of income tax on dividends 
will be imposed for taxpayers whose income is above £150,000. UK 
resident shareholders that are corporation taxpayers should note that 
dividends paid after 1st July 2009 are generally entitled to exemption 
from corporation tax under new rules. If shareholders are in any 
doubt as to their position, they should consult their own professional 
advisers.  

Taxation of capital gains  
UK shareholders may be liable for UK tax on gains on the disposal of 
shares or ADR. For disposals by individuals, a capital gain will be 
taxed at a flat rate of 18%, subject to the availability of any exemption 
or relief such as the annual exempt amount. Corporation taxpayers 
may be entitled to an indexation allowance which applies to reduce 
capital gains to the extent that such gains arise due to inflation. 
Indexation allowance may reduce a chargeable gain but will not 
create an allowable loss.  

Inheritance tax  
Individual shareholders may be liable to inheritance tax on the 
transfer of shares or ADR. Tax may be charged on the amount by 
which the value of the shareholder’s estate is reduced as a result of 
any transfer by way of gift or other disposal at less than full market 
value.  

If such a gift or other disposal were subject to both UK inheritance 
tax and US estate or gift tax, the Estate and Gift Tax Convention 
would generally provide for tax paid in the USA to be credited against 
tax payable in the UK.  

Stamp duty  
UK stamp duty or stamp duty reserve tax (SDRT) will, subject to 
certain exemptions, be payable on the purchase of shares at a rate 
of 0.5% of the purchase price.  

US shareholders  
This summary only applies to a shareholder (a citizen or resident of 
the USA or a domestic corporation or a person that is otherwise  

subject to US federal income tax on a net income basis in respect of 
the shares or ADR) that holds shares or ADR as capital assets, is not 
resident in the UK for UK tax purposes and does not hold shares for 
the purposes of a trade, profession or vocation that is carried on in 
the UK through a branch or agency. The summary also does not 
address the tax treatment of holders that are subject to special tax 
rules, such as banks, tax-exempt entities, insurance companies, 
dealers in securities or currencies, persons that hold shares or ADR 
as part of an integrated investment (including a ‘straddle’) comprised 
of a share or ADR and one or more other positions, and persons that 
own (directly or indirectly) 10% or more of the voting stock of GSK.  

Taxation of dividends  
The gross amount of dividends received is treated as foreign source 
dividend income for US tax purposes. It is not eligible for the dividend 
received deduction allowed to US corporations. Dividends on ADR 
are payable in US dollars; dividends on shares are payable in 
Sterling. Dividends paid in pounds Sterling will be included in income 
in the US dollar amount calculated by reference to the exchange rate 
on the day the dividends are received by the holder. Subject to 
certain exceptions for short-term or hedged positions, an individual 
eligible US holder will be subject to US taxation at a maximum rate of 
15% in respect of qualified dividends received before 2011.  

Taxation of capital gains  
Generally, US holders will not be subject to UK capital gains tax, but 
will be subject to US tax on capital gains realised on the sale or other 
disposal of shares or ADR. Such gains will be long-term capital gains 
(subject to reduced rates of taxation for individual holders) if the 
shares or ADR were held for more than one year.  

Information reporting and backup withholding  
Dividends and payments of the proceeds on a sale of shares or ADR, 
paid within the USA or through certain US-related financial 
intermediaries are subject to information reporting and may be 
subject to backup withholding unless the US holder is a corporation 
or other exempt recipient or provides a taxpayer identification 
number and certifies that no loss of exemption has occurred. Non-US 
holders generally are not subject to information reporting or backup 
withholding, but may be required to provide a certification of their 
non-US status in connection with payments received. Any amounts 
withheld will be allowed as a refund or credit against a holder’s US 
federal income tax liability provided the required information is 
furnished to the IRS.  

Estate and gift taxes  
Under the Estate and Gift Tax Convention, a US shareholder is not 
generally subject to UK inheritance tax.  

Stamp duty  
UK stamp duty or SDRT will, subject to certain exemptions, be 
payable on any issue or transfer of shares to the ADR custodian or 
depository at a rate of 1.5% of their price (if issued), the amount  
of any consideration provided (if transferred on sale), or their value (if 
transferred for no consideration).  

No SDRT would be payable on the transfer of an ADR. No UK stamp 
duty should be payable on the transfer of an ADR provided that any 
instrument of transfer is executed and remains at all times outside 
the UK. Any stamp duty on the transfer of an ADR would be payable 
at a rate of 0.5% of the consideration for the transfer. Any sale of the 
underlying shares would, subject to certain exceptions, result in 
liability to UK stamp duty or, as the case may be, SDRT at a rate of 
0.5%.  
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Terms used in the Annual Report  US equivalent or brief description
  

 
 

Accelerated capital allowances  
 

Tax allowance in excess of depreciation arising from the purchase of fixed assets that delay the 
charging and payment of tax. The US equivalent of tax depreciation.

    

American Depositary Receipt (ADR)   Receipt evidencing title to an ADS. Each GlaxoSmithKline ADR represents two Ordinary Shares.
    

American Depositary Shares (ADS)   Listed on the New York Stock Exchange; represents two Ordinary Shares.
  

 
 

Basic earnings per share   Basic income per share.
  

 
 

Called-up share capital   Ordinary Shares, issued and fully paid.
    

CER growth   Growth at constant exchange rates.
  

 
 

Combined Code  
 

Guidelines required by the Listing Rules of the Financial Services Authority to address the 
principal aspects of Corporate Governance.

  
 

 

The company   GlaxoSmithKline plc.
  

 
 

Currency swap  
 

An exchange of two currencies, coupled with a subsequent re-exchange of those currencies, at 
agreed exchange rates and dates.

    

Defined benefit plan   Pension plan with specific employee benefits, often called ‘final salary scheme’.
    

Defined contribution plan  
 

Pension plan with specific contributions and a level of pension dependent upon the growth of the 
pension fund.

  
 

 

Derivative financial instrument   A financial instrument that derives its value from the price or rate of some underlying item.
  

 
 

Diluted earnings per share   Diluted income per share.
  

 
 

Employee Share Ownership Plan Trusts   Trusts established by the Group to satisfy share-based employee incentive plans.
    

Finance lease  Capital lease.
  

 
 

Freehold   Ownership with absolute rights in perpetuity.
  

 
 

Gearing ratio   Net debt as a percentage of total equity.
    

The Group   GlaxoSmithKline plc and its subsidiary undertakings.
    

Hedging  The reduction of risk, normally in relation to foreign currency or interest rate movements, by 
making off-setting commitments.

  
 

 

Intangible fixed assets  
 

Assets without physical substance, such as computer software, brands, licences, patents, know-
how and marketing rights purchased from outside parties.

  
 

 

Non-equity minority interest   Preference shares issued by a subsidiary to outside parties.
  

 
 

Preference shares   Shares issued at varying dividend rates that are treated as outside interests.
    

Profit   Income.
  

 
 

Profit attributable to shareholders   Net income.
  

 
 

Share capital   Ordinary Shares, capital stock or common stock issued and fully paid.
  

 
 

Shareholders’ funds   Shareholders’ equity.
    

Share option  Stock option.
  

 
 

Share premium account   Additional paid-up capital or paid-in surplus (not distributable).
  

 
 

Shares in issue   The number of shares outstanding.
    

Subsidiary   An entity in which GlaxoSmithKline holds a majority shareholding and/or exercises control.
    

Treasury share   Treasury stock.
  

 
 

Turnover   Revenue.
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The following is a summary of the principal provisions of the 
company’s Memorandum of Association (the “Memorandum”) and 
Articles of Association (the “Articles”). Shareholders should not rely 
on this summary, but should instead refer to the current 
Memorandum and Articles which are filed with the Registrar of 
Companies in the UK and can be viewed on the company’s website. 
The Memorandum contains the fundamental provisions of the 
company’s constitution. The Articles contain the rules for the internal 
management and control of the company.  

Memorandum of Association  
The Memorandum provides that the company’s principal objects are, 
among other things, to be the holding company of Glaxo Wellcome 
plc and SmithKline Beecham plc, to carry on business as a general 
commercial company and to carry on any trade or business or 
activity of any nature which may seem to the Directors to be capable 
of being conveniently or advantageously carried on.  

Articles of Association 
(a) Voting  
All resolutions put to the vote at general meetings will be decided by 
poll. On a poll, every shareholder who is present in person or by 
proxy shall have one vote for every Ordinary Share of which he or 
she is the holder. Unless the Directors otherwise decide, the right to 
attend a general meeting and voting rights may not be exercised by a 
shareholder who has not paid to the company all calls and other 
sums then payable by him or her in respect of his or her Ordinary 
Shares. The right to attend a general meeting and voting rights may 
not be exercised by a shareholder who is subject to an order under 
Section 794 of the Companies Act 2006 because he or she has failed 
to provide the company with information concerning his or her 
interests in Ordinary Shares within the prescribed period, as required 
by Section 793 of the Companies Act 2006.  

(b) Transfer of Ordinary Shares  
Any shareholder may transfer his or her Ordinary Shares which are 
in certificated form by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or 
in any other form which the Directors may approve. Such instrument 
must be properly signed, stamped or certified and lodged with the 
company together with the relevant share certificate(s) and such 
other evidence as the Directors may reasonably require to show the 
right of the transferor to make the transfer. Every transfer of Ordinary 
Shares which are in uncertificated form must be carried out by 
means of a relevant system such as CREST. The Directors may, in 
their absolute discretion and without giving any reason, decline to 
register any transfer of any Ordinary Share which is not fully paid.  

The Articles contain no other restrictions on the transfer of fully paid 
Ordinary Shares provided: (i) the transfer is in favour of not more 
than four transferees; (ii) the transfer is in respect of only one class of 
shares; and (iii) the holder of the Ordinary Shares is not subject to an 
order under Section 794 of the Companies Act 2006. Notice of 
refusal to register a transfer must be sent to the transferee within two 
months of the instrument of transfer being lodged. The Directors may 
decline to register a transfer of Ordinary Shares by a person holding 
0.25 per cent. or more of the existing Ordinary Shares if such person 
is subject to an order under Section 794 Companies Act 2006, after 
failure to provide the company with information concerning interests 
in those Ordinary Shares required to be provided under Section 793 
of the Companies Act 2006, unless the transfer is carried out 
pursuant to an arm’s length sale.  

Provisions in the Articles will not apply to uncertificated Ordinary 
Shares to the extent that they are inconsistent with:  

(c) Dividends and distribution of assets on 
liquidation  
The profits of the company which are available for distribution and 
permitted by law to be distributed and which the company may from 
time to time determine, upon the recommendation of the Directors, to 
distribute by way of dividend, in respect of any accounting reference 
period shall be distributed by way of dividend among holders of 
Ordinary Shares. If in their opinion the company’s financial position 
justifies such payments, the Directors may, as far as any applicable 
legislation allows, pay interim dividends on shares of any class of 
such amounts and in respect of such periods as they think fit. Except 
in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share 
otherwise provide, all dividends will be declared, apportioned and 
paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the shares during 
any portion of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid. As 
the company has only one class of Ordinary Shares, the holders of 
such Ordinary Shares will under general law be entitled to participate 
in any surplus assets in a winding-up in proportion to their 
shareholdings.  

(i) the holding of shares in uncertificated form;

(ii) the transfer of title to Ordinary Shares by means of a system such 
as CREST; and

(iii) any provisions of the relevant regulations.
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(d) Variation of rights and changes in capital  
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and to the 
terms of issue of the shares concerned, the rights attached to any 
class of shares may be varied with the written consent of the holders 
of three-quarters in nominal value of the issued shares of that class 
or with the sanction of a special resolution passed at a separate 
meeting of the holders of shares of that class. At every such separate 
meeting, the provisions of the Articles relating to general meetings 
shall apply, except the necessary quorum shall be at least two 
persons holding or representing as proxy at least one-third in nominal 
value of the issued shares of the relevant class (but provided that at 
any adjourned meeting any holder of shares of the relevant class 
present in person or by proxy shall be a quorum).  

The company may by ordinary resolution increase its share capital, 
consolidate, or consolidate then sub-divide all, or any of its shares 
into shares of a larger nominal amount, cancel any shares not taken 
or agreed to be taken by any person and, subject to the provisions of 
the Companies Act 2006, sub-divide its shares into shares of a 
smaller nominal amount. The company may, subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Act 2006, by special resolution reduce its share 
capital or any capital redemption reserve, share premium account or 
other undistributable reserve. The company may also, subject to the 
provisions of the Companies Act 2006 and the rights of any of the 
holders of any class of shares, purchase its own shares.  

(e) Unclaimed dividends  
Unless the Directors decide otherwise, any dividend unclaimed after 
a period of 12 years from the date when a resolution was passed for 
payment will be forfeited and revert to the company. The company 
may stop sending dividend cheques or warrants by post, or employ 
such other means of payment in respect of any Ordinary Shares, if at 
least two consecutive payments have remained uncashed or are 
returned undelivered or if one payment has remained uncashed or is 
returned undelivered and the company cannot establish a new 
address for the holder after making reasonable enquiries; however, 
in either case, the company must resume sending cheques or 
warrants or employ such other means of payment if the holder or any 
person entitled to the Ordinary Shares by transmission requests the 
resumption.  

(f) Untraced shareholders  
The company may sell any Ordinary Shares in the company after 
advertising its intention and waiting for three months if the Ordinary 
Shares have been in issue for at least ten years and during that 
period at least three dividends have become payable on them and 
have not been claimed and, so far as any Director is aware, the 
company has not received any communication from the holder of the 
Ordinary Shares or any person entitled to them by transmission. 
Upon any such sale, the company will become indebted to the former 
holder of the Ordinary Shares or the person entitled to them by 
transmission for an amount equal to the net proceeds of sale.  

(g) Limitations on rights of non-resident or foreign 
shareholders  
There are no limitations imposed by the Articles on the rights of non-
resident or foreign shareholders except that there is no requirement 
for the company to serve notices on shareholders outside the United 
Kingdom and the United States.  

(h) General meetings of shareholders  
The company is required by the Companies Act 2006 to hold an 
annual general meeting each year. General meetings of 
shareholders may be called as necessary by the Directors and must 
be called promptly upon receipt of a requisition from shareholders. A 
general meeting other than an annual general meeting may be called 
on not less than 14 clear days’ notice provided a special resolution 
reducing the notice period to 14 clear days has been passed at the 
immediately preceding annual general meeting or a general meeting 
held since that annual general meeting.  

(i) Conflicts of interest  
The Directors may authorise any matter which would otherwise 
involve a Director breaching his or her duty under the Companies Act 
2006 to avoid conflicts of interest (each a “Conflict”). A Director 
seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict shall declare to the 
other Directors the nature and extent of his or her Conflict as soon as 
is reasonably practicable. The relevant Director and any other 
Director with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor 
vote on any resolution giving such authority, and, if the other 
Directors so decide, shall be excluded from any meeting of the 
Directors while the Conflict is under consideration.  

(j) Other Conflicts of Interest  
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, and provided 
the nature of a Director’s interest has been declared to the Directors, 
a Director is not disqualified by that Office from contracting with the 
company in any manner, nor is any contract in which he or she is 
interested liable to be avoided, and any Director who is so interested 
is not liable to account to the company or its shareholders for any 
benefit realised by the contract by reason of the Director holding that 
Office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established. However, 
no Director may vote on any resolution relating specifically to his or 
her own appointment (including remuneration) or the terms of his or 
her termination or relating to any contract in which he or she has an 
interest (subject to certain exceptions).  

A Director may (or any firm of which he or she is a partner, employee 
or shareholder may) act in a professional capacity for the company 
(other than as auditor) and be remunerated for so doing. A Director 
may also hold any other Office with the company (other than auditor) 
or be or become director or other Officer of, or be otherwise 
interested in, any holding company or subsidiary of the company or 
in which the company may be interested and will not be liable to 
account to the company or its shareholders for any benefit received 
by him or her.  
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(k) Directors’ remuneration  
Each of the Directors will be paid a fee at such rate as may from time 
to time be determined by the Directors. Such fees may be satisfied in 
cash or in shares or any other non-cash form. Any Director who is 
appointed to any executive Office, acts as Chairman, serves on any 
committee of the Directors or performs any other services which the 
Directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary services of a 
Director shall be entitled to receive such remuneration (whether by 
way of salary, commission or otherwise) as the Directors may decide. 
Each Director may be paid reasonable travelling, hotel and other 
expenses he or she incurs in attending and returning from meetings 
of the Directors or committees of the Directors, or general meetings 
of the company, or otherwise incurred in connection with the 
performance of his or her duties for the company.  

(l) Pensions and gratuities for Directors  
The Directors or any committee authorised by the Directors may 
provide benefits by the payment of gratuities, pensions or insurance 
or other allowances or benefits for any Director or former Director or 
their relations, connected persons or dependants.  

(m) Borrowing powers  
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Act 2006, the Directors 
may exercise all the company’s powers to borrow money; to 
mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property 
(present and future), and uncalled capital; to issue debentures and 
other securities; and to give security either outright or as collateral 
security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any 
third party.  

(n) Retirement and removal of Directors  
A Director is subject to re-election at every annual general meeting of 
the company if he or she: (i) held Office at the time of the two 
previous annual general meetings and did not retire by rotation at 
either of them; (ii) has held Office for a continuous period of nine 
years or more; or (iii) he or she has been appointed by the Directors 
since the last annual general meeting.  

The company may by special resolution remove any Director before 
the expiration of his or her period of Office. No Director is required to 
retire by reason of his or her age, nor do any special formalities apply 
to the appointment or re-election of any Director who is over any age 
limit. No shareholding qualification for Directors shall be required.  
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Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance  
Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s corporate governance practice  
On 4th November 2003, the New York Stock Exchange (the “NYSE”) adopted new corporate governance standards. The application of the 
NYSE’s standards is restricted for foreign companies, recognising that they have to comply with domestic requirements. As a foreign private 
issuer, GlaxoSmithKline plc (“GlaxoSmithKline” or the “Company”) must comply with the following NYSE standards:  

As a company listed on the London Stock Exchange, GlaxoSmithKline is required to comply with the UK Listing Authority Listing Rules and to 
report non-compliance with the UK Combined Code on Corporate Governance (the “Combined Code”).  

The table below discloses differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s domestic corporate governance practices and the NYSE corporate 
governance standards applicable to US companies.  
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1. the Company must satisfy the audit committee requirements of the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”);

2. the Chief Executive Officer (the “CEO”) must promptly notify the NYSE in writing after any executive Officer of the Company becomes aware 
of any non-compliance with any applicable provisions of the NYSE’s corporate governance standards;

3. the Company must submit an annual affirmation to the NYSE affirming GlaxoSmithKline’s compliance with applicable NYSE corporate 
governance standards, and submit interim affirmations to the NYSE notifying it of specified changes to the audit committee or a change to the 
status of the Company as a foreign private issuer; and

4. the Company must provide a brief description of any significant differences between its corporate governance practices and those followed by 
US companies under the NYSE listing standards.

 

NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

Director Independence  

1. Listed companies must have a majority of independent directors. GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements 
contained in the Combined Code. The last update to the Combined 
Code for reporting years beginning on or after 29th June 2008 was 
issued in June 2008. A report on a review of the Combined Code 
was issued by the UK Financial Reporting Council (“FRC”) in 
December 2009, but its effects will only come into force for reporting 
years commencing on or after 29th June 2010.  

The Combined Code requires that the board of directors of 
GlaxoSmithKline (the “Board”) should include a balance of Executive 
and Non-Executive Directors (and, in particular, independent Non-
Executive Directors) such that no individual or small group of 
individuals can dominate the Board’s decision taking. At least half the 
Board, excluding the Chairman, should comprise Non-Executive 
Directors determined by the Board to be independent. The roles of 
Chairman and Chief Executive should not be exercised by the same 
individual. The division of responsibilities between the Chairman and 
Chief Executive should be clearly established, set down in writing 
and agreed by the Board.  

The Board considers that Professor Sir Roy Anderson, Dr Burns, Mr 
Culp, Sir Crispin Davis, Sir Deryck Maughan, Mr James Murdoch, Dr 
Podolsky, Mr de Swaan and Sir Robert Wilson are “independent” 
under the Combined Code. Sir Ian Prosser and Dr Ronaldo Schmitz, 
both of whom were considered to be independent, retired from the 
Board with effect from 20th May 2009. Mr James Murdoch joined the 
Board with effect from 20th May 2009 as an independent Non-
Executive Director.  

A majority of the Board members are “independent” Non- Executive 
Directors and the Board has appointed one of the “independent” 
Non-Executive Directors as senior independent director, in 
accordance with the recommendations of the Combined Code.  



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: 30574
Name: GLAXOSMITHKLINE     

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: 20-F, Doc: 1, Page: 205
 

0/8205.00.00.00U08350BOT[E/O]
EDGAR 2 *U08350/205/8*

B
O

W
N

E
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 T

Y
PE

SE
T

T
IN

G
 S

Y
ST

E
M

C
R

C
: 3

05
74

N
am

e:
 G

L
A

X
O

SM
IT

H
K

L
IN

E
   

  
D

at
e:

  1
-M

A
R

-2
01

0 
11

:4
4:

50
.9

0
O

pe
ra

to
r:

 B
O

L
00

01
0T

Ph
on

e:
 0

20
-7

55
1-

50
00

Si
te

: B
O

W
N

E
 O

F 
L

O
N

D
O

N

U
08

35
0.

SU
B

, D
oc

N
am

e:
 2

0-
F,

 D
oc

: 1
, P

ag
e:

 2
05

 

0/
8

20
5.

00
.0

0.
00

U
08

35
0

B
O

T
[E

/O
]

E
D

G
A

R
 2

*
U
0
8
3
5
0
/
2
0
5
/
8
*

                    

  

202  

Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s 
corporate governance practice 
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NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

(For the purposes of these standards “executive Officer” is defined to 
have the meaning specified for the term “Officer” in Rule 16a-1(f) 
under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the 
“Exchange Act”)).  

2. In order to tighten the definition of “independent director” for 
purposes of these standards:

(a) No director qualifies as “independent” unless the board of 
directors affirmatively determines that the director has no 
material relationship with the listed company (either directly or as 
a partner, shareholder or Officer of an organization that has a 
relationship with the company).

(b) In addition, a director is not independent if:

 (i) The director is, or has been within the last three years, an 
employee of the listed company, or an immediate family 
member is, or has been within the last three years, an 
executive Officer, of the listed company.

 (ii) The director has received, or has an immediate family member 
who has received, during any twelve-month period within the 
last three years, more than $120,000 in direct compensation 
from the listed company, other than director and committee 
fees and pension or other forms of deferred compensation for 
prior service (provided such compensation is not contingent in 
any way on continued service).

 (iii) (A) The director is a current partner or employee of a firm that 
is the listed company’s internal or external auditor; (B) the 
director has an immediate family member who is a current 
partner of such a firm; (C) the director has an immediate family 
member who is a current employee of such a firm and who 
personally works on the listed company’s audit; or (D) the 
director or an immediate family member was within the last 
three years a partner or employee of such a firm and 
personally worked on the listed company’s audit within that 
time.

 (iv) The director or an immediate family member is, or has been 
within the last three years, employed as an executive Officer of 
another company where any of the listed company’s present 
executive officers at the same time serves or served on that 
company’s compensation committee.

 (v) The director is a current employee, or an immediate family 
member is a current executive Officer, of a company that has 
made payments to, or received payments from, the listed 
company for property or services in an amount which, in any of 
the last three fiscal years, exceeds the greater of $1 million, or 
2% of such other company’s consolidated gross revenues.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic 
requirements contained in the Combined Code, which sets out the 
principles for the Company to determine whether a director is 
“independent”.  

The Board is required to determine and state its reasons for the 
determination of whether directors are independent in character and 
judgment and whether there are relationships or circumstances 
which are likely to affect, or could affect, the directors’ judgment. In 
undertaking this process, the Board is required, amongst other 
factors, to consider if the director:  

The Board considers all its Non-Executive Directors to be 
independent in character and judgment and has concluded that all its 
Non-Executive Directors are independent in accordance with the 
Combined Code.  

•  has been an employee of GlaxoSmithKline within the last five 
years;

•  has, or has had within the last three years, a material business 
relationship with the Company either directly or as a partner, 
shareholder, director or senior employee of a body that has such a 
relationship with the Company;

•  has received or receives additional remuneration from the 
Company apart from a director’s fee, participates in the Company’s 
share option or a performance-related pay scheme, or is a member 
of the Company’s pension scheme;

•  has close family ties with any of the Company’s advisers, directors 
or senior employees;

•  holds cross-directorships or has significant links with other 
directors through involvement in other companies or bodies;

•  represents a significant shareholder; or

•  has served on the Board for more than nine years from the date of 
his or her first election.
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NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

3. To empower non-management directors to serve as a more 
effective check on management, the non-management directors of 
each listed company must meet at regularly scheduled executive 
sessions without management.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements 
set out in the Combined Code, which requires that the Chairman of 
GlaxoSmithKline should hold meetings with the Non-Executive 
Directors without executives present. The Non-Executive Directors, 
led by the senior independent director, also meet without the 
Chairman present to appraise the Chairman’s performance.  

Nominating/corporate governance committee  

4.   
(a) Listed companies must have a nominating/corporate governance 

committee composed entirely of independent directors.

(b) The nominating/corporate governance committee must have a 
written charter that addresses:

 (i) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities – which, at 
minimum, must be to: identify individuals qualified to become 
board members, consistent with criteria approved by the board, 
and to select, or to recommend that the board select, the 
director nominees for the next annual meeting of shareholders; 
develop and recommend to the board a set of corporate 
governance guidelines applicable to the corporation; and 
oversee the evaluation of the board and management; and

 (ii) an annual performance evaluation of the committee.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the corresponding domestic 
requirements set out in the Combined Code, which require that 
GlaxoSmithKline should have a Nominations Committee that is 
comprised of a majority of independent Non-Executive Directors.  

GlaxoSmithKline’s Nominations Committee has written terms of 
reference in accordance with the Combined Code. The terms of 
reference are available on the Company’s website and explain the 
Nominations Committee’s role and the authority delegated to it by the 
Board. The Nominations Committee reviews the structure, size and 
composition of the Board and appointment of members to the Board 
and the Corporate Executive Team (the “CET”), and makes 
recommendations to the Board as appropriate. The Committee also 
monitors the planning of succession for the Board and Senior 
Management.  

The Board is responsible for regularly reviewing its corporate 
governance standards and practices. The Company Secretary is also 
the Group’s Corporate Compliance Officer and oversees corporate 
governance matters for the Group. The Company Secretary is 
responsible for advising the Board through the Chairman on all 
corporate governance matters. Domestic requirements do not 
mandate that GlaxoSmithKline establish a corporate governance 
committee. 

Management resources and compensation committee  

5.   
(a) Listed companies must have a compensation committee 

composed entirely of independent directors.

(b) The compensation committee must have a written charter that 
addresses:

 (i) the committee’s purpose and responsibilities – which, at 
minimum, must be to have direct responsibility to:

 (A) review and approve corporate goals and objectives relevant to 
CEO compensation, evaluate the CEO’s performance in light of 
those goals and objectives, and, either as a committee or 
together with the other independent directors (as directed by 
the board), determine and approve the CEO’s compensation 
level based on this evaluation;

 (B) make recommendations to the board with respect to non-CEO 
executive Officer compensation, and incentive-compensation 
and equity-based plans that are subject to board approval; and

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements 
set out in the Combined Code, which requires that GlaxoSmithKline 
have a Remuneration Committee that is comprised entirely of 
“independent” Non-Executive Directors (which may include the 
Company Chairman).  

GlaxoSmithKline’s Remuneration Committee has written terms of 
reference in accordance with the Combined Code. The terms of 
reference are available on the Company’s website. The 
Remuneration Committee determines the terms of service and 
remuneration of the Executive Directors and members of the CET 
and, with the assistance of external independent advisers, it 
evaluates and makes recommendations to the Board on overall 
executive remuneration policy (the Chairman and the CEO are 
responsible for evaluating and making recommendations to the 
Board on the remuneration of Non-Executive Directors).  

The Combined Code provides that the Remuneration Committee:  

(a) should consult with the Chairman and/or CEO about their 
proposals relating to the remuneration of Executive Directors and 
should delegate responsibility for setting remuneration for all 
Executive Directors and the Chairman, including pension rights 
and any compensation payments;
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NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

 (C) prepare the disclosure required by item 407(c) (5) of 
Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act;

 (ii) an annual performance evaluation of the compensation 
committee.

At the annual general meeting on 20th May 2009 the shareholders of 
GlaxoSmithKline approved proposed changes to the remuneration 
arrangements of the senior executives following a review by the 
Remuneration Committee to align performance measures to strategy, 
reflecting the long-term nature of the pharmaceutical industry.  

(b) should recommend and monitor the level and structure of 
remuneration for senior management; and

(c) should consider what compensation commitments (including 
pension contributions and all other elements) the directors’ terms 
of appointment would entail in the event of early termination.

(d) shareholders should be invited specifically to approve all new 
long-term incentive schemes and significant changes to existing 
schemes.

6. Listed companies must have an audit committee that satisfies the 
requirements of Rule 10A-3 under the Exchange Act.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with equivalent domestic requirements set 
out in the Combined Code, which require that GlaxoSmithKline have 
an Audit Committee that is comprised entirely of “independent” Non-
Executive Directors. The Board of Directors approved and adopted 
new terms of reference and accepted proposals to change the name 
of the Committee to the Audit & Risk Committee with effect from 10th 
December 2009.  

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee meets the requirements 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 in that:  

The Board has determined that Mr de Swaan has the appropriate 
qualifications and background to be an Audit Committee Financial 
Expert as defined in rules promulgated by the SEC under the 
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.  

•  each member of the Audit & Risk Committee is deemed to be 
“independent” in accordance with the Securities Exchange Act of 
1934, as amended, and applicable NYSE and UK requirements;

•  the Audit & Risk Committee, amongst other things, is responsible 
for recommending the appointment, compensation, maintenance of 
independence and oversight of the work of any registered public 
accounting firm engaged for the purpose of preparing or issuing an 
audit report or performing other audit, review or attest services for 
the Company, and each such accounting firm must report directly 
to the Audit & Risk Committee;

•  the Audit & Risk Committee has established a procedure for the 
receipt, retention and treatment of complaints regarding 
accounting, internal accounting controls or auditing matters, and for
the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of concerns 
regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters;

•  the Audit & Risk Committee has the authority to engage 
independent counsel and other advisors as it determines 
necessary to carry out its duties; and

•  GlaxoSmithKline must provide appropriate funding for the Audit & 
Risk Committee.
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NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

7.   
(a) The audit committee must have a minimum of three members. All 

audit committee members must satisfy the requirements for 
independence set out in Section 303A.02 and, in the absence of 
an applicable exemption, Rule 10A-3(b)(1) under the Exchange 
Act.

(b) The audit committee must have a written charter that addresses:

 (i) the committee’s purpose – which, at minimum, must be to:

 (A) assist board oversight of (1) the integrity of the listed 
company’s financial statements, (2) the listed company’s 
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, (3) the 
independent auditor’s qualifications and independence, and 
(4) the performance of the listed company’s internal audit 
function and independent auditors; and

 (B) prepare the disclosure required by Item 407(d)(3)(i) of 
Regulation S-K under the Exchange Act;

 (ii) an annual performance evaluation of the audit committee; and

 (iii) the duties and responsibilities of the audit committee – which, 
at a minimum, must include those set out in Rule 10A-3(b)(2), 
(3), (4) and (5) of the Exchange Act as well as to:

 (A) at least annually, obtain and review a report by the 
independent auditor describing: the firm’s internal quality-
control procedures; any material issues raised by the most 
recent internal quality-control review, or peer review, of the 
firm, or by any inquiry or investigation by governmental or 
professional authorities, within the preceding five years, 
respecting one or more independent audits carried out by 
the firm, and any steps taken to deal with any such issues; 
and (to assess the auditor’s independence) all relationships 
between the independent auditor and the listed company;

 (B) meet to review and discuss the listed company’s annual 
audited financial statements and quarterly financial 
statements with management and the independent auditor, 
including reviewing the listed company’s specific disclosures 
under “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial 
Condition and Results of Operations”;

GlaxoSmithKline complies with the equivalent domestic requirements 
set out in the Combined Code, which require that the Audit 
Committee should be comprised of a minimum of three 
“independent” Non-Executive Directors.  

GlaxoSmithKline’s Audit & Risk Committee has written terms of 
reference in accordance with the Combined Code. The terms of 
reference are available on the Company’s website. The Committee’s 
main responsibilities include reviewing the financial reporting 
process, the system of internal control and overseeing the 
identification and management of risks, the Company’s external and 
internal process for monitoring compliance with laws, regulations and 
ethical codes of practice, including review throughout the year of 
integrated assurance reports comprising business unit and 
associated consolidated internal audit reports.  

The Combined Code requires that a separate section in the 
Company’s Annual Report describe the work of the Committee in 
discharging its duties.  

The Combined Code requires that the main role and responsibilities 
of the Audit Committee should include:  

•  monitoring the integrity of the financial statements and 
management discussion and analysis (MD&A) of the Company and 
any formal announcements relating to the Company’s financial 
performance, and reviewing significant financial reporting 
judgments contained in them;

•  developing and implementing policy on the engagement of the 
external auditor to supply non-audit services, taking into account 
relevant ethical guidance regarding the provision of non-audit 
services by the external audit firm, and reporting to the Board, 
identifying any matters in respect of which it considers that action 
or improvement is needed and making recommendations as to the 
steps to be taken;

•  reviewing and monitoring the external auditor’s independence and 
objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process, taking into 
consideration the relevant UK professional and regulatory 
requirements;

•  making recommendations to the Board for it to put submissions to 
the Company’s shareholders for their approval at the general 
meeting in relation to the appointment, re-appointment and removal 
of the external auditor;

•  approving the remuneration and terms of engagement of the 
external auditor;

•  monitoring and reviewing the effectiveness of the Company’s 
internal audit function; and

•  reviewing the Company’s internal financial controls and the system 
of internal controls.
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Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s 
corporate governance practice 

 

 

 

Corporate governance guidelines  
 

 
GSK Annual Report 2009 

 

 

 

NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

 (C) discuss the listed company’s earnings press releases, as 
well as financial information and earnings guidance provided 
to analysts and rating agencies;

 (D) discuss policies with respect to risk assessment and risk 
management;

 (E) meet separately, periodically, with management, with 
internal auditors (or other personnel responsible for the 
internal audit function) and with independent auditors;

 (F) review with the independent auditor any audit problems or 
difficulties and management’s response;

 (G) set clear hiring policies for employees or former employees 
of the independent auditors; and

 (H) report regularly to the board of directors.

(d) Each listed company must have an internal audit function.

8. Shareholders must be given the opportunity to vote on all equity-
compensation plans and material revisions thereto, except for 
employment inducement awards, certain grants, plans and 
amendments in the context of mergers and acquisitions, and 
certain specific types of plans.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic requirements 
in the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority, which mandate that 
the Company must seek shareholder approval for employee share 
schemes. Please see section 5(d) above.  

9. Listed companies must adopt and disclose corporate governance 
guidelines.

GlaxoSmithKline complies with corresponding domestic requirements 
in the Listing Rules of the UK Listing Authority and the Combined 
Code, which require that GlaxoSmithKline include an explanation in 
its Annual Report of how it complies with the principles of the 
Combined Code and that it confirm that it complies with the Code’s 
provisions or, where it does not, provide an explanation of why it 
does not comply. In addition, for accounting periods beginning on or 
after 29th June 2008, issuers are required to make certain mandatory 
corporate governance statements in the Directors’ Report in 
accordance with new UK Disclosure and Transparency Rules, DTR 
7, which was issued by the UK Financial Services Authority to 
implement the eighth Company Law Directive. GlaxoSmithKline 
complies with these requirements in its 2009 Annual Report.  
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Comparison of New York Stock Exchange Corporate Governance Standards and GlaxoSmithKline plc’s 
corporate governance practice 

 

 

Description of significant differences  
 

 
GSK Annual Report 2009

 

 

NYSE  
Corporate Governance Standards  

Description of differences between GlaxoSmithKline’s governance  
practice and the NYSE Corporate Governance Standards  

10. Listed companies must adopt and disclose a code of business 
conduct and ethics for directors, officers and employees, and 
promptly disclose any waivers of the code for directors or 
executive officers.

GlaxoSmithKline’s Code of Conduct for employees is available on 
the Company’s website, as is the Code of Ethics for the CEO and 
CFO and other senior financial officers.  

11. Listed foreign private issuers must disclose any significant ways 
in which their corporate governance practices differ from those 
followed by domestic companies under NYSE listing standards.

 
  Listed foreign private issuers are required to provide this 

disclosure in the English language and in their annual reports 
filed on Form 20-F.

GlaxoSmithKline fulfills this requirement by publishing this document. 

GlaxoSmithKline fulfills this requirement by including this disclosure 
in its annual report on Form 20-F.  
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American Depositary Shares  
Fees and charges payable by ADR holders  

The Bank of New York Mellon serves as the depositary (the ‘Depositary’) for GlaxoSmithKline plc’s American Depositary Receipt (‘ADR’) 
programme. Pursuant to the deposit agreement between GSK, the Depositary and owners and holders of ADR (the ‘Deposit Agreement’), 
ADR holders may be required to pay various fees to the Depositary, and the Depositary may refuse to provide any service for which a fee is 
assessed until the applicable fee has been paid. In particular, the Depositary, under the terms of the Deposit Agreement, shall charge a fee of 
$0.05 or less per ADR (or portion thereof) for (i) the issuance, execution and delivery of ADRs or (ii) the withdrawal of shares underlying the 
ADRs. In addition, ADR holders may be required under the Deposit Agreement to pay the Depositary (i) any tax, duty, governmental charge or 
fee or stock transfer or registration fee arising in connection with the foregoing transactions or otherwise, (ii) any expense resulting from the 
conversion of a foreign currency into U.S. dollars and (iii) the expense of certain communications made, at the request of the ADR holder, by 
cable, telex or facsimile. The Depositary may (i) withhold dividends or other distributions or sell any or all of the shares underlying the ADRs in 
order to satisfy any tax or governmental charge and (ii) deduct from any cash distribution any tax payable thereon or the cost of any currency 
conversion.  

Direct and indirect payments by the Depositary  
The Depositary reimburses GSK for certain expenses it incurs in connection with the ADR programme, subject to a ceiling agreed between 
GSK and the Depositary from time to time. The Depositary has also agreed to waive certain standard fees associated with the administration 
of the programme. 

The table below sets forth the amount of such payments received and claimed but not yet received in respect of the year ended 31st 
December 2009 as well as such payments received during 2009 in respect of the year ended 31st December 2008. GSK was also reimbursed 
£35,100 in 2009 for legal fees claimed with respect to 2007.  

GSK Annual Report 2009 

            
 Received in respect  Received in respect  Claimed in respect of 2009
Direct and indirect payments by the Depositary  of 2008  of 2009  but not yet received

    
  

 
  

Reimbursement of NYSE listing fees   –  $387,787   –
Reimbursement of legal fees claimed in US dollars  $162,284   –  $333,735
Reimbursement of legal fees claimed in Sterling  £30,661  £34,173  £9,782
Reimbursement of PCAOB fees   –  $161,700   – 
Reimbursement of Annual Report production costs1   –   £10,000  £290,347
Reimbursement of Investor Relations expenses2 $232,118  $321,108  $108,078
Distribution of annual general meeting materials   –  $409,114   –
Tabulation of voting instructions cards   –  $40,202   –
Reimbursement of other programme-related expenditures  
claimed in US dollars   –   –  $16,050
Reimbursement of other programme-related expenditures  
claimed in Sterling   –   £22,500  £9,780

  

 

 

  

 

  

 

1  Annual report production costs include SEC filing fees.
2  Investor relations expenses include travel expenses, fees of investor relations consultants, expenses involved in arranging investor relations meetings and telephone expenses.
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Item 19 Exhibits 
Exhibit Index  

GSK Annual Report 2009

   
Exhibit No.  Description
 

1.1   Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Registrant as in effect on the date hereof.
 

2.1  

 

Deposit Agreement among the Registrant and The Bank of New York, as Depositary, and the holders from time to time of 
the American Depositary Receipts issued thereunder, including the form of American Depositary Receipt, is incorporated by 
reference to the Registration Statement on Form F-6 (No. 333-148017) filed with the Commission on December 12, 2007.

 

4.1  
 

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Julian Heslop is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.3 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on March 3, 2006.

 

4.2  
 

Service Agreement between SmithKline Beecham Corporation and Moncef Slaoui is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 
to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on February 29, 2008.

 

4.3  
 

UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Andrew Witty is incorporated by reference to 
Exhibit 4.5 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on February 29, 2008.

 

4.4  

 

Amendment to UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Andrew Witty dated June 18, 2008 
is incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to the Registrant’s Annual Report on Form 20-F filed with the Commission on 
March 4, 2009.

 

4.5  
 

Amendment to UK Service Agreement between GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited and Andrew Witty dated February 4, 
2010.

 

8.1  
 

A list of the Registrant’s principal subsidiaries is incorporated by reference to pages 166 to 168 of this Annual Report on 
Form 20-F.

 

12.1   Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 – Andrew Witty.
 

12.2   Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 – Julian Heslop.
 

13.1  
 

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, 
Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code).

 

15.1   Consent of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP.
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This table has been provided as a cross reference from the information included in this Annual Report to the requirements of Form 20-F. 

 

 
GSK Annual Report 2009 

   
   

 

Cross reference to Form 20-F 
 

 

       
Item   Page 
 

1
 
Identity of directors, senior management and 
advisers    n/a 

 

2  Offer statistics and expected timetable   n/a 
 

3  Key information     

A  Selected financial data   186-188 

D  Risk factors   43-47 
 

4  Information on the company     

A  History and development of the company   10,40,145-151 

B  Business overview     

  Products   11-14 

  Economy and market   27-30,48 

  Manufacture and supply   14 

  Marketing and distribution   14,35,154 

  Intellectual property   11 
  Competition   11,14 

  Regulation   26 

  Research and development   15-19 

  Environment, health and safety   24,25 

  Corporate responsibility and community investment   21-23 

C  Organisational structure   166-168 

D  Property, plant and equipment   36 

  Note 6 – Segment information   107-110 

  Note 17 – Property, plant and equipment   118-119 
 

4A  Unresolved staff comments   n/a 
 

5  Operating and financial review and prospects     

A  Operating results     

  2009 and 2008   28-35 

  2008 and 2007   48-53 

B  Liquidity and capital resources   36-42 

C
 
Research and development, patents and licenses, 
etc.   11-19 

D  Trend information   28-35 

E  Off-balance sheet arrangements   n/a 
F  Tabular disclosure of contractual obligations   38 
 

6  Directors, senior management and employees  

A  Directors and senior management   54-57 

B  Compensation     

  Remuneration Report   73-90 

C  Board practices     

  Corporate governance   58-72 

D  Employees   20 

  Note 10 – Employee costs   113 

  Note 28 – Pensions and post-employment benefits  128-136 

  Shareholder information   188 

E  Share ownership     

  Note 42 – Employee share schemes   161-165 

  Share options   75,78-80 

  Incentive plans   86,89 

  Directors’ interests   85 
 

Footnote (i) - see the company’s Form 20-F filing with the Securities 
and Exchange Commission 

       
Item    Page 
 

7  Major shareholders and related party transactions     

A  Major shareholders   62,63,177 

B  Related party transactions     

  Note 35 – Related party transactions   142 
 

8  Financial information     

A  Consolidated statements and other financial information     

  Financial statements  See item 18 

  Dividend policy   3 

  Note 44 – Legal proceedings   169-176 

B  Significant changes     

  Note 40 – Post balance sheet events   151 
 

9  The offer and listing     

A  Offer and listing details     

Share price listing 193,194

C Markets 194
 

10 Additional information
B Memorandum and Articles of Association 198-200

C Material contracts n/a

D Exchange controls 194

E Taxation 196

H Documents on display 194
 

11 Quantitative and qualitative disclosures about market risk 

Treasury policies 40-42

Note 41 – Financial instruments and related disclosures 152-161
 

12 Description of securities other than equity securities 
D  American Depositary Shares  208 
 

13  Defaults, dividend arrearages and delinquencies   n/a 
 

14 Material modifications to the rights of security holders and 
use of proceeds n/a

 

15 Controls and procedures 65-67,72
 

16 [Reserved]
 

16A Audit Committee financial expert 68
 

16B Code of ethics 69
 

16C Principal accountant fees and services   112 

  Note 9 – Operating profit     
 

16D Exemptions from the listing standard for audit committees   n/a 
 

16E
 
Purchases of equity securities by the issuer and affiliated 
purchasers     

  Note 33 – Share capital and share premium account   140 
 

16F Change in registrant’s certifying accountant n/a
 

16G Corporate governance 201-207
 

17 Financial statements n/a
 

18 Financial statements
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm  93

Consolidated income statement 94-95

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 94-95

Consolidated balance sheet 96

Consolidated statement of changes in equity 97

Consolidated cash flow statement 98

Notes to the financial statements 99-176
 

19 Exhibits Footnote (i),209
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Signature  

The registrant hereby certifies that it meets all of the requirements for filing on Form 20-F and that it has duly caused and authorized the 
undersigned to sign this Annual Report on its behalf.  
 
 GlaxoSmithKline plc  

 
 
March 1, 2010 By:  /s/ Julian Heslop   
 Julian Heslop 
 Chief Financial Officer 
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Exhibit 1.1

Company No. 3888792  

MEMORANDUM  

(As altered by Written Resolutions  

passed on 19 May 2000 and 4 July 2000)  

AND  

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

(As adopted by Special Resolution passed on 21 May 2008 and amended by 
Special Resolutions passed on 20 May 2009) 

 
OF  

GlaxoSmithKline plc  
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Company No. 3888792  

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006  

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES  

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS  

GlaxoSmithKline plc  

Passed: 21 May 2008  

At the EIGHTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Wednesday 21st May 2008, the following resolutions were duly 
passed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:-  

13 Disapplication of pre-emption rights (Special resolution)
 

  THAT for the purposes of Article 12 of the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors be and are hereby empowered pursuant to 
section 95 of the 1985 Act to allot equity securities (within the meaning of section 94 of the 1985 Act) for cash pursuant to the authority 
conferred on the Directors by Resolution 12 and/or where such allotment constitutes an allotment of equity securities by virtue of section 94
(3A) of the 1985 Act as if section 89(1) of the 1985 Act did not apply to such allotment, provided that this power shall be limited:

 (a)  to the allotment of equity securities in connection with a rights issue (as defined in Article 12.5 of the Company’s Articles of 
Association) provided that an offer of equity securities pursuant to any such rights issue need not be open to any shareholder holding 
Ordinary Shares as treasury shares; and

 

 (b) to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph (a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of 
£68,525,560;

  and shall expire at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2009 or, if earlier, on 20th November 2009, 
save that the Company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted 
after such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby 
had not expired.

14 Purchase of own shares by the Company (Special resolution)

  THAT the Company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 166 of the 1985 Act to make 
market purchases (within the meaning of section 163 of the 1985 Act) of its own Ordinary Shares of 25p each provided that:
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Victoria Whyte           

Deputy Company Secretary 

 (a)  the maximum number of Ordinary Shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 584,204,484;
 

 (b) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share is 25p;
 

 (c)  the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary Share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to 105% of the average of 
the middle market quotations for the Company’s Ordinary Shares as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for 
the five business days immediately preceding the day on which the Ordinary Share is contracted to be purchased and (ii) the higher of 
the price of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time 
the purchase is carried out; and

 

 (d) the authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next Annual General 
Meeting of the Company to be held in 2009 or, if earlier, on 20th November 2009 (provided that the Company may enter into a 
contract for the purchase of Ordinary Shares before the expiry of this authority which would or might be completed wholly or partly 
after such expiry).

15 Adopt new Articles of Association (Special resolution)

  THAT the Articles of Association produced at the meeting and initialled by the Chairman for the purposes of identification, be adopted as 
the Articles of Association of the Company in substitution for, and to the exclusion of, all existing Articles of Association of the Company.
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Company No. 3888792  

The Companies Acts 1948 to 2006  

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES  

SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS  

GlaxoSmithKline plc  

Passed: 20 May 2009  

At the NINTH ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING of the Company held on Wednesday 20th May 2009, the following resolutions were duly 
passed as SPECIAL RESOLUTIONS:-  

THAT the Directors be and are hereby empowered pursuant to section 95 of the 1985 Act to allot equity securities (within the meaning of 
section 94 of the 1985 Act) for cash pursuant to the authority conferred on the Directors by Resolution 11 and/or where such allotment 
constitutes an allotment of equity securities by virtue of section 94(3A) of the 1985 Act as if section 89(1) of the 1985 Act did not apply to such 
allotment, provided that this power shall be limited:  

12 Disapplication of pre-emption rights (Special resolution)

(a) to the allotment of equity securities in connection with an offer or issue of equity securities (but in the case of the authority granted under 
paragraph (b) of Resolution 11, by way of a rights issue only):

 (i)  to ordinary shareholders in proportion (as nearly as may be practicable) to their existing holdings; and
 

 (ii) to holders of other equity securities, as required by the rights of those securities or as the Board otherwise considers necessary,

  but so that the Directors may make such exclusions or other arrangements as they consider expedient in relation to fractional entitlements, 
legal or practical problems under the laws of, or the requirements of any relevant regulatory body or stock exchange, in any territory, or 
any matter whatsoever; and

(b) in the case of the authority granted under paragraph (a) of Resolution 11, to the allotment (otherwise than pursuant to sub-paragraph 
(a) above) of equity securities up to an aggregate nominal amount of £64,854,519,
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THAT the company be and is hereby generally and unconditionally authorised for the purposes of section 166 of the 1985 Act to make market 
purchases (within the meaning of section 163 of the 1985 Act) of its own Ordinary shares of 25p each provided that:  

THAT a general meeting of the company other than an Annual General Meeting may be called on not less than 14 clear days’ notice.  

Victoria Whyte 

Deputy Company Secretary 

  and shall expire at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of the company to be held in 2010 or, if earlier, on 30th June 2010, save 
that the company may before such expiry make an offer or agreement which would or might require equity securities to be allotted after 
such expiry and the Directors may allot equity securities in pursuance of such an offer or agreement as if the power conferred hereby had 
not expired.

13 Purchase of own shares by the company (Special resolution)

(a)  the maximum number of Ordinary shares hereby authorised to be purchased is 518,836,153;
 

(b) the minimum price which may be paid for each Ordinary share is 25p;
 

(c)  the maximum price which may be paid for each Ordinary share shall be the higher of (i) an amount equal to 105% of the average of the 
middle market quotations for the company’s Ordinary shares as derived from the London Stock Exchange Daily Official List for the five 
business days immediately preceding the day on which the Ordinary share is contracted to be purchased and (ii) the higher of the price of 
the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange Official List at the time the purchase is 
carried out; and

 

(d) the authority conferred by this resolution shall, unless renewed prior to such time, expire at the end of the next Annual General Meeting of 
the company to be held in 2010 or, if earlier, on 30th June 2010 (provided that the company may enter into a contract for the purchase of 
Ordinary shares before the expiry of this authority which would or might be completed wholly or partly after such expiry).

15 Reduced notice of a general meeting other than an annual general meeting
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THE COMPANIES ACT 1985  

COMPANY LIMITED BY SHARES  

Memorandum of Association  

of  

GlaxoSmithKline plc  

(as altered by Written Resolutions passed on 19 May 2000 and 4 July 2000)  
 

1  The Company’s name is “GlaxoSmithKline plc”.(1)
 

2  The Company is to be a public company.
 

3  The registered office of the Company will be situate in England.
 

4  The Company’s objects are:

4.1  To acquire and hold the whole or any part of the share capital of Glaxo Wellcome plc. and of the share capital of SmithKline Beecham 
plc. whether directly or through any subsidiary and generally to carry on business as an investment holding company and for that purpose 
to acquire debenture stock, bonds, notes, options, obligations and securities issued or guaranteed by any company wherever incorporated 
or carrying on business and debentures, debenture stock, bonds, notes, obligations and securities issued or guaranteed by any government, 
sovereign ruler, commissioners, public body or authority, supreme, dependent, municipal, local or otherwise in any part of the world and 
to exercise and enforce all rights and powers conferred by or incidental to the ownership of any such shares, stock, obligations or other 
securities including, without prejudice to the generality of the foregoing all such powers of veto or control as may be conferred or capable 
of exercise whether by virtue of the holding by the Company of some special proportion of the issued or nominal amount thereof or 
otherwise and to provide managerial, financial and other executive, supervisory and consultant services for or in relation to any company 
in which the Company is interested and all or any part of the businesses or operations of any such company upon such terms as may be 
thought fit.

4.2  To carry on business as a general commercial company and to carry on any trade or business or activity of any nature whatsoever which 
may seem to the directors to be capable of being conveniently or advantageously carried on, or to be expedient with a

 

1  The Company was incorporated as Trushelfco (no. 2577) on 6 December 1999.
 

  On 14 January 2000 the Company’s name was changed to Glaxo SmithKline Limited.
 

  On 22 May 2000, the Company was re-registered as a public company with the name Glaxo SmithKline plc.
 

  On 21 June 2000, the Company’s name was changed to GlaxoSmithKline plc.
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  view to directly or indirectly enhancing the value of or to rendering profitable or more profitable any of the Company’s assets or utilising 
or developing its skills, know-how or expertise.

4.3  To subscribe, underwrite, purchase, or otherwise acquire, and to hold, dispose of, and deal with, any shares or other securities or 
investments of any nature whatsoever, and any options or rights in respect thereof or interests therein, and to buy and sell foreign 
exchange.

4.4  To draw, make, accept, endorse, discount, negotiate, execute and issue, and to buy, sell and deal with bills of exchange, promissory notes, 
and other negotiable or transferable instruments or securities.

4.5  To amalgamate or enter into partnership or any joint venture or profit/loss-sharing arrangement or other association with any company, 
firm, person or body.

4.6  To purchase or otherwise acquire and undertake all or any part of the business, property and liabilities of any company, firm, person or 
body carrying on any business which the Company is authorised to carry on or possessed of any property suitable for the purposes of the 
Company.

4.7  To promote, or join in the promotion of, any company, whether or not having objects similar to those of the Company.

4.8  To borrow and raise money and to secure or discharge any debt or obligation of or binding on the Company in such manner as may be 
thought fit and in particular by mortgage and charges upon all or any part of the undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and 
the uncalled capital of the Company, or by the creation and issue of debentures, debenture stock or other securities of any description.

4.9  To advance, lend or deposit money or give credit to or with any company, firm or person on such terms as may be thought fit and with or 
without security.

4.10 To guarantee or give indemnities or provide security, whether by personal covenant or by mortgage or charge upon all or any part of the 
undertaking, property and assets (present and future) and the uncalled capital of the Company, or by all or any such methods, for the 
performance of any contracts or obligations, and the payment of capital or principal (together with any premium) and dividends or 
interest on any shares, debentures or other securities, of any person, firm or company including (without limiting the generality of the 
foregoing) any company which is for the time being a holding company of the Company or another subsidiary of any such holding 
company or is associated with the Company in business.

 

4.11 To issue any securities which the Company has power to issue for any other purpose by way of security or indemnity or in satisfaction of 
any liability undertaken or agreed to be undertaken by the Company.

 

4.12 To procure the registration, recognition or incorporation of the Company in or under the laws of any territory outside England.
 

4.13 To subscribe or guarantee money for any national, charitable, benevolent, public, general or useful object or for any purpose which may 
be considered likely directly or indirectly to further the interests of the Company or of its members.

 

4.14 (i) To establish and maintain or contribute to any pension or superannuation funds for the benefit of, and to give or procure the giving of 
donations, gratuities, pensions,
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  allowances or emoluments to, any individuals who are or were at any time in the employment or service of the Company or of any 
associated company, or who are or were at any time directors or officers of the Company or of any associated company, and the wives, 
widows, families and dependants of any such individuals; to establish and subsidise or subscribe to any institutions, associations, clubs or 
funds which may be considered likely to benefit any such persons or to further the interests of the Company or of any associated 
company; and to make payments for or towards the insurance of any such persons.

 

  (ii) To establish and maintain, and to lend or contribute to, any scheme for encouraging or facilitating the holding of shares or debentures 
or other securities in the Company or any associated company by or for the benefit of its employees or former employees, or those of any 
associated company, or by or for the benefit of such other persons as may for the time being be permitted by law, or any scheme for 
sharing profits with its employees or those of its associated companies, and (so far as for the time being permitted by law) to lend money 
to employees of the Company or of any associated company with a view to enabling them to acquire shares in the Company or any 
associated company.

 

  (iii) (a) To purchase and maintain insurance for or for the benefit of any persons who are or were at any time directors, officers or 
employees or auditors of the Company, or of any associated company, or who are or were at any time trustees of any pension fund in 
which any employees of the Company or of any associated company are interested, including (without prejudice to the generality of the 
foregoing) insurance against any liability incurred by such persons in respect of any act or omission in the actual or purported execution 
and/or discharge of their duties and/or in the exercise or purported exercise of their powers and/or otherwise in relation to the Company 
or associated company or pension fund and (b) to such extent as may be permitted by law otherwise to indemnify or to exempt any such 
person against or from any such liability.

 

  (iv) In this paragraph 4.14:

 (a)  an “associated company” is any company (i) which is the Company’s holding company or (ii) in which the Company or its 
holding company or any of the predecessors of the Company or of such holding company has any interest whether direct or 
indirect or (iii) which is in any way allied to or associated with the Company or its holding company or any of the 
predecessors of the Company or of such holding company, or (iv) which is a subsidiary undertaking of any other associated 
company; and

 

 (b)  “holding company” and “subsidiary undertaking” have the same meanings as in the Companies Act 1985 as amended by 
the Companies Act 1989.

4.15 To distribute among members of the Company in specie or otherwise, by way of dividend or bonus or by way of reduction of capital, all 
or any of the property or assets of the Company, or any proceeds of sale or other disposal of any property or assets of the Company, with 
and subject to any incident authorised and consent required by law.

4.16 To do all or any of the things and matters aforesaid in any part of the world, and either as principals, agents, contractors, trustees or 
otherwise, and by or through trustees, agents, subsidiary companies or otherwise, and either alone or in conjunction with others.
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We, the several persons whose names and addresses are subscribed, are desirous of being formed into a company, in pursuance of the 
Memorandum of Association, and we respectively agree to take the number of shares in the capital of the Company set opposite our respective 
names.  

Dated the 26th day of November 1999  

WITNESS to the above signatures:-  

R.H. Smith 
35 Basinghall Street, 
London EC2V 5DB  

4.17 To do all such other things as may be considered to be incidental or conducive to any of the above objects.
 

  And it is hereby declared that (a) the objects set forth in each sub-clause of this clause shall not be restrictively construed but the widest 
interpretation shall be given thereto, and (b) the word “company” in this clause, except where used in reference to the Company, shall be 
deemed to include any partnership or other body of persons, whether corporate or unincorporated and whether domiciled in the United 
Kingdom or elsewhere, and (c) except where the context expressly so requires, none of the several paragraphs of this clause, or the 
objects therein specified, or the powers thereby conferred shall be limited by, or be deemed merely subsidiary or auxiliary to, any other 
paragraph of this clause, or the objects specified in such paragraph, or the powers thereby conferred but may be carried out in as full and 
ample manner and shall be construed in as wide a sense as if each of the said paragraphs defined in the objects of a separate, distinct and 
independent company.

5  The liability of the members is limited.

6  The Company’s share capital is £100 divided into 100 Shares of £1 each and the company shall have the power to divide the original or 
any increased capital into several classes, and to attach thereto any preferential, deferred, qualified or other special rights, privileges, 
restrictions or conditions.(2), (3), (4)

 
NAMES, ADDRESSES AND DESCRIPTIONS  Number of Shares taken

OF SUBSCRIBERS  by each Subscriber

For and on behalf of   
TRUCIDATOR NOMINEES LIMITED, 
35 Basinghall Street,   
London EC2V 5DB One
  
J.S. HAW 
Director 
 
For and on behalf of  One
TREXCO LIMITED,   
35 Basinghall Street, 
London EC2V 5DB 
 
D.C.J. ROWE 
Authorised Signatory 

 

(2)  By a Written Resolution passed on 19 May 2000 each ordinary share of £1 each in the capital of the Company was sub-divided into four 
ordinary shares of 25 pence each.

 

(3)  By a Written Resolution passed on 19 May 2000 the authorised share capital of the Company was increased to £2,500,000,000 divided 
into 9,999,800,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each and 50,000 redeemable preference shares of £1 each. 

 

(4)  On 31 August 2001 50,000 redeemable preference shares of £1 each were redeemed in accordance with Article 3.2 of the Company’s 
Articles of Association. The nominal amount of such shares was converted into 200,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each, resulting in the 
Company’s authorised share capital of £2,500,000,000 being comprised of 10,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 25 pence each.
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COMPANY NUMBER 3888792  

ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

(adopted by Special Resolution passed on 21 May 2008)  

OF  

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC  
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ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION  

of  

GLAXOSMITHKLINE PLC  

(adopted by Special Resolution passed on 21 May 2008)  

Interpretation  

1.  Exclusion of other Regulations
 

  No regulations set out in any statute, or in any statutory instrument or other subordinate legislation made under any statute, concerning 
companies shall apply as the regulations or articles of the company.

 

2.  Definitions
 

  In these articles unless the context otherwise requires:
 

  “address” includes a number or address used for the purposes of sending or receiving documents or information by electronic means;
 

  “these articles” means these articles of association as altered from time to time and the expression “this article” shall be construed 
accordingly;

 

  “associated company” means any company (i) which is the company’s holding company or (ii) in which the company or its holding 
company or any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding company has any interest whether direct or indirect or (iii) which is 
in any way allied to or associated with the company or its holding company or any of the predecessors of the company or of such holding 
company, of (iv) which is a subsidiary undertaking or any other associated company;

 

  “the auditors” means the auditors from time to time of the company or, in the case of joint auditors, any one of them;
 

  “the Bank of England base rate” means the base lending rate most recently set by the Monetary Policy Committee of the Bank of 
England in connection with its responsibilities under Part 2 of the Bank of England Act 1998;
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  “the board” means the board of directors from time to time of the company or the directors present at a meeting of the directors at which a 
quorum is present;

 

  “certificated share” means a share which is not an uncertificated share and references in these articles to a share being held in certificated 
form shall be construed accordingly;

 

  “clear days” in relation to the period of a notice means that period excluding the day when the notice is served or deemed to be served and 
the day for which it is given or on which it is to take effect;

 

  “the Companies Acts” means every statute (including any orders, regulations or other subordinate legislation made under it) from time to 
time in force concerning companies in so far as it applies to the company;

 

  “the holder” in relation to any shares means the person whose name is entered in the register as the holder of those shares;
 

  “the office” means the registered office from time to time of the company;
 

  “paid up” means paid up or credited as paid up;
 

  “participating class” means a class of shares title to which is permitted by an Operator to be transferred by means of a relevant system;
 

  “person entitled by transmission” means a person whose entitlement to a share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member 
or of any other event giving rise to its transmission by operation of law has been noted in the register;

 

  “the register” means the register of members of the company;
 

  “seal” means any common or official seal that the company may be permitted to have under the Companies Acts;
 

  “the secretary” means the secretary, or (if there are joint secretaries) any one of the joint secretaries, of the company and includes an 
assistant or deputy secretary and any person appointed by the board to perform any of the duties of the secretary;

 

  “the uncertificated securities rules” means any provision of the Companies Acts relating to the holding, evidencing of title to, or transfer 
of uncertificated shares and any legislation, rules or other arrangements made under or by virtue of such provision;

 

  “uncertificated share” means a share of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class, title to which is recorded on the register 
as being held in uncertificated form and references in these articles to a share being held in uncertificated form shall be construed 
accordingly;

 

  “United Kingdom” means Great Britain and Northern Ireland;
 

  references to a document being signed or to signature include references to its being executed under hand or under seal or by any other 
method and, in the case of a



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: 55177
Name: GLAXOSMITHKLINE     

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: EX-1.1, Doc: 2, Page: 19
Description: Exhibit 1.1    

0/2701.01.19.00U08350BOT[E/O]
EDGAR 2 *U08350/7010119/2*

B
O

W
N

E
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 T

Y
PE

SE
T

T
IN

G
 S

Y
ST

E
M

C
R

C
: 5

51
77

N
am

e:
 G

L
A

X
O

SM
IT

H
K

L
IN

E
   

  
D

at
e:

  1
-M

A
R

-2
01

0 
11

:4
4:

50
.9

0
O

pe
ra

to
r:

 B
O

L
00

01
0T

Ph
on

e:
 0

20
-7

55
1-

50
00

Si
te

: B
O

W
N

E
 O

F 
L

O
N

D
O

N

U
08

35
0.

SU
B

, D
oc

N
am

e:
 E

X
-1

.1
, D

oc
: 2

, P
ag

e:
 1

9
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n:
 E

xh
ib

it 
1.

1 
   

0/
2

70
1.

01
.1

9.
00

U
08

35
0

B
O

T
[E

/O
]

E
D

G
A

R
 2

*
U
0
8
3
5
0
/
7
0
1
0
1
1
9
/
2
*

                    

  

Share Capital  

  communication in electronic form, such references are to its being authenticated as specified by the Companies Acts;
 

  references to writing include references to any method of representing or reproducing words in a legible and non-transitory form whether 
sent or supplied in electronic form or otherwise;

 

  words or expressions to which a particular meaning is given by the Companies Acts in force when these articles or any part of these 
articles are adopted bear (if not inconsistent with the subject matter or context) the same meaning in these articles or that part (as the case 
may be) save that the word “company” shall include any body corporate; and

 

  references to a meeting shall not be taken as requiring more than one person to be present if any quorum requirement can be satisfied by 
one person.

 

  Headings are included only for convenience and shall not affect meaning.
 

3.  Limited Liability
 

  The liability of members of the company is limited to the amount, if any, unpaid on the shares in the company held by them.

4.  Authorised Share Capital
 

  The authorised share capital of the company at the date of adoption of this article is £2,500,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 ordinary 
shares of 25p each.

 

5.  Rights Attached to Shares
 

  Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued with or have attached to it such rights and restrictions as the 
company may by ordinary resolution decide or, if no such resolution has been passed or so far as the resolution does not make specific 
provision, as the board may decide.

 

6.  Redeemable Shares
 

  Subject to any rights attached to existing shares, any share may be issued which is to be redeemed, or is liable to be redeemed at the option 
of the company or the holder.

 

7.  Purchase of Own Shares
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and to any rights attached to existing shares, the company may purchase or may enter into 
a contract under which it will or may purchase all or any of its shares of any class, including any redeemable shares. Neither the company 
nor the board shall be required to select the shares to be purchased rateably or in any other particular manner as between the holders of 
shares of the same class or as between them and the holders of shares of any other class or in accordance with the rights as to dividends or 
capital conferred by any class of shares.
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8.  Variation of Rights
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, all or any of the rights attached to any existing class of shares may from time to time 
(whether or not the company is being wound up) be varied either with the consent in writing of the holders of not less than three-fourths in 
nominal value of the issued shares of that class (excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares) or with the sanction of a special 
resolution passed at a separate general meeting of the holders of those shares. All the provisions of these articles as to general meetings of 
the company shall, with any necessary modifications, apply to any such separate general meeting, but so that the necessary quorum shall be 
two persons entitled to vote and holding or representing by proxy not less than one-third in nominal value of the issued shares of the class 
(excluding any shares of that class held as treasury shares), (but so that at any adjourned meeting one holder entitled to vote and present in 
person or by proxy (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum), that every holder of shares of the class present in 
person or by proxy and entitled to vote shall be entitled to one vote for every share of the class held by him (subject to any rights or 
restrictions attached to any class of shares). The foregoing provisions of this article shall apply to the variation of the special rights 
attached to some only of the shares of any class as if each group of shares of the class differently treated formed a separate class and their 
special rights were to be varied.

 

9.  Pari Passu Issues
 

  The rights conferred upon the holders of any shares shall not, unless otherwise expressly provided in the rights attaching to those shares, be 
deemed to be varied by the creation or issue of further shares ranking pari passu with them.

 

10. Unissued Shares
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts and these articles and to any resolution passed by the company and without prejudice to 
any rights attached to existing shares, the unissued shares of the company (whether forming part of the original or any increased capital) 
shall be at the disposal of the board which may offer, allot, grant options over or otherwise deal with or dispose of them to such persons, at 
such times and for such consideration and upon such terms as the board may decide.

 

11. Payment of Commission
 

  The company may in connection with the issue of any shares or the sale for cash of treasury shares exercise all powers of paying 
commission and brokerage conferred or permitted by the Companies Acts. Any such commission or brokerage may be satisfied by the 
payment of cash or by the allotment of fully or partly-paid shares or other securities or partly in one way and partly in the other.

 

12. Trusts Not Recognised
 

  Except as ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or as required by law, no person shall be recognised by the company as holding any 
share upon any trust and the company shall not be bound by or required in any way to recognise (even when having notice of it)
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  any interest in any share or (except only as by these articles or by law otherwise provided) any other right in respect of any share other than 
an absolute right to the whole of the share in the holder.

13. Suspension of Rights Where Non-Disclosure of Interest

 (A) Where the holder of any shares in the company, or any other person appearing to be interested in those shares, fails to comply within 
the relevant period with any statutory notice in respect of those shares or, in purported compliance with such a notice, has made a 
statement which is false or inadequate in a material particular, the company may give the holder of those shares a further notice (a 
“restriction notice”) to the effect that from the service of the restriction notice those shares will be subject to some or all of the 
relevant restrictions, and from service of the restriction notice those shares shall, notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, 
be subject to those relevant restrictions accordingly. For the purpose of enforcing the relevant restriction referred to in sub-paragraph 
(iii) of the definition of “relevant restrictions”, the board may give notice to the relevant member requiring the member to change the 
relevant shares held in uncertificated form to certificated form by the time stated in the notice and to keep them in certificated form for 
as long as the board requires. The notice may also state that the member may not change any of the relevant shares held in certificated 
form to uncertificated form. If the member does not comply with the notice, the board may authorise any person to instruct the 
Operator to change the relevant shares held in uncertificated form to certificated form.

 

 (B) If after the service of a restriction notice in respect of any shares the board is satisfied that all information required by any statutory 
notice relating to those shares or any of them from their holder or any other person appearing to be interested in the             shares the 
subject of the restriction notice has been supplied, the company shall, within seven days, cancel the restriction notice. The company 
may at any time at its discretion cancel any restriction notice or exclude any shares from it. The company shall cancel a restriction 
notice within seven days after receipt of a notice in writing that the relevant shares have been transferred pursuant to an arm’s length 
sale.

 

 (C) Where any restriction notice is cancelled or ceases to have effect in relation to any shares, any moneys relating to those shares which 
were withheld by reason of that notice shall be paid without interest to the person who would but for the notice have been entitled to 
them or as he may direct.

 

 (D) Any new shares in the company issued in right of any shares subject to a restriction notice shall also be subject to the restriction 
notice, and the board may make any right to an allotment of the new shares subject to restrictions corresponding to those which will 
apply to those shares by reason of the restriction notice when such shares are issued.

 

 (E)  Any holder of shares on whom a restriction notice has been served may at any time request the company to give in writing the reason 
why the restriction notice has been served, or why it remains uncancelled, and within 14 days of receipt of such a notice the company 
shall give that information accordingly.
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 (F)  Where a person appearing to be interested in shares has been served with a statutory notice and the shares in which he appears to be 
interested are held by an Approved Depositary, this article applies only to those shares which are held by the Approved Depositary in 
which that person appears to be interested and not (so far as that person’s apparent interest is concerned) to any other shares held by 
the Approved Depositary.

 

 (G) Where a member who is an Approved Depositary has been served with a statutory notice, the obligations of that member will be 
limited to disclosing to the company information relating to any person who appears to be interested in the shares held by it which has 
been recorded by it in accordance with the arrangement under which it was appointed as an Approved Depositary.

 

 (H) If a statutory notice is given by the company to a person appearing to be interested in any share, a copy shall at the same time be given 
to the holder, but the failure or omission to do so or the non-receipt of the copy by the holder shall not invalidate such notice.

 

 (I)  This article is in addition to, and shall not in any way prejudice or affect, the statutory rights of the company arising from any failure 
by any person to give any information required by a statutory notice within the time specified in it. For the purpose of this article a 
statutory notice need not specify the relevant period, and may require any information to be given before the expiry of the relevant 
period.

 

 (J)  In this article:
 

   a sale is an “arm’s length sale” if the board is satisfied that it is a bona fide sale of the whole of the beneficial ownership of the shares 
to a party unconnected with the holder or with any person appearing to be interested in such shares and shall include a sale made by 
way of or in pursuance of acceptance of a takeover offer and a sale made through a recognised investment exchange or any other stock 
exchange outside the United Kingdom. For this purpose an associate (within the definition of that expression in any statute relating to 
insolvency in force at the date of adoption of this article) shall be included amongst the persons who are connected with the holder or 
any person appearing to be interested in such shares;

 

   “person appearing to be interested” in any shares shall mean any person named in a response to a statutory notice or otherwise 
notified to the company by a member as being so interested or shown in any register or record kept by the company under the 
Companies Acts as so interested or, taking into account a response or failure to respond in the light of the response to any other 
statutory notice and any other relevant information in the possession of the company, any person whom the company knows or has 
reasonable cause to believe is or may be so interested;

 

   “person with a 0.25 per cent. interest” means a person who holds, or is shown in any register or record kept by the company under 
the Companies Acts as having an interest in, shares in the company which comprise in total at least 0.25 per cent. in number or 
nominal value of the shares of the company (calculated exclusive of any shares held as treasury shares), or of any class of such shares 
(calculated
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   exclusive of any shares of that class held as treasury shares), in issue at the date of service of the restriction notice;
 

   “relevant period” means a period of 14 days following service of a statutory notice;
 

   “relevant restrictions” mean in the case of a restriction notice served on a person with a 0.25 per cent. interest that:

 (i)  the shares shall not confer on the holder any right to attend or vote either personally or by proxy at any general meeting of the 
company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company or to exercise any other right 
conferred by membership in relation to general meetings;

 

 (ii)  the board may withhold payment of all or any part of any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of the shares and the 
holder shall not be entitled to receive shares in lieu of dividend;

 

 (iii) the board may decline to register a transfer of any of the shares which are certificated shares, unless such a transfer is pursuant to 
an arm’s length sale,

   and in any other case mean only the restriction specified in sub-paragraph (i) of this definition; and
 

   “statutory notice” means a notice served by the company under the Companies Acts requiring particulars of interests in shares or of 
the identity of persons interested in shares.

14. Uncertificated Shares

 (A) Pursuant and subject to the uncertificated securities rules, the board may permit title to shares of any class to be evidenced otherwise 
than by a certificate and title to shares of such a class to be transferred by means of a relevant system and may make arrangements for 
a class of shares (if all shares of that class are in all respects identical) to become a participating class. Title to shares of a particular 
class may only be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate where that class of shares is at the relevant time a participating class. The 
board may also, subject to compliance with the uncertificated securities rules, determine at any time that title to any class of shares 
may from a date specified by the board no longer be evidenced otherwise than by a certificate or that title to such a class shall cease to 
be transferred by means of any particular relevant system.

 

 (B) In relation to a class of shares which is a participating class and for so long as it remains a participating class, no provision of these 
articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is inconsistent in any respect with:

 (i)  the holding of shares of that class in uncertificated form;
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 (ii)  the transfer of title to shares of that class by means of a relevant system; and
 

 (iii) any provision of the uncertificated securities rules,

  and, without prejudice to the generality of this article, no provision of these articles shall apply or have effect to the extent that it is in 
any respect inconsistent with the maintenance, keeping or entering up by the Operator, so long as that is permitted or required by the 
uncertificated securities rules, of an Operator register of securities in respect of that class of shares in uncertificated form.

 (C) Shares of a class which is at the relevant time a participating class may be changed from uncertificated to certificated form, and from 
certificated to uncertificated form, in accordance with and subject as provided in the uncertificated securities rules.

 

 (D) If, under these articles or the Companies Acts, the company is entitled to sell, transfer or otherwise dispose of, forfeit, re-allot, accept 
the surrender of or otherwise enforce a lien over an uncertificated share, then, subject to these articles and the Companies Acts, such 
entitlement shall include the right of the board to:

 (i)  require the holder of that uncertificated share by notice in writing to change that share from uncertificated to certificated form 
within such period as may be specified in the notice and keep it as a certificated share for as long as the board requires;

 

 (ii)  appoint any person to take such other steps, by instruction given by means of a relevant system or otherwise, in the name of the 
holder of such share as may be required to effect the transfer of such share and such steps shall be as effective as they had been 
taken by the registered holder of that share; and

 

 (iii) take such other action that the board considers appropriate to achieve the sale, transfer, disposal, forfeiture, re-allotment or 
surrender of that share or otherwise to enforce a lien in respect of that share.

 (E)  Unless the board otherwise determines, shares which a member holds in uncertificated form shall be treated as separate holdings from 
any shares which that member holds in certificated form. However shares held in uncertificated form shall not be treated as forming a 
class which is separate from certificated shares with the same rights.

 

 (F)  Unless the board otherwise determines or the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, any shares issued or created out of or in 
respect of any uncertificated shares shall be uncertificated shares and any shares issued or created out of or in respect of any 
certificated shares shall be certificated shares.

 

 (G) The company shall be entitled to assume that the entries on any record of securities maintained by it in accordance with the 
uncertificated securities rules and regularly reconciled with the relevant Operator register of securities are a complete and accurate 
reproduction of the particulars entered in the Operator register of
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   securities and shall accordingly not be liable in respect of any act or thing done or omitted to be done by or on behalf of the company 
in reliance on such assumption; in particular, any provision of these articles which requires or envisages that action will be taken in 
reliance on information contained in the register shall be construed to permit that action to be taken in reliance on information 
contained in any relevant record of securities (as so maintained and reconciled).

15. Right to Share Certificates
 

  Every person (except a person to whom the company is not by law required to issue a certificate) whose name is entered in the register as 
a holder of any certificated shares shall be entitled, without payment, to receive within the time limits prescribed by the Companies Acts 
(or, if earlier, within any prescribed time limit or within a time specified when the shares were issued) one certificate for all those shares of 
any one class. In the case of a certificated share held jointly by several persons, the company shall not be bound to issue more than one 
certificate and delivery of a certificate to one of several joint holders shall be sufficient delivery to all. A member who transfers some but 
not all of the shares comprised in a certificate shall be entitled to a certificate for the balance without charge to the extent the balance is to 
be held in certificated form.

 

16. Replacement of Share Certificates
 

  If a share certificate is defaced, worn out, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced on such terms (if any) as to evidence and indemnity as the 
board may decide and, where it is defaced or worn out, after delivery of the old certificate to the company. Any two or more certificates 
representing shares of any one class held by any member shall at his request be cancelled and a single new certificate for such shares 
issued in lieu. Any certificate representing shares of any one class held by any member may at his request be cancelled and two or more 
certificates for such shares may be issued instead. The board may require the payment of any exceptional out-of-pocket expenses of the 
company incurred in connection with the issue of any certificates under this article. Any one of two or more joint holders may request 
replacement certificates under this article.

 

17. Share Certificates Sent at Holder’s Risk
 

  Every share certificate sent in accordance with these articles will be sent at the risk of the member or other person entitled to the 
certificate. The company will not be responsible for any share certificate lost or delayed in the course of delivery.

 

18. Execution of Share Certificates
 

  Every share certificate shall be executed under a seal or in such other manner as the board, having regard to the terms of issue and any 
listing requirements, may authorise and shall specify the number and class of the shares to which it relates and the amount or respective 
amounts paid up on the shares. The board may by resolution decide, either generally or in any particular case or cases, that any signatures 
on any share certificates need not be autographic but may be applied to the certificates by some mechanical or other means or may be 
printed on them or that the certificates need not be signed by any person.
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Lien  

Calls on Shares  

19. Company’s Lien on Shares Not Fully Paid
 

  The company shall have a first and paramount lien on every share (not being a fully paid share) for all amounts payable to the company 
(whether presently or not) in respect of that share. The company’s lien on a share shall extend to every amount payable in respect of it. 
The board may at any time either generally or in any particular case waive any lien that has arisen or declare any share to be wholly or in 
part exempt from the provisions of this article.

 

20. Enforcing Lien by Sale
 

  The company may sell, in such manner as the board may decide, any share on which the company has a lien if a sum in respect of which 
the lien exists is presently payable and is not paid within 14 clear days after a notice has been served on the holder of the share or the 
person who is entitled by transmission to the share, demanding payment and stating that if the notice is not complied with the share may 
be sold. For giving effect to the sale the board may authorise some person to sign an instrument of transfer of the share sold to or in 
accordance with the directions of the purchaser. The transferee shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase money, nor 
shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in relation to the sale.

 

21. Application of Proceeds of Sale
 

  The net proceeds, after payment of the costs, of the sale by the company of any share on which it has a lien shall be applied in or towards 
payment or discharge of the debt or liability in respect of which the lien exists so far as it is presently payable, and any residue shall 
(subject to a like lien for debts or liabilities not presently payable as existed upon the share prior to the sale and upon surrender, if required 
by the company, for cancellation of the certificate for the share sold) be paid to the person who was entitled to the share at the time of the 
sale.

22. Calls
 

  Subject to the terms of issue, the board may from time to time make calls upon the members in respect of any moneys unpaid on their 
shares (whether on account of the nominal amount of the shares or by way of premium) and not payable on a date fixed by or in 
accordance with the terms of issue, and each member shall (subject to the company serving upon him at least 14 clear days’ notice 
specifying when and where payment is to be made) pay to the company as required by the notice the amount called on his shares. A call 
may be made payable by instalments. A call may be revoked or postponed, in whole or in part, as the board may decide. A person upon 
whom a call is made shall remain liable jointly and severally with the successors in title to his shares for all calls made upon him 
notwithstanding the subsequent transfer of the shares in respect of which the call was made.
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Forfeiture of Shares  

23. Timing of Calls
 

  A call shall be deemed to have been made at the time when the resolution of the board authorising the call was passed.
 

24. Liability of Joint Holders
 

  The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect of the share.

25. Interest Due on Non-Payment
 

  If a call remains unpaid after it has become due and payable, the person from whom it is due and payable shall pay interest on the amount 
unpaid from the day it is due and payable to the time of actual payment at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more 
than five percentage points) as the board may decide, and all expenses that have been incurred by the company by reason of such non-
payment, but the board shall be at liberty in any case or cases to waive payment of the interest or expenses wholly or in part.

 

26. Sums Due on Allotment Treated as Calls
 

  Any amount which becomes payable in respect of a share on allotment or on any other date fixed by or in accordance with the terms of 
issue, whether in respect of the nominal amount of the share or by way of premium or as an instalment of a call, shall be deemed to be a 
call and, if it is not paid, all the provisions of these articles shall apply as if the sum had become due and payable by virtue of a call.

 

27. Power to Differentiate
 

  The board may on or before the issue of shares differentiate between the allottees or holders as to the amount of calls to be paid and the 
times of payment.

 

28. Payment of Calls in Advance
 

  The board may, if it thinks fit, receive from any member who is willing to advance them all or any part of the moneys uncalled and unpaid 
upon any shares held by him and on all or any of the moneys so advanced may (until they would, but for the advance, become presently 
payable) pay interest at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of England base rate by more than five percentage points, unless the company 
by ordinary resolution shall otherwise direct) as the board may decide.

29. Notice if Call or Instalment Not Paid
 

  If any call or instalment of a call remains unpaid on any share after the day appointed for payment, the board may at any time serve a 
notice on the holder requiring payment of so much of the call or instalment as is unpaid, together with any interest which may have 
accrued and any expenses incurred by the company by reason of such non-payment.
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30. Form of Notice
 

  The notice shall name a further day (not being less than 14 clear days from the date of the notice) on or before which, and the place where, 
the payment required by the notice is to be made and shall state that in the event of non-payment on or before the day and at the place 
appointed, the shares in respect of which the call has been made or instalment is payable will be liable to be forfeited.

 

31. Forfeiture for Non-Compliance with Notice
 

  If the notice is not complied with, any share in respect of which it was given may, at any time before payment of all calls or instalments 
and interest and expenses due in respect of it have been made, be forfeited by a resolution of the board to that effect and the forfeiture shall 
include all dividends declared and other moneys payable in respect of the forfeited shares and not paid before the forfeiture. The board 
may accept the surrender of any share liable to be forfeited and, in that event, references in these articles to forfeiture shall include 
surrender.

 

32. Notice after Forfeiture
 

  When any share has been forfeited, notice of the forfeiture shall be served upon the person who was before forfeiture the holder of the 
share but no forfeiture shall be invalidated by any omission or neglect to give notice.

 

33. Sale of Forfeited Shares
 

  Until cancelled in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Acts, a forfeited share shall be deemed to be the property of the 
company and may be sold or otherwise disposed of either to the person who was, before forfeiture, the holder or to any other person upon 
such terms and in such manner as the board shall decide. The board may for the purposes of the disposal authorise some person to sign an 
instrument of transfer to the designated transferee. The company may receive the consideration (if any) given for the share on its disposal. 
At any time before a sale or disposition the forfeiture may be cancelled by the board on such terms as the board may decide.

 

34. Arrears to be Paid Notwithstanding Forfeiture
 

  A person whose shares have been forfeited shall cease to be a member in respect of them and shall surrender to the company for 
cancellation the certificate for the forfeited shares but shall remain liable to pay to the company all moneys which at the date of the 
forfeiture were payable by him to the company in respect of those shares with interest thereon at such rate (not exceeding the Bank of 
England base rate by more than five percentage points) as the board may decide from the date of forfeiture until payment, and the 
company may enforce payment without being under any obligation to make any allowance for the value of the shares forfeited or for any 
consideration received on their disposal.

 

35. Statutory Declaration as to Forfeiture
 

  A statutory declaration that the declarant is a director of the company or the secretary and that a share has been forfeited on a specified 
date shall be conclusive evidence of the
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Transfer of Shares  

  facts stated in it as against all persons claiming to be entitled to the share. The declaration shall (subject to the signing of an instrument of 
transfer if necessary) constitute a good title to the share and the person to whom the share is sold or otherwise disposed of shall not be 
bound to see to the application of the purchase money (if any) nor shall his title to the share be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in 
the proceedings relating to the forfeiture, sale or disposal.

36. Transfer

 (A) Subject to such of the restrictions of these articles as may be applicable:

 (i)  any member may transfer all or any of his uncertificated shares by means of a relevant system in such manner provided for, and 
subject as provided in, the uncertificated securities rules, and accordingly no provision of these articles shall apply in respect of an 
uncertificated share to the extent that it requires or contemplates the effecting of a transfer by an instrument in writing or the 
production of a certificate for the share to be transferred; and

 

 (ii) any member may transfer all or any of his certificated shares by an instrument of transfer in any usual form or in any other form 
which the board may approve.

 (B) The transferor of a share shall be deemed to remain the holder of the share concerned until the name of the transferee is entered in the 
register in respect of it.

37. Signing of Transfer
 

  The instrument of transfer of a certificated share shall be signed by or on behalf of the transferor and (in the case of a partly paid share) the 
transferee. All instruments of transfer, when registered, may be retained by the company.

 

38. Rights to Decline Registration of Partly Paid Shares
 

  The board can decline to register any transfer of any share which is not a fully paid share.
 

39. Other Rights to Decline Registration

 (A) Registration of a transfer of an uncertificated share may be refused in the circumstances set out in the uncertificated securities rules, 
and where, in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the uncertificated share is to be transferred 
exceeds four.

 

 (B) The board may decline to register any transfer of a certificated share unless:

 (i)  the instrument of transfer is duly stamped or duly certified or otherwise shown to the satisfaction of the board to be exempt from 
stamp duty and is left at the office or such other place as the board may from time to time determine accompanied (save in the case 
of a transfer by a person to whom
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   the company is not required by law to issue a certificate and to whom a certificate has not been issued) by the certificate for the 
share to which it relates and such other evidence as the board may reasonably require to show the right of the person signing the 
instrument of transfer to make the transfer and, if the instrument of transfer is signed by some other person on his behalf, the 
authority of that person so to do;

 

 (ii)  the instrument of transfer is in respect of only one class of share; and
 

 (iii) in the case of a transfer to joint holders, the number of joint holders to whom the share is to be transferred does not exceed four.

 (C) For all purposes of these articles relating to the registration of transfers of shares, the renunciation of the allotment of any shares by the 
allottee in favour of some other person shall be deemed to be a transfer and the board shall have the same powers of refusing to give 
effect to such a renunciation as if it were a transfer.

40. No Fee for Registration
 

  No fee shall be charged by the company for registering any transfer, document or instruction relating to or affecting the title to any share 
or for making any other entry in the register.

 

41. Untraced Shareholders

 (A) The company may sell any certificated shares in the company on behalf of the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the 
shares at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale if:

 (i)  the shares have been in issue either in certificated or uncertificated form throughout the qualifying period and at least three cash 
dividends have become payable on the shares during the qualifying period;

 

 (ii)  no cash dividend payable on the shares has either been claimed by presentation to the paying bank of the relevant cheque or 
warrant or been satisfied by the transfer of funds to a bank account designated by the holder of, or person entitled by transmission 
to, the shares or by the transfer of funds by means of a relevant system at any time during the relevant period;

 

 (iii) so far as any director of the company at the end of the relevant period is then aware, the company has not at any time during the 
relevant period received any communication from the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the shares; and

 

 (iv) the company has caused two advertisements to be published, one in a newspaper with a national circulation and the other in a 
newspaper circulating in the area in which the last known postal address of the holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the 
shares or the postal address at which service of notices may be effected under these articles is located, giving notice of its 
intention to sell the shares and a period of three months
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Transmission of Shares  

   has elapsed from the date of publication of the advertisements or of the last of the two advertisements to be published if they are 
published on different dates.

 (B) The company shall also be entitled to sell at the best price reasonably obtainable at the time of sale any additional certificated shares in 
the company issued either in certificated or uncertificated form during the qualifying period in right of any share to which paragraph 
(A) of this article applies (or in right of any share so issued), if the criteria in paragraph (A)(ii) to (iv) are satisfied in relation to the 
additional shares.

 

 (C) To give effect to any sale of shares pursuant to this article the board may authorise some person to transfer the shares in question and 
an instrument of transfer signed by that person shall be as effective as if it had been signed by the holder of, or person entitled by 
transmission to, the shares. The purchaser shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase moneys nor shall his title to the 
shares be affected by any irregularity or invalidity in the proceedings relating to the sale. The net proceeds of sale shall belong to the 
company and, upon their receipt, the company shall become indebted to the former holder of, or person entitled by transmission to, the 
shares for an amount equal to the net proceeds. No trust shall be created in respect of the debt and no interest shall be payable in 
respect of it and the company shall not be required to account for any moneys earned from the net proceeds which may be employed in 
the business of the company or as it thinks fit.

 

 (D) For the purpose of this article:
 

   “the qualifying period” means the period of 10 years immediately preceding the date of publication of the advertisements referred to 
in paragraph (A)(iv) above or of the first of the two advertisements to be published if they are published on different dates; and

 

   “the relevant period” means the period beginning at the commencement of the qualifying period and ending on the date when all the 
requirements of paragraphs (A)(i) to (iv) above have been satisfied.

42. Transmission on Death
 

  If a member dies, the survivor or survivors, where he was a joint holder, and his personal representatives, where he was a sole holder or 
the only survivor of joint holders, shall be the only persons recognised by the company as having any title to his shares; but nothing 
contained in these articles shall release the estate of a deceased holder from any liability in respect of any share held by him solely or 
jointly with other persons.

 

43. Entry of Transmission in Register
 

  Where the entitlement of a person to a certificated share in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of a member or of any other event 
giving rise to its transmission by operation
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Alteration of Share Capital  

  of law is proved to the satisfaction of the board, the board shall within two months after proof cause the entitlement of that person to be 
noted in the register.

44. Election of Person Entitled by Transmission
 

  Any person entitled by transmission to a share may, subject as provided elsewhere in these articles, elect either to become the holder of the 
share or to have some person nominated by him registered as the holder. If he elects to be registered himself he shall give notice to the 
company to that effect. If he elects to have another person registered and the share is a certificated share, he shall sign an instrument of 
transfer of the share to that person. If he elects to have himself or another person registered and the share is an uncertificated share, he 
shall take any action the board may require (including, without limitation, the signing of any document and the giving of any instruction 
by means of a relevant system) to enable himself or that person to be registered as the holder of the share. The board may at any time 
require the person to elect either to be registered himself or to transfer the share and if the requirements are not complied with within 
60 days of being issued the board may withhold payment of all dividends and other moneys payable in respect of the share until the 
requirements have been complied with. All the provisions of these articles relating to the transfer of, and registration of transfers of, shares 
shall apply to the notice or transfer as if the death or bankruptcy of the member or other event giving rise to the transmission had not 
occurred and the notice or transfer was given or signed by the member.

 

45. Rights of Person Entitled by Transmission
 

  Where a person becomes entitled by transmission to a share, the rights of the holder in relation to that share shall cease, but the person 
entitled by transmission to the share may give a good discharge for any dividends or other moneys payable in respect of it and shall have 
the same rights in relation to the share as he would have had if he were the holder of it save that, until he becomes the holder, he shall not 
be entitled in respect of the share (except with the authority of the board) to receive notice of, or to attend or vote at, any general meeting 
of the company or at any separate general meeting of the holders of any class of shares in the company or to exercise any other right 
conferred by membership in relation to general meetings.

46. Increase, Consolidation, Sub-Division and Cancellation
 

  The company may from time to time by ordinary resolution:

 (i)  increase its share capital by such sum to be divided into shares of such amount as the resolution shall prescribe;
 

 (ii)  consolidate, or consolidate and then sub-divide, all or any of its share capital into shares of larger amount than its existing shares;
 

 (iii) subject to the Companies Acts, sub-divide its shares or any of them into shares of smaller amount and the resolution may determine 
that, as between the shares
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Notice of General Meetings  

   resulting from the sub-division, any of them may have any preference or advantage or be subject to any restriction as compared with 
the others; and

 

 (iv) cancel any shares which, at the date of the passing of the resolution, have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person and 
diminish the amount of its share capital by the amount of the shares so cancelled.

47. Fractions
 

  Whenever as a result of a consolidation, consolidation and sub-division or sub-division of shares any holders would become entitled to 
fractions of a share, the board may deal with the fractions as it thinks fit including by ignoring fractions altogether or by aggregating and 
selling them or by dealing with them in some other way. For the purposes of effecting any such sale, the board may arrange for the shares 
representing the fractions to be entered in the register as certificated shares. The board may sell shares representing fractions to any 
person, including the company and may authorise some person to transfer or deliver the shares to, or in accordance with the directions of, 
the purchaser. The person to whom any shares are transferred or delivered shall not be bound to see to the application of the purchase 
money nor shall his title to the shares be affected by any irregularity in, or invalidity of, the proceedings relating to the sale.

 

48. Reduction of Capital
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the company may by special resolution reduce its share capital, any capital redemption 
reserve, any share premium account or any other undistributable reserve in any way.

49. Omission or Non-Receipt of Notice

 (A) The accidental omission to give any notice of a meeting or the accidental omission to send or supply any document or other 
information relating to any meeting to, or the non-receipt (even if the company becomes aware of such non-receipt) of any such notice, 
document or other information by, any person entitled to receive the notice, document or other information shall not invalidate the 
proceedings at that meeting.

 

 (B) A member present in person or by proxy at a meeting shall be deemed to have received proper notice of that meeting and, where 
applicable, of the purpose of that meeting.

50. Postponement of General Meetings
 

  If the board, in its absolute discretion, considers that it is impractical or undesirable for any reason to hold a general meeting on the date or 
at the time or place specified in the notice calling the general meeting, it may postpone or move the general meeting to another date, time 
and/or place. The board shall take reasonable steps to ensure that notice of the date, time and place of the rearranged meeting is given to 
any member trying to attend the meeting at the original time and place. Notice of the date, time and place of the
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Proceedings at General Meetings  

  rearranged meeting shall, if practicable, also be placed in: (i) at least two national newspapers in the United Kingdom, and (ii) The Wall 
Street Journal and/or such other newspaper published in the United States as the directors consider to be appropriate. Notice of the 
business to be transacted at such rearranged meeting shall not be required. If a meeting is rearranged in this way, the appointment of a 
proxy will be valid if it is received as required by these articles not less than 48 hours before the time appointed for holding the 
rearranged meeting. The board may also postpone or move the rearranged meeting under this article.

51. Resolutions of members at Annual General Meetings

 (A) If, on or before, 31st January in any year any members shall, in accordance with the Companies Acts, require the company, in relation 
to the Annual General Meeting to be held in that year, to give notice of a resolution which may properly be moved or require the 
company to circulate a statement in acceptable form, the company shall circulate that resolution or statement with the notice of the 
Annual General Meeting without cost to the requisitionists.

 

 (B) If any such requisition is made in accordance with the Companies Acts after 31st January in any year and prior to the Annual General 
Meeting to be held in that year, the company shall require that the requisitionists deposit or tender a sum sufficient to meet the 
Company’s reasonable expenses in complying with such requisition in accordance with the Companies Acts.

52. Quorum

 (A) No business shall be transacted at any general meeting unless a quorum is present when the meeting proceeds to business, but the 
absence of a quorum shall not preclude the choice or appointment of a chairman of the meeting which shall not be treated as part of the 
business of the meeting. Save as otherwise provided by these articles, two members present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote 
shall be a quorum for all purposes. A shareholder which is a company is to be considered present if it is represented by a duly 
authorised representative.

 

 (B) If the directors so determine, any or all members (or their proxies) may participate in a general meeting by means of a conference 
telephone, video teleconference equipment or any communication equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to 
speak to and hear each other. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and shall be entitled to 
vote or be counted in a quorum accordingly. A meeting which takes place by conference telephone, video teleconference or other such 
communication equipment will be treated as taking place at the place where the chairman is.

53. Procedure if Quorum Not Present
 

  If within five minutes (or such longer time not exceeding one hour as the chairman of the meeting may decide to wait) after the time 
appointed for the commencement of the meeting a quorum is not present, or if during the meeting a quorum ceases to be present,
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  the meeting, if convened by or upon the requisition of members, shall be dissolved. In any other case it shall stand adjourned to such 
other day (being not less than three nor more than 28 days later) and at such other time or place as may have been specified for the 
purpose in the notice convening the meeting. Where no such arrangements have been so specified, the meeting shall stand adjourned to 
such other day (being not less than ten nor more than 28 days later) and at such other time or place as the chairman of the meeting may 
decide and, in this case, the company shall give not less than seven clear days’ notice in writing of the adjourned meeting. At any 
adjourned meeting one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever the number of shares held by him) shall be a 
quorum and any notice of an adjourned meeting shall state that one member present in person or by proxy and entitled to vote (whatever 
the number of shares held by him) shall be a quorum.

54. Security Arrangements

 (A) The directors or the secretary may take any action and may put in place any arrangements both before and during any meeting that 
they/he consider appropriate for:

 (i)  the safety of people attending a meeting;
 

 (ii)  proper and orderly conduct of a meeting; or
 

 (iii) the meeting to reflect the wishes of the majority.

 (B) This includes the power to refuse entry to, or eject from meetings, any person who fails to comply with any arrangements made or any 
person who in the opinion of the directors or the secretary is acting in a manner that threatens the safety of people attending the 
meeting and/or the proper and orderly conduct at a meeting.

 

 (C) The board may direct that persons wishing to attend any general meeting should submit to such searches or other security 
arrangements or restrictions (including, without limitation, a requirement that such persons refrain from taking electronic equipment 
into a general meeting) as the board shall consider appropriate in the circumstances and the board shall be entitled in its absolute 
discretion to, or to authorise some one or more persons who shall include a director or the secretary or the chairman of the meeting to, 
refuse entry to, or to eject from, such general meeting any person who fails to submit to such searches or otherwise to comply with 
such security arrangements or restrictions.

55. Confidential Information
 

  No shareholder at any general meeting is entitled to require disclosure of or any information about any detail of the company’s trading, or 
any matter that is or may be in the nature of a trade secret, commercial secret or secret process, or that may relate to the conduct of the 
business of the company, if the directors decide it would be inexpedient in the interests of the company to make that information public.
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56. Chairman of General Meeting
 

  The chairman (if any) of the board or, in his absence, the deputy chairman (if any) shall preside as chairman at every general meeting. If 
more than one deputy chairman is present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree, the deputy 
chairman who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. If there is no chairman or deputy chairman, or if at any meeting 
neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time appointed for the commencement of the 
meeting, or if neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is willing to act as chairman, the directors present shall choose one of their 
number to act, or if one director only is present he shall preside as chairman of the meeting if willing to act. If no director is present, or if 
each of the directors present declines to take the chair, the persons present and entitled to vote shall appoint one of their number to be 
chairman of the meeting. Nothing in these articles shall restrict or exclude any of the powers or rights of a chairman of a meeting which 
are given by law.

 

57. Orderly Conduct

 (A) The chairman of the meeting shall take such action or give directions for such action to be taken as he thinks fit to promote the orderly 
conduct of the business of the meeting. The chairman’s decision on points of order, matters of procedure or arising incidentally from 
the business of the meeting shall be final as shall be his determination as to whether any point or matter is of such a nature.

 

 (B) The directors may arrange for any people who they consider cannot be seated in the main meeting room, where the chairman will be, 
to attend and take part in a general meeting in an overflow room or rooms. Any overflow room will have a live video link from the 
main room, and a two-way sound link. The notice of the meeting does not have to give details of any arrangements under this Article. 
The directors may decide how to divide people between the main room and any overflow room. If any overflow room is used, the 
meeting will be treated as being held, and taking place, in the main room.

58. Entitlement to Attend and Speak
 

  Each director shall be entitled to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company. The chairman of the meeting may invite any 
person to attend and speak at any general meeting of the company where he considers that this will assist in the deliberations of the 
meeting.

 

59. Adjournments
 

  The chairman of the meeting may at any time without the consent of the meeting adjourn any meeting (whether or not it has commenced 
or a quorum is present) either sine die or to another time or place where it appears to him that (a) the members entitled to vote and wishing 
to attend cannot be conveniently accommodated in the place appointed for the meeting (b) the conduct of persons present prevents or is 
likely to prevent the orderly continuation of business or (c) an adjournment is otherwise necessary so that the business of the meeting may 
be properly conducted. In addition, the chairman of the meeting may at any time with the consent of any meeting at which a quorum is 
present
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Amendments  

Voting  

  (and shall if so directed by the meeting) adjourn the meeting either sine die or to another time or place. When a meeting is adjourned sine 
die the time and place for the adjourned meeting shall be fixed by the board. No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting 
except business which might properly have been transacted at the meeting had the adjournment not taken place. Any meeting may be 
adjourned more than once.

 

60. Notice of Adjournment
 

  If the continuation of an adjourned meeting is to take place three months or more after it was adjourned, notice of the adjourned meeting 
shall be given as in the case of an original meeting. Except where these articles otherwise require, it shall not be necessary to give any 
notice of an adjourned meeting or of the business to be transacted at an adjourned meeting.

61. Amendments to Resolutions
 

  In the case of a resolution duly proposed as a special resolution no amendment thereto (other than an amendment to correct a patent error) 
may be considered or voted upon and in the case of a resolution duly proposed as an ordinary resolution no amendment thereto (other than 
an amendment to correct a patent error) may be considered or voted upon unless either at least two working days prior to the date 
appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which such ordinary resolution is to be proposed notice in writing of the terms 
of the amendment and intention to move the same has been received by the company or the chairman of the meeting in his absolute 
discretion decides that it may be considered or voted upon. With the consent of the chairman of the meeting, an amendment may be 
withdrawn by its proposer before it is put to the vote.

 

62. Amendments Ruled Out of Order
 

  If an amendment shall be proposed to any resolution under consideration but shall be ruled out of order by the chairman of the meeting the 
proceedings on the substantive resolution shall not be invalidated by any error in such ruling.

63. Votes of Members
 

  Subject to any special terms as to voting upon which any shares may be issued or may at the relevant time be held and to any other 
provisions of these articles, every member who is present in person or by proxy shall, subject to any special terms as to voting upon which 
any shares may be issued or may at the relevant time be held and to any other provisions of these articles, have one vote for every share of 
which he is the holder. A member may appoint more than one proxy to attend on the same occasion and if he does he shall specify the 
number of shares in respect of which each proxy is entitled to exercise the related votes and shall ensure that no proxy is appointed to 
exercise the votes which any other proxy has been appointed by that member to exercise. Votes may be given either personally or by 
proxy. A member entitled to more than one vote need not, if he votes, use all his votes or cast all the votes he uses in the same way.
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64. Method of Voting
 

  At any general meeting a resolution put to the vote of the meeting shall be decided on a poll, which shall be taken in such manner as the 
chairman of the meeting shall direct, including by means of electronic vote casters. The result of the vote shall be deemed to be the 
resolution of the meeting at which the vote was demanded. A vote to elect the chairman of the meeting or to adjourn the meeting must be 
taken immediately at the meeting. Any other vote may be taken at any other time (within 30 days of the meeting) and place determined by 
the chairman. The chairman can appoint scrutineers (who need not be shareholders) and set a day, time and place for the result of the poll 
to be declared.

 

65. Votes of Joint Holders
 

  In the case of joint holders of a share the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, whether in person or by proxy, shall be accepted to the 
exclusion of the votes of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall be determined by the order in which the names stand 
in the register in respect of the joint holding.

 

66. Voting on Behalf of Incapable Member
 

  A member in respect of whom an order has been made by any competent court or official on the ground that he is or may be suffering 
from a mental disorder or is otherwise incapable of managing his affairs may vote at any general meeting of the company and may 
exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings by or through any person authorised in such 
circumstances to do so on his behalf (and that person may vote by proxy), provided that evidence to the satisfaction of the board of the 
authority of the person claiming to exercise the right to vote or such other right has been received by the company not later than the last 
time at which appointments of proxy should have been received in order to be valid for use at that meeting or on the holding of that poll.

 

67. No Right to Vote where Sums Overdue on Shares
 

  No member shall, unless the board otherwise decides, be entitled in respect of any share held by him to attend or vote (either personally or 
by proxy) at any general meeting of the company or to exercise any other right conferred by membership in relation to general meetings 
unless all calls or other sums presently payable by him in respect of that share have been paid.

 

68. Objections or Errors in Voting
 

  If:

 (i)  any objection shall be raised to the qualification of any voter, or
 

 (ii)  any votes have been counted which ought not to have been counted or which might have been rejected, or
 

 (iii) any votes are not counted which ought to have been counted,
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Approved Depositaries  

   the objection or error shall not vitiate the decision of the meeting or adjourned meeting on any resolution unless it is raised or pointed out 
at the meeting or, as the case may be, the adjourned meeting at which the vote objected to is given or tendered or at which the error 
occurs. Any objection or error shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and shall only vitiate the decision of the meeting on any 
resolution if the chairman decides that the same may have affected the decision of the meeting. The decision of the chairman on such 
matters shall be conclusive.

69. Meaning of Approved Depositary

 (A) In these articles, unless the context otherwise requires, “Approved Depositary” means a person approved by the board and appointed:

 (i)  to hold the company’s shares or any rights or interests in any of the company’s shares; and
 

 (ii) to issue securities, documents of title or other documents which evidence that the holder of them owns or is entitled to receive the 
shares, rights or interests held by the Approved Depository,

   and shall include a nominee acting for a person appointed to do these things.
 

 (B) The trustees of any scheme or arrangements for or principally for the benefit of employees of the company and its associated 
companies will be deemed to be an Approved Depositary for the purposes of these articles unless the board resolves otherwise.

 

 (C) References in these articles to an Approved Depositary or to shares held by it refer only to an Approved Depositary and to its shares 
held in its capacity as an Approved Depositary.

70. Appointment of Approved Depositaries
 

  Subject to these articles and to applicable law, an Approved Depositary may appoint as its proxy or proxies in relation to any ordinary 
shares which it holds, anyone it thinks fit and may determine the manner and terms of any such appointment. Each appointment must state 
the number and class of shares to which it relates and the total number of shares of each class in respect of which appointments exist at 
any one time, which must not exceed the total number of shares of each such class registered in the name of the Approved Depositary or 
its nominee (the “Depositary Shares”) at that time.

 

71. Register of Approved Depositaries
 

  The Approved Depositary must keep a register (the “Proxy Register”) of each person it has appointed as a proxy under Article 73 (an 
“Appointed Proxy”) and the number of Depositary Shares (his “Appointed Number”) to which the appointment relates. The directors 
will determine the requisite information to be recorded in the Proxy Register relating to each Appointed Proxy.
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  Any person authorised by the company may inspect the Proxy Register during usual business hours and the Approved Depositary will 
give such person any information which he requests as to the contents of the Proxy Register.

72. Approved Depositaries’ Attendance at General Meetings

 (A) An Appointed Proxy may only attend a general meeting if he provides the company with written evidence of his appointment as such. 
This must be in a form agreed between the directors and the Approved Depositary.

 

 (B) Subject to applicable law and to these articles, and so long as the Approved Depositary or a nominee of the Approved Depositary 
holds at least his Appointed Number of shares, an Appointed Proxy is entitled to attend a general meeting which holders of that class 
of shares are entitled to attend, and he is entitled to the same rights, and subject to the same obligations, in relation to his Appointed 
Number of Depositary Shares as if he had been validly appointed in accordance with Articles 75 to 79 by the registered holder of these 
shares as its proxy in relation to those shares.

73. Proxies of Appointed Depositaries
 

  An Appointed Proxy may appoint another person as his proxy for his Appointed Number of Depositary Shares, provided the appointment 
is made and deposited in accordance with Articles 75 to 79. These articles apply to that appointment and to the person so appointed as 
though those Depositary Shares were registered in the name of the Appointed Proxy and the appointment was made by him in that 
capacity. The directors may require such evidence as they think appropriate to decide that such appointment is effective.

 

74. Identifying Appointed Proxies

 (A) For the purposes of determining who is entitled as an Appointed Proxy to exercise the rights conferred by Articles 72 and 73 and the 
number of Depositary Shares in respect of which a person is to be treated as having been appointed as an Appointed Proxy for these 
purposes, the Approved Depositary may decide that the Appointed Proxies who are so entitled are the persons entered in the Proxy 
Register at a time and on a date (a “Record Time”) agreed between the Approved Depositary and the company.

 

 (B) When a Record Date is decided for a particular purpose:

 (i)  an Appointed Proxy is to be treated as having been appointed for that purpose for the number and class of shares appearing against 
his name in the Proxy Register as at the Record Time; and

 

 (ii) changes to entries in the Proxy Register after the Record Time will be ignored for this purpose.

 (C) Except for recognising the rights given in relation to General Meetings by appointments made by Appointed Proxies pursuant to 
Article 73, the company is entitled to treat any person entered in the Proxy Register as an Appointed Proxy as
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Proxies  

   

   the only person (other than the Approved Depositary) who has any interest in the Depositary Shares in respect of which the 
Appointed Proxy has been appointed.

 (D) At a general meeting the chairman has the final decision as to whether any person has the right to vote or exercise any other right 
relating to any Depositary Shares. In any other situation, the directors have the final decision as to whether any person has the right to 
exercise any right relating to any Depositary Shares.

75. Appointment of Proxies
 

  The appointment of a proxy shall be in writing signed by the appointor or his duly authorised attorney or, if the appointor is a corporation, 
shall either be executed under its seal or signed by an officer, attorney or other person authorised to sign it. A member may appoint more 
than one proxy to attend on the same occasion and if he does he shall specify the number of shares in respect of which each proxy is 
entitled to exercise the related votes and shall ensure that no proxy is appointed to exercise the votes which any other proxy has been 
appointed by that member to exercise.

76. Receipt of Proxies

 (A) The appointment of a proxy must:

 (i)  in the case of an appointment made in hard copy form, be received at the office (or such other place in the United Kingdom or in 
the United States as may be specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy in hard copy form) not less than 48 
hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at 
which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote together with (if required by the board) any authority under which it 
is made or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in accordance with the Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other 
manner approved by the board;

 

 (ii) in the case of an appointment made by electronic means, be received at the address specified by the company for the receipt of 
appointments of proxy by electronic means not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the 
time appointed for holding the meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote. Any 
authority pursuant to which such an appointment is made or a copy of the authority, certified notarially or in accordance with the 
Powers of Attorney Act 1971 or in some other manner approved by the board, must, if required by the board, be received at such 
address or at the office (or such other place in the United Kingdom as may be specified by the company for the receipt of such 
documents) not less than 48 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for holding the 
meeting or adjourned meeting at which the person named in the appointment proposes to vote; 
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 (iii) in the case of an appointment delivered by an Approved Depositary (except in respect of a proxy appointed in accordance with 
Article 70) be delivered to the appropriate place referred to in (i) or (ii) above, as appropriate, depending on whether the 
appointment is made in hard copy or electronic form;

 

 (iv) in the case of a vote taken more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be received as 
aforesaid not less than 24 hours (or such shorter time as the board may determine) before the time appointed for the taking of the 
vote; and

 

 (v)  in the case of a vote taken not more than 48 hours subsequently to the date of the meeting or adjourned meeting, be received as 
aforesaid by the time at which the vote was demanded (or at such later time as the board may determine),

   and an appointment of a proxy which is not, or in respect of which the authority or copy thereof is not, received in a manner so 
permitted shall be invalid. When two or more valid but differing appointments of a proxy are received in respect of the same share 
for use at the same meeting or poll, the one which is last received (regardless of its date or of the date of its signature) shall be treated 
as replacing and revoking the others as regards that share; if the company is unable to determine which was last received, none of 
them shall be treated as valid in respect of that share. The appointment of a proxy shall not preclude a member from attending and 
voting in person at the meeting or poll concerned. The proceedings at a general meeting shall not be invalidated where an 
appointment of a proxy in respect of that meeting is sent in electronic form as provided in these articles, but because of a technical 
problem it cannot be read by the recipient.

 (B) The board may at its discretion determine that in calculating the periods mentioned in this article no account shall be taken of any 
part of a day that is not a working day.

77. Maximum Validity of Proxy
 

  No appointment of a proxy shall be valid after 12 months have elapsed from the date of its receipt save that, unless the contrary is stated in 
it, an appointment of a proxy shall be valid for use at an adjourned meeting or vote after a meeting or an adjourned meeting even after 
12 months, if it was valid for the original meeting.

78. Form of Proxy
 

  The appointment of a proxy shall be in any usual form or in such other form as the board may approve. The appointment of a proxy shall 
be deemed to confer authority to vote on any amendment of a resolution put to, or any other business which may properly come before, the 
meeting for which it is given as the proxy thinks fit. The appointment of a proxy shall, unless the contrary is stated in it, be valid as well 
for any adjournment of the meeting as for the meeting to which it relates.
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Class Meetings  

Appointment, Retirement and Removal of Directors  

79. Cancellation of Proxy’s Authority
 

  A vote given by a proxy or by the duly authorised representative of a corporation shall be valid notwithstanding the previous determination 
of the authority of the person voting, unless notice in writing of the determination was received by the company at the office (or such other 
place or address as was specified by the company for the receipt of appointments of proxy) not later than the last time at which an 
appointment of a proxy should have been received in order to be valid for use at the meeting at which the vote was given.

80. Separate General Meetings
 

  The provisions of these articles relating to general meetings shall apply, with any necessary modifications to any separate general meeting 
of the holders of shares of a class convened otherwise than in connection with the variation or abrogation of the rights attached to the 
shares of that class. For this purpose, a general meeting at which no holder of a share other than an ordinary share may, in his capacity as a 
member, attend or vote shall also constitute a separate general meeting of the holders of the ordinary shares.

81. Number of Directors
 

  Unless otherwise determined by ordinary resolution of the company, the directors (disregarding alternate directors) shall be not less than 
two nor more than 24 in number.

 

82. Directors’ Shareholding Qualification
 

  No shareholding qualification for directors shall be required.
 

83. Power of Company to Appoint Directors
 

  Subject to the provisions of these articles, the company may by ordinary resolution elect any person who is willing to act to be a director, 
either to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any 
maximum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles.

 

84. Power of Board to Appoint Directors
 

  Subject to the provisions of these articles, the board may appoint any person who is willing to act to be a director, either to fill a vacancy or 
as an addition to the existing board, but so that the total number of directors shall not at any time exceed any maximum number fixed by or 
in accordance with these articles. Any director so appointed shall retire at the next annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-
appointment.

 

85. Retirement of Directors by Rotation

  At every annual general meeting any director:
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 (i)  who has been appointed by the board since the last annual general meeting, or
 

 (ii)  who held office at the time of the two preceding annual general meetings and who did not retire at either of them, or
 

 (iii) who has held office with the company, other than employment or executive office, for a continuous period of nine years or more at the 
date of the meeting,

  shall retire from office and may offer himself for re-appointment by the members.
 

86. Filling Vacancies
 

  Subject to the provisions of these articles, at the meeting at which a director retires the company can pass an ordinary resolution to re-
appoint the director or to elect some other eligible person in his place.

 

87. Power of Removal by Special Resolution
 

  In addition to any power of removal conferred by the Companies Acts, the company may by special resolution remove any director before 
the expiration of his period of office and may (subject to these articles) by ordinary resolution appoint another person who is willing to act 
to be a director in his place.

 

88. Persons Eligible as Directors
 

  No person other than a director retiring at the meeting shall be appointed or re-appointed a director at any general meeting unless:

 (i)  he is recommended by the board; or
 

 (ii) not less than seven nor more than 42 days before the day appointed for the meeting, notice in writing by a member qualified to vote at 
the meeting (not being the person to be proposed) has been given to the secretary of the intention to propose that person for 
appointment or re-appointment together with confirmation in writing by that person of his willingness to be appointed or re-appointed.

89. Position of Retiring Directors
 

  A director who retires at an annual general meeting may, if willing to continue to act, be re-appointed. If he is re-appointed he is treated as 
continuing in office throughout. If he is not re-appointed, he shall retain office until the end of the meeting or (if earlier) when a resolution 
is passed to appoint someone in his place or when a resolution to re-appoint the director is put to the meeting and lost.

 

90. Vacation of Office by Directors
 

  Without prejudice to the provisions for retirement contained in these articles, the office of a director shall be vacated if:
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 (i)  he resigns his office by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of 
communication by electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board; or

 

 (ii)  by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of communication by 
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, he offers to resign and the board resolves to accept such offer; or

 

 (iii)  by notice in writing sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purposes of communication by 
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, his resignation is requested by all of the other directors and all of the other 
directors are not less than three in number; or

 

 (iv)  he is or has been suffering from mental ill health or becomes a patient for the purpose of any statute relating to mental health and the 
board resolves that his office is vacated; or

 

 (v)  he is absent without the permission of the board from meetings of the board (whether or not an alternate director appointed by him 
attends) for six consecutive months and the board resolves that his office is vacated; or

 

 (vi)  he becomes bankrupt or compounds with his creditors generally; or
 

 (vii)  he is prohibited by law from being a director; or
 

 (viii) he ceases to be a director by virtue of the Companies Acts or is removed from office pursuant to these articles.

  If the office of a director is vacated for any reason, he shall cease to be a member of any committee or sub-committee of the board.
 

91. Alternate Directors

 (A) Each director may appoint any person to be his alternate and may at his discretion remove an alternate director so appointed. If the 
alternate director is not already a director, the appointment, unless previously approved by the board, shall have effect only upon and 
subject to its being so approved. Any appointment or removal of an alternate director shall be effected by notice in writing signed by 
the appointor and sent to or received at the office or at an address specified by the company for the purpose of communication by 
electronic means or tendered at a meeting of the board, or in any other manner approved by the board. An alternate director shall be 
entitled to receive notice of all meetings of the board or of committees of the board of which his appointor is a member. He shall also 
be entitled to attend and vote as a director at any such meeting at which the director appointing him is not personally present and at 
such meeting to exercise and discharge all the functions, powers, rights and duties of his appointor as a director and for the purposes of 
the proceedings at such meeting the provisions of these articles shall apply as if he were a director.
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 (B) Every person acting as an alternate director shall (except as regards power to appoint an alternate and remuneration) be subject in all 
respects to the provisions of these articles relating to directors and shall during his appointment be an officer of the company. An 
alternate director shall alone be responsible to the company for his acts and defaults and shall not be deemed to be the agent of or for 
the director appointing him. An alternate director may be paid expenses and shall be entitled to be indemnified by the company to the 
same extent as if he were a director. An alternate director shall not be entitled to receive from the company any fee in his capacity as 
an alternate director but the company shall, if so requested in writing by the appointor, pay to the alternate director any part of the fees 
or remuneration otherwise due to the appointor.

 

 (C) A director or any other person may act as an alternate director to represent more than one director. Every person acting as an alternate 
director shall have one vote for each director for whom he acts as alternate, in addition to his own vote if he is also a director but he 
shall count as only one for the purposes of determining whether a quorum is present. Signature by an alternate director of any 
resolution in writing of the board or a committee of the board shall, unless the notice of his appointment provides to the contrary, be as 
effective as signature by his appointor.

 

 (D) An alternate director shall cease to be an alternate director:

 (i)  if his appointor ceases for any reason to be a director except that, if at any meeting any director retires but is re-appointed at the 
same meeting, any appointment made by him pursuant to this article which was in force immediately before his retirement shall 
remain in force as though he had not retired; or

 

 (ii) on the happening of any event which if he were a director would cause him to vacate his office as director; or

   if he resigns his office by notice in writing to the company.

92. Executive Directors
 

  The board or any committee authorised by the board may from time to time appoint one or more directors to hold any employment or 
executive office with the company for such period and upon such other terms as the board or any committee authorised by the board may 
in its discretion decide and may revoke or terminate any appointment so made. Any revocation or termination of the appointment shall be 
without prejudice to any claim for damages that the director may have against the company or the company may have against the director 
for any breach of any contract of service between him and the company which may be involved in the revocation or termination. A director 
so appointed shall receive such remuneration (whether by way of salary, commission, participation in profits or otherwise) as the board or 
any committee authorised by the board may decide, and either in addition to or in lieu of his remuneration as a director.
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Fees, Remuneration, Expenses and Pensions  

93. Directors’ Fees

 (A) The directors can decide on the amount, timing and manner of payment of fees to be paid by the company to the directors for acting as 
directors. These fees can be satisfied in cash or in any other form.

 

 (B) If the directors decide to satisfy any of these fees in shares or in any other non-cash form, the value of the shares or other assets to be 
counted towards this limit will be their value at the time the entitlement to them is first allocated, or provisionally allocated, to the 
director. This value will be taken into account for the purpose of the limit in the year in which the entitlement is first allocated, or 
provisionally allocated, and not in any later year when the fees, shares or other assets are actually paid or delivered to the director. 
This paragraph applies even if:

 (i)  the director’s entitlement to the fees, or to receive the assets, is subject to conditions which will, or may, be fulfilled at a later 
time;

 

 (ii)  the fees, shares or other assets are to be, or may be, paid or delivered to the director at a later time or the director elects, agrees or 
is required to receive the cash equivalent of the shares or other assets as determined by reference to their value at such later time;

 

 (iii) the company has not paid for the relevant shares or other assets at the time the director first becomes, or becomes provisionally, 
entitled to them, and their value subsequently changes.

 (C) Unless an ordinary resolution is passed saying otherwise, the fees will be divided between some or all of the directors in the way that 
they decide. If they fail to decide, the fees will be shared equally by the directors, except that any director holding office as a director 
for only part of the period covered by the fee is only entitled to a pro rata share covering that part period.

94. Additional Remuneration
 

  The directors can award special pay to any director who:

 (i)  holds any executive post;
 

 (ii)  acts as chairman;
 

 (iii) serves on any committee of the directors; or
 

 (iv) performs any other services which the directors consider to extend beyond the ordinary duties of a director.

  Special pay can take the form of salary, commission or other benefits or can be paid in some other way. This is decided on by the directors.
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Directors’ Interests  

95. Expenses

 (A) Each director may be paid his reasonable travelling, hotel and incidental expenses of attending and returning from meetings of the 
board or committees of the board or general meetings of the company or any other meeting which as a director he is entitled to attend 
and shall be paid all other costs and expenses properly and reasonably incurred by him in the conduct of the company’s business or in 
the discharge of his duties as a director. The company may also fund a director’s expenditure for the purposes permitted under the 
Companies Acts and may do anything to enable a director of the company to avoid incurring such expenditure as provided in the 
Companies Acts.

 

 (B) The directors can award extra pay to any director who, at the request of the directors, performs special services or goes or lives abroad 
for any purposes of the company.

96. Pensions and Gratuities for Directors
 

  The board or any committee authorised by the board may exercise all the powers of the company to provide benefits, either by the 
payment of gratuities or pensions or by insurance or in any other manner whether similar to the foregoing or not, for any director or former 
director or the relations, or dependants of, or persons connected to, any director or former director, provided that no benefits (except such 
as may be provided for by any other article) may be granted to or in respect of a director or former director who has not been employed 
by, or held an executive office or place of profit under, the company or any body corporate which is or has been its subsidiary undertaking 
or any predecessor in business of the company or any such body corporate without the approval of an ordinary resolution of the company. 
No director or former director shall be accountable to the company or the members for any benefit provided pursuant to this article and the 
receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify any person from being or becoming a director of the company.

97. Conflicts of interest requiring board authorisation

 (A) The board may, subject to the quorum and voting requirements set out in this article, authorise any matter which would otherwise 
involve a director breaching his duty under the Companies Acts to avoid conflicts of interest (“Conflict”).

 

 (B) A director seeking authorisation in respect of a Conflict shall declare to the board the nature and extent of his interest in a Conflict as 
soon as is reasonably practicable. The director shall provide the board with such details of the relevant matter as are necessary for the 
board to decide how to address the Conflict together with such additional information as may be requested by the board.

 

 (C) Any director (including the relevant director) may propose that the relevant director be authorised in relation to any matter the subject 
of a Conflict. Such proposal and
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   any authority given by the board shall be effected in the same way that any other matter may be proposed to and resolved upon by the 
board under the provisions of these articles save that:

 (i)  the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest shall not count towards the quorum nor vote on any resolution 
giving such authority; and

 

 (ii) the relevant director and any other director with a similar interest may, if the other members of the board so decide, be excluded 
from any board meeting while the Conflict is under consideration.

 (D) Where the board gives authority in relation to a Conflict:

 (i)  the board may (whether at the time of giving the authority or subsequently) (a) require that the relevant director is excluded from 
the receipt of information, the participation in discussion and/or the making of decisions (whether at meetings of the board or 
otherwise) related to the Conflict; and (b) impose upon the relevant director such other terms for the purpose of dealing with the 
Conflict as it may determine;

 

 (ii)  the relevant director will be obliged to conduct himself in accordance with any terms imposed by the board in relation to the 
Conflict;

 

 (iii) the board may provide that where the relevant director obtains (otherwise than through his position as a director of the company) 
information that is confidential to a third party, the director will not be obliged to disclose that information to the company, or to 
use or apply the information in relation to the company’s affairs, where to do so would amount to a breach of that confidence;

 

 (iv) the terms of the authority shall be recorded in writing (but the authority shall be effective whether or not the terms are so 
recorded); and

 

 (v)  the board may revoke or vary such authority at any time but this will not affect anything done by the relevant director prior to 
such revocation in accordance with the terms of such authority.

98. Other conflicts of interest

 (A) If a director is in any way directly or indirectly interested in a proposed contract with the company or a contract that has been entered 
into by the company, he must declare the nature and extent of that interest to the directors in accordance with the Companies Acts.

 

 (B) Provided he has declared his interest in accordance with paragraph (A), a director may:

 (i)  be party to, or otherwise interested in, any contract with the company or in which the company has a direct or indirect interest;
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 (ii)  hold any other office or place of profit with the company (except that of auditor) in conjunction with his office of director for such 
period and upon such terms, including as to remuneration, as the board may decide;

 

 (iii) act by himself or through a firm with which he is associated in a professional capacity for the company or any other company in 
which the company may be interested (otherwise than as auditor);

 

 (iv) be or become a director or other officer of, or employed by or otherwise be interested in any holding company or subsidiary 
company of the company or any other company in which the company may be interested; and

 

 (v)  be or become a director of any other company in which the company does not have an interest and which cannot reasonably be 
regarded as giving rise to a conflict of interest at the time of his appointment as a director of that other company.

99.  Benefits
 

  A director shall not, by reason of his office or of the fiduciary relationship thereby established, be liable to account to the company for 
any remuneration, profit or other benefit realised by reason of his having any type of interest authorised under Article 98(A) or permitted 
under Article 99(B) and no contract shall be liable to be avoided on the grounds of a director having any type of interest authorised under 
Article 98(A) or permitted under Article 99(B).

 

100. Quorum and voting requirements

 (A) A director shall not vote on or be counted in the quorum in relation to any resolution of the board concerning his own appointment, 
or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment, as the holder of any office or place of profit 
with the company or any other company in which the company is interested.

 

 (B) Where proposals are under consideration concerning the appointment, or the settlement or variation of the terms or the termination 
of the appointment, of two or more directors to offices or places of profit with the company or any other company in which the 
company is interested, a separate resolution may be put in relation to each director and in that case each of the directors concerned 
shall be entitled to vote and be counted in the quorum in respect of each resolution unless it concerns his own appointment or the 
settlement or variation of the terms or the termination of his own appointment or the appointment of another director to an office or 
place of profit with a company in which the company is interested and the director seeking to vote or be counted in the quorum has 
a Relevant Interest in it.

 

 (C) A director shall not vote on, or be counted in the quorum in relation to, any resolution of the board in respect of any contract in 
which he has an interest and, if he shall do so, his vote shall not be counted, but this prohibition shall not apply to any resolution 
where that interest cannot reasonably be regarded as likely to give
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   rise to a conflict of interest or where that interest arises only from one or more of the following matters:

 (i)  the giving to him of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of money lent or obligations undertaken by him or by any 
other person at the request of or for the benefit of the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings;

 

 (ii)  the giving to a third party of any guarantee, indemnity or security in respect of a debt or obligation of the company or any of its 
subsidiary undertakings for which he himself has assumed responsibility in whole or in part under a guarantee or indemnity or by 
the giving of security;

 

 (iii)  the giving to him of any other indemnity where all other directors are also being offered indemnities on substantially the same 
terms;

 

 (iv)  the funding by the company of his expenditure on defending proceedings or the doing by the company of anything to enable him 
to avoid incurring such expenditure where all other directors are being offered substantially the same arrangements;

 

 (v)  where the company or any of its subsidiary undertakings is offering securities in which offer the director is or may be entitled to 
participate as a holder of securities or in the underwriting or sub-underwriting of which the director is to participate;

 

 (vi)  any contract in which he is interested by virtue of his interest in shares for allotment and distribution to shares or debentures or 
other securities of the company or by reason of any other interest in or through the company;

 

 (vii)  any contract concerning any other company (not being a company in which the director has a Relevant Interest) in which he is 
interested directly or indirectly whether as an officer, shareholder, creditor or otherwise howsoever;

 

 (viii) any contract concerning the adoption, modification or operation of a pension fund, superannuation or similar scheme or 
retirement, death or disability benefits scheme or employees’ share scheme which relates both to directors and employees of the 
company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings and does not provide in respect of any director as such any privilege or 
advantage not accorded to the employees to which the fund or scheme relates;

 

 (ix)  any contract for the benefit of employees of the company or of any of its subsidiary undertakings under which he benefits in a 
similar manner to the employees and which does not accord to any director as such any privilege or advantage not accorded to the 
employees to whom the contract relates; and
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 (x) any contract for the purchase or maintenance of insurance against any liability for, or for the benefit of, any director or directors 
or for, or for the benefit of, persons who include directors.

 (D) A company shall be deemed to be one in which a director has a Relevant Interest if and so long as (but only if and so long as) he is 
to his knowledge (either directly or indirectly) the holder of or beneficially interested in one per cent. or more of any class of the 
equity share capital of that company (calculated exclusive of any shares of that class in that company held as treasury shares) or of 
the voting rights available to members of that company. In relation to an alternate director, an interest of his appointor shall be 
treated as an interest of the alternate director without prejudice to any interest which the alternate director has otherwise.

 

 (E)  Where a company in which a director has a Relevant Interest is interested in a contract, he also shall be deemed interested in that 
contract.

 

 (F)  If any question shall arise at any meeting of the board as to the interest of a director (other than the chairman of the meeting) in a 
contract and whether it is likely to give rise to a conflict of interest or as to the entitlement of any director (other than the chairman 
of the meeting) to vote or be counted in the quorum and the question is not resolved by his voluntarily agreeing to abstain from 
voting or not to be counted in the quorum, the question shall be referred to the chairman of the meeting and his ruling in relation to 
the director concerned shall be conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the director’s interest (so far as it is known 
to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the board. If any question shall arise in respect of the chairman of the meeting, the question 
shall be decided by a resolution of the board (for which purpose the chairman of the meeting shall be counted in the quorum but 
shall not vote on the matter) and the resolution shall be conclusive except in a case where the nature or extent of the interest of the 
chairman of the meeting (so far as it is known to him) has not been fairly disclosed to the board.

 

 (G) Subject to these articles, the board may also cause any voting power conferred by the shares in any other company held or owned 
by the company or any power of appointment to be exercised in such manner in all respects as it thinks fit, including the exercise of 
the voting power or power of appointment in favour of the appointment of the directors or any of them as directors or officers of the 
other company, or in favour of the payment of remuneration to the directors or officers of the other company. Subject to these 
articles, a director may also vote on and be counted in the quorum in relation to any of such matters.

101. General

 (A) References in Articles 97 to 100 to:

 (i)  a contract include references to any proposed contract and to any transaction or arrangement or proposed transaction or 
arrangement whether or not constituting a contract; and

 

 (ii) a conflict of interest include a conflict of interest and duty and a conflict of duties.
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Powers and Duties of the Board  

 (B) The company may by ordinary resolution suspend or relax the provisions of Articles 97 to 100 to any extent or ratify any contract 
not properly authorised by reason of a contravention of any of the provisions of Articles 97 to 100.

102. General Powers of Company Vested in Board
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the memorandum of association of the company and these articles and to any directions 
given by the company in general meeting by special resolution, the business of the company shall be managed by the board which may 
exercise all the powers of the company whether relating to the management of the business of the company or not. No alteration of the 
memorandum of association or these articles and no special resolution shall invalidate any prior act of the board which would have been 
valid if that alteration had not been made or that resolution had not been passed. The powers given by this article shall not be limited by 
any special power given to the board by any other article.

 

103. Borrowing Powers
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the directors may exercise all the powers of the company:

 (i)  to borrow money;
 

 (ii)  to mortgage or charge all or any of the company’s undertaking, property (present and future) and uncalled capital;
 

 (iii) to issue debentures and other securities; and
 

 (iv) to give security either outright or as collateral security for any debt, liability or obligation of the company or of any third party.

104. Agents

 (A) The board can appoint anyone as the company’s attorney by granting a power of attorney or by authorising them in some other way. 
Attorneys can either be appointed directly by the board or the board can give someone else the power to select attorneys. The board 
or the persons who are authorised by it to select attorneys can decide on the purposes, powers, authorities and discretions of 
attorneys. But they cannot give an attorney any power, authority or discretion which the board does not have under these articles.

 

 (B) The board can decide how long a power of attorney will last for and attach any conditions to it. The power of attorney can include 
any provisions which the board decides on for the protection and convenience of anybody dealing with the attorney. The power of 
attorney can allow the attorney to grant any or all of his power, authority or discretion to any other person.

 

 (C) The board can:



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: 49693
Name: GLAXOSMITHKLINE     

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: EX-1.1, Doc: 2, Page: 54
Description: Exhibit 1.1    

0/3701.01.54.00U08350BOT[E/O]
EDGAR 2 *U08350/7010154/3*

B
O

W
N

E
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 T

Y
PE

SE
T

T
IN

G
 S

Y
ST

E
M

C
R

C
: 4

96
93

N
am

e:
 G

L
A

X
O

SM
IT

H
K

L
IN

E
   

  
D

at
e:

  1
-M

A
R

-2
01

0 
11

:4
4:

50
.9

0
O

pe
ra

to
r:

 B
O

L
00

01
0T

Ph
on

e:
 0

20
-7

55
1-

50
00

Si
te

: B
O

W
N

E
 O

F 
L

O
N

D
O

N

U
08

35
0.

SU
B

, D
oc

N
am

e:
 E

X
-1

.1
, D

oc
: 2

, P
ag

e:
 5

4
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n:
 E

xh
ib

it 
1.

1 
   

0/
3

70
1.

01
.5

4.
00

U
08

35
0

B
O

T
[E

/O
]

E
D

G
A

R
 2

*
U
0
8
3
5
0
/
7
0
1
0
1
5
4
/
3
*

                    

  

 (i)  delegate any of its authority, powers or discretions to any manager or agent of the company;
 

 (ii)  allow managers or agents to delegate to another person;
 

 (iii) remove any people it has appointed in any of these ways; and
 

 (iv) cancel or change anything that it has delegated, although this will not affect anybody who acts in good faith who has not had 
any notice of any cancellation or change.

 (D) Any appointment or delegation by the board which is referred to in this article can be on any conditions decided on by the board.
 

 (E)  The ability of the board to delegate under this article applies to all its powers and is not limited because certain articles refer to 
powers being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board while other articles do not.

105. Delegation to Individual Directors
 

  The board may entrust to and confer upon any director any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) upon 
such terms and conditions and with such restrictions as it thinks fit, and either collaterally with, or to the exclusion of, its own powers, 
authorities and discretions and may from time to time revoke or vary all or any of them but no person dealing in good faith and without 
notice of the revocation or variation shall be affected by it. The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to 
the powers, authorities and discretions of the board generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, 
express reference is made to particular powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by 
the board.

 

106. Official Seals
 

  The company may exercise all the powers conferred by the Companies Acts with regard to having official seals and those powers shall 
be vested in the board.

 

107. Registers
 

  The company may keep an overseas or local or other register in any place and the board may make and vary such regulations as it may 
think fit respecting the keeping of the register.

 

108. Provision for Employees
 

  The board may exercise any power conferred by the Companies Acts to make provision for the benefit of persons employed or formerly 
employed by the company or any of its subsidiaries in connection with the cessation or the transfer to any person of the whole or part of 
the undertaking of the company or that subsidiary.
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Proceedings of the Board  

109. Board Meetings
 

  The board may meet for the despatch of business, adjourn and otherwise regulate its meetings as it thinks fit. A director at any time may, 
and the secretary on the requisition of a director at any time shall, summon a board meeting.

 

110. Notice of Board Meetings
 

  Notice of a board meeting shall be deemed to be properly given to a director if it is given to him personally or by word of mouth or sent 
in writing to him at his last known address or any other address given by him to the company for this purpose. A director may waive his 
entitlement to notice of any meeting either prospectively or retrospectively and any retrospective waiver shall not affect the validity of 
the meeting or of any business conducted at the meeting.

 

111. Quorum
 

  The quorum necessary for the transaction of the business of the board may be fixed by the board and, unless so fixed at any other 
number, shall be two. Subject to the provisions of these articles, any director who ceases to be a director at a board meeting may continue 
to be present and to act as a director and be counted in the quorum until the termination of the board meeting if no other director objects 
and if otherwise a quorum of directors would not be present.

 

112. Directors below Minimum through Vacancies
 

  The continuing directors or a sole continuing director may act notwithstanding any vacancy in their number but, if and so long as the 
number of directors is reduced below the minimum number fixed by or in accordance with these articles or is below the number fixed by 
or in accordance with these articles as the quorum or there is only one continuing director, the continuing directors or director may act for 
the purpose of filling vacancies or of summoning general meetings of the company but not for any other purpose. If there are no directors 
or director able or willing to act, then any two members (excluding any member holding shares as treasury shares) may summon a 
general meeting for the purpose of appointing directors.

 

113. Appointment of Chairman
 

  The board may appoint a director to be the chairman or a deputy chairman of the board, and may at any time remove him from that 
office. The chairman of the board or failing him a deputy chairman shall act as chairman at every meeting of the board. If more than one 
deputy chairman is present they shall agree amongst themselves who is to take the chair or, if they cannot agree, the deputy chairman 
who has been in office as a director longest shall take the chair. But if no chairman of the board or deputy chairman is appointed, or if at 
any meeting neither the chairman nor any deputy chairman is present within five minutes after the time appointed for holding the 
meeting, the directors present may choose one of their number to be chairman of the meeting. References in these articles to a deputy 
chairman include, if no one has been appointed to that title, a person appointed
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  to a position with another title which the board designates as equivalent to the position of deputy chairman.
 
114. Competence of Meetings
 

  A meeting of the board at which a quorum is present shall be competent to exercise all the powers, authorities and discretions vested in or 
exercisable by the board.

 

115. Voting
 

  Questions arising at any meeting shall be determined by a majority of votes. In the case of an equality of votes the chairman of the 
meeting shall have a second or casting vote.

116. Delegation to Committees

 (A) The board may delegate any of its powers, authorities and discretions (with power to sub-delegate) to any committee, consisting of 
such person or persons (whether a member or members of its body or not) as it thinks fit, provided that the majority of persons on 
any committee or sub-committee must be directors. References in these articles to committees include sub-committees permitted 
under this article.

 

 (B) Any committee so formed shall, in the exercise of the powers, authorities and discretions so delegated, conform to any regulations 
which may be imposed on it by the board. The meetings and proceedings of any committee consisting of two or more members 
shall be governed by the provisions contained in these articles for regulating the meetings and proceedings of the board so far as the 
same are applicable and are not superseded by any regulations imposed by the board.

 

 (C) The power to delegate contained in this article shall be effective in relation to the powers, authorities and discretions of the board 
generally and shall not be limited by the fact that in certain articles, but not in others, express reference is made to particular 
powers, authorities or discretions being exercised by the board or by a committee authorised by the board.

117. Participation in Meetings
 

  All or any of the members of the board may participate in a meeting of the board by means of a conference telephone or any 
communication equipment which allows all persons participating in the meeting to speak to and hear each other or by a series of 
telephone calls from the chairman of the meeting. A person so participating shall be deemed to be present in person at the meeting and 
shall be entitled to vote and be counted in a quorum accordingly. Any such meeting will be treated as taking place where the chairman is 
located.

 

118. Resolution in Writing
 

  A resolution in writing signed by all the directors who are at the relevant time entitled to receive notice of a meeting of the board and 
who would be entitled to vote on the resolution at a meeting of the board (if that number is sufficient to constitute a quorum) shall be as 
valid and effectual as a resolution passed at a meeting of the board properly
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Seals  

Dividends and Other Payments  

  called and constituted. The resolution may be contained in one document or in several documents in like form each signed by one or 
more of the directors concerned.

   

119. Validity of Acts of Board or Committee
 

  All acts done by the board or by any committee or by any person acting as a director or member of a committee shall, notwithstanding 
that it is afterwards discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of any member of the board or committee or person so 
acting or that they or any of them were disqualified from holding office or had vacated office or were not entitled to vote, be as valid as if 
each such member or person had been properly appointed and was qualified and had continued to be a director or member of the 
committee and had been entitled to vote.

 

120. Appointment and Removal of the Secretary
 

  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Acts, the secretary shall be appointed by the board for such term and upon such conditions as 
the board may think fit; and any secretary so appointed may be removed by the board.

121. Use of Seals
 

  The board shall provide for the custody of every seal of the company. A seal shall only be used by the authority of the board or of a 
committee of the board authorised by the board in that behalf. Subject as otherwise provided in these articles, and to any resolution of the 
board or committee of the board dispensing with the requirement for counter-signature on any occasion, any instrument to which the 
common seal is applied shall be signed by at least one director and the secretary, or by at least two directors or by such other person or 
persons as the board may approve. Any instrument to which an official seal is applied need not, unless the board otherwise decides or the 
law otherwise requires, be signed by any person.

122. Declaration of Dividends by Company
 

  The company may by ordinary resolution from time to time declare dividends in accordance with the respective rights of the members, 
but no dividend shall exceed the amount recommended by the board.

 

123. Payment of Interim and Fixed Dividends by Board
 

  The board may pay such interim dividends as appear to the board to be justified by the financial position of the company and may also 
pay any dividend payable at a fixed rate at intervals settled by the board whenever the financial position of the company, in the opinion 
of the board, justifies its payment. If the board acts in good faith, it shall not incur any liability to the holders of any shares for any loss 
they may suffer in consequence of the payment of an interim or fixed dividend on any other class of shares ranking pari passu with or 
after those shares.
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124. Calculation and Currency of Dividends

 (A) Except in so far as the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any share otherwise provide:

 (i)  all dividends shall be declared and paid according to the amounts paid up on the share in respect of which the dividend is paid, 
but no amount paid up on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for the purposes of this article as paid up on the share;

 

 (ii)  all dividends shall be apportioned and paid pro rata according to the amounts paid up on the share during any portion or 
portions of the period in respect of which the dividend is paid; and

 

 (iii) dividends may be declared or paid in any currency.

 (B) The board may decide the basis of conversion for any currency conversions that may be required and how any costs involved are to 
be met.

 

 (C) The board may also decide that a particular Approved Depositary should be able to receive dividends in a currency other than the 
currency in which it is declared and may make arrangements accordingly. In particular, if an Approved Depositary has chosen or 
agreed to receive dividends in another currency, the directors may make arrangements with that Approved Depositary for payment 
to be made to them for value on the date on which the relevant dividend is paid, or a later date decided on by the directors.

125. Amounts Due on Shares may be Deducted from Dividends
 

  The board may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to a member by the company on or in respect of any shares all sums 
of money (if any) presently payable by him to the company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the company. Sums so 
deducted can be used to pay amounts owing to the company in respect of the shares.

 

126. No Interest on Dividends
 

  Subject to the rights attaching to, or the terms of issue of, any shares, no dividend or other moneys payable by the company on or in 
respect of any share shall bear interest against the company.

 

127. Payment Procedure
 

  Any dividend or other sum payable in cash by the company in respect of a share may be paid by cheque, warrant or similar financial 
instrument sent by post addressed to the holder at his registered address or, in the case of joint holders, addressed to the holder whose 
name stands first in the register in respect of the shares at his address as appearing in the register or addressed to such person and at such 
address as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct. Every cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument shall, unless the holder 
or joint holders otherwise direct, be made payable to the holder or,
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  in the case of joint holders, to the holder whose name stands first on the register in respect of the shares, and shall be sent at his or their 
risk and payment of the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument by the financial institution on which it is drawn shall constitute a 
good discharge to the company. In addition, any such dividend or other sum may be paid by any bank or other funds transfer system or 
such other means including, in respect of uncertificated shares, by means of the facilities and requirements of a relevant system and to or 
through such person as the holder or joint holders may in writing direct and the company may agree, and the making of such payment 
shall be a good discharge to the company and the company shall have no responsibility for any sums lost or delayed in the course of 
payment by any such system or other means or where it has acted on any such directions and accordingly, payment by any such system 
or other means shall constitute a good discharge to the company. Any one of two or more joint holders may give effectual receipts for 
any dividends or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of the shares held by them. Where a person is entitled by 
transmission to a share, any dividend or other sum payable by the company in respect of the share may be paid as if he were a holder of 
the share and his address noted in the register were his registered address and where two or more persons are so entitled, any one of them 
may give effectual receipts for any dividends or other moneys payable or property distributable on or in respect of the shares.

   

128. Uncashed Dividends
 

  The company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument through the post or to employ any other means of 
payment, including payment by means of a relevant system, for any dividend payable on any shares in the company which is normally 
paid in that manner on those shares if in respect of at least two consecutive dividends payable on those shares the cheques, warrants or 
similar financial instruments have been returned undelivered or remain uncashed during or at the end of the period for which the same 
are valid or that means of payment has failed. In addition, the company may cease to send any cheque, warrant or similar financial 
instrument through the post or may cease to employ any other means of payment if, in respect of one dividend payable on those shares, 
the cheque, warrant or similar financial instrument has been returned undelivered or remains uncashed during or at the end of the period 
for which the same is valid or that means of payment has failed and reasonable enquiries have failed to establish any new postal address 
or account of the holder. Subject to the provisions of these articles, the company must recommence sending cheques, warrants or similar 
financial instruments or employing such other means in respect of dividends payable on those shares if the holder or person entitled by 
transmission requests such recommencement in writing.

 

129. Forfeiture of Unclaimed Dividends
 

  All dividends or other sums payable on or in respect of any shares which remain unclaimed may be invested or otherwise made use of by 
the board for the benefit of the company until claimed. Any dividend or other sum unclaimed after a period of 12 years from the date 
when it was declared or became due for payment shall be forfeited and shall revert to the company unless the board decides otherwise 
and the payment by the board of any unclaimed dividend or other sum payable on or in respect of a share into a separate account shall not 
constitute the company a trustee in respect of it.
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130. Dividends Not in Cash
 

  Any general meeting declaring a dividend may, upon the recommendation of the board, by ordinary resolution direct that it shall be 
satisfied wholly or partly by the distribution of assets, and in particular of paid up shares or debentures of any other company, and where 
any difficulty arises in regard to the distribution the board may settle it as it thinks expedient, and in particular may authorise any person 
to sell and transfer any fractions or may ignore fractions altogether, and may fix the value for distribution purposes of any assets or any 
part thereof to be distributed and may determine that cash shall be paid to any members upon the footing of the value so fixed in order to 
secure equality of distribution and may vest any assets to be distributed in trustees as may seem expedient to the board.

 

131. Scrip Dividends and Dividend Plans Generally
 

  The board may, if authorised by an ordinary resolution of the company, offer any holders of ordinary shares (excluding any member 
holding shares as treasury shares) the right to elect to receive ordinary shares, credited as fully paid, instead of cash in respect of the 
whole (or some part, to be determined by the board) of any dividend specified by the ordinary resolution. The following provisions shall 
apply:

 (i)  an ordinary resolution may specify some or all of a particular dividend (whether or not already declared) or may specify some or all 
of any dividends declared or paid within a specified period, but such period may not end later than the fifth anniversary of the date 
of the meeting at which the ordinary resolution is passed;

 

 (ii)  the entitlement of each holder of ordinary shares to new ordinary shares shall be such that the relevant value of the entitlement shall 
be as nearly as possible equal to (but not greater than) the cash amount (disregarding any tax credit) of the dividend that such holder 
elects to forgo. For this purpose “relevant value” shall be calculated by reference to the average of the middle market quotations 
for the company’s ordinary shares on the London Stock Exchange as derived from the Daily Official List (or any other publication 
of a recognised investment exchange showing quotations for the company’s ordinary shares) on such five consecutive dealing days 
as the board shall determine provided that the first of such days shall be on or after the day on which the ordinary shares are first 
quoted “ex” the relevant dividend or in such other manner as may be determined by or in accordance with the ordinary resolution. 
A certificate or report by the auditors as to the amount of the relevant value in respect of any dividend shall be conclusive evidence 
of that amount and in giving such a certificate or report the auditors may rely on advice or information from brokers or other 
sources of information as they think fit;

 

 (iii) no fraction of any ordinary share shall be allotted. The board may make such provisions as it thinks fit for any fractional 
entitlements including provisions whereby, in whole or in part, the benefit thereof accrues to the company and/or under which 
fractional entitlements are accrued and/or retained and in each case accumulated on behalf of any holder of ordinary shares and 
such accruals or retentions are applied to the allotment by way of bonus to or cash subscription on behalf of such holder of fully 
paid ordinary shares and/or provisions whereby cash payments may be made to such holders in respect of their fractional 
entitlements;
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 (iv)  the board, if it intends to offer an election in respect of any dividend, shall give notice to the holders of ordinary shares of the right 
of election offered to them, and specify the procedure to be followed which, for the avoidance of doubt, may include an election by 
means of a relevant system and the place at which, and the latest time by which, elections must be lodged in order for elections to 
be effective; no such notice need be given to holders of ordinary shares who have previously given election mandates in 
accordance with this article and whose mandates have not been revoked; the accidental omission to give notice of any right of 
election to, or the non receipt of any such notice by, any holder of ordinary shares entitled to the same shall neither invalidate any 
offer of an election nor give rise to any claim, suit or action;

 

 (v)  the board shall not proceed with any election unless the company has sufficient reserves or funds that may be capitalised, and the 
board has authority to allot sufficient shares, to give effect to it after the basis of allotment is determined;

 

 (vi)  the board may exclude or restrict from any offer any shareholder who is an Approved Depositary or a nominee for an Approved 
Depositary if the offer or exercise of the right to or by the persons on whose behalf the Approved Depositary holds the shares 
would suffer legal or practical problems of the kind mentioned in Article 131(A)(vii). If other shareholders (other than those 
excluded under Article 131(A)(vii)) have the right to opt for new shares, the directors must be satisfied that an appropriate dividend 
reinvestment plan or similar arrangement is available to a substantial majority of the people on whose behalf the Approved 
Depositary holds shares or that such arrangement will be available promptly and the first sentence of this Article 131(A)(vi) does 
not apply until the directors are satisfied of this;

 

 (vii)  the board may exclude from any offer or make other arrangement in relation to any holders of ordinary shares where the board 
believes that such exclusion or arrangement is necessary or expedient in relation to legal or practical problems under the laws of, or 
the requirements of any recognised regulatory body or any stock exchange in, any territory, or the board believes that for any other 
reason the offer should not be made to them;

 

 (viii) the dividend (or that part of the dividend in respect of which a right of election has been offered) shall not be payable on ordinary 
shares in respect of which an election has been made (for the purposes of this article “the elected ordinary shares”) and instead 
additional ordinary shares shall be allotted to the holders of the elected ordinary shares on the basis of allotment calculated as 
stated. For such purpose the board shall capitalise, out of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including the 
profit and loss account or retained earnings) at the relevant time whether or not the same is available for distribution as the board 
may determine, a sum equal to the aggregate nominal amount of the additional ordinary shares to be allotted on that basis and 
apply it in paying up in full the appropriate number of unissued ordinary shares for allotment and distribution to the holders of the 
elected ordinary shares on that basis. The board may do all acts and things considered necessary or expedient to give effect to any 
such capitalisation;
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Capitalisation of Reserves  

 (ix)  the additional ordinary shares when allotted shall rank pari passu in all respects with the fully-paid ordinary shares then in issue 
except that they will not be entitled to participation in the relevant dividend;

 

 (x)  unless the board otherwise determines, or unless the uncertificated securities rules otherwise require, the new ordinary share or 
shares which a member has elected to receive instead of cash in respect of the whole (or some part) of the specified dividend 
declared or paid in respect of his elected ordinary shares shall be in uncertificated form (in respect of the member’s elected 
ordinary shares which were in uncertificated form on the date of the member’s election) and in certificated form (in respect of the 
member’s elected ordinary shares which were in certificated form on the date of the member’s election);

 

 (xi)  the board may also from time to time establish or vary a procedure for election mandates, which, for the avoidance of doubt, may 
include an election by means of a relevant system, under which a holder of ordinary shares may elect in respect of future rights of 
election offered to that holder under this article until the election mandate is revoked or deemed to be revoked in accordance with 
the procedure;

 

 (xii)  the board may decide how any costs relating to making new shares available in place of a cash dividend will be met, including 
deciding to deduct an amount from the entitlement of a shareholder under this article; and

 

 (xiii) at any time before new ordinary shares are allotted instead of cash in respect of any part of a dividend, the board may determine 
that such new ordinary shares will not be allotted. Any such determination may be made before or after any election has been made 
by holders of ordinary shares in respect of the relevant dividend.

132. Power to Capitalise Reserves and Funds
 

  The company may, upon the recommendation of the board, at any time and from time to time pass an ordinary resolution to the effect 
that it is desirable to capitalise all or any part of any amount standing to the credit of any reserve or fund (including retained earnings) at 
the relevant time whether or not the same is available for distribution and accordingly that the amount to be capitalised be set free for 
distribution among the members or any class of members who would be entitled to it if it were distributed by way of dividend and in the 
same proportions, on the footing that it is applied either in or towards paying up the amounts unpaid at the relevant time on any shares in 
the company held by those members respectively or in paying up in full unissued shares, debentures or other obligations of the company 
to be allotted and distributed credited as fully paid up among those members, or partly in one way and partly in the other, but so that, for 
the purposes of this article: (i) a share premium account and a capital redemption reserve, and any reserve or fund representing unrealised 
profits, may be applied only in paying up in full unissued shares of the company; and (ii) where the amount capitalised is applied in 
paying up in full unissued shares, the company will also be entitled to participate in the relevant distribution in relation to any shares of 
the relevant class held by it as treasury shares and the proportionate entitlement of the relevant class of members to the distribution will 
be calculated accordingly. The board may authorise any person to enter
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Record Dates  

Records and Summary Financial Statements  

Service of Notices, Documents and Other Information  

   

  into an agreement with the company on behalf of the persons entitled to participate in the distribution and the agreement shall be binding 
on those persons.

 

133. Settlement of Difficulties in Distribution
 

  Where any difficulty arises in regard to any distribution of any capitalised reserve or fund the board may settle the matter as it thinks 
expedient and in particular may authorise any person to sell and transfer any fractions or may resolve that the distribution should be as 
nearly as may be practicable in the correct proportion but not exactly so or may ignore fractions altogether, and may determine that cash 
payments shall be made to any members in order to adjust the rights of all parties, as may seem expedient to the board.

134. Power to Choose Any Record Date
 

  Notwithstanding any other provision of these articles, the company or the board may fix any date as the record date for any dividend, 
distribution, allotment or issue and such record date may be on or at any time before or after any date on which the dividend, distribution, 
allotment or issue is declared, paid or made. The power to fix any such record date shall include the power to fix a time on the chosen 
date.

135. Inspection of Records
 

  No member in his capacity as such shall have any right of inspecting any accounting record or book or document of the company except 
as conferred by law, ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction or authorised by the board or by ordinary resolution of the company.

 

136. Summary Financial Statements
 

  The company may send or supply summary financial statements to members of the company instead of copies of its full accounts and 
reports.

137. Method of Service

 (A)  Any notice, document (including a share certificate) or other information may be served on or sent or supplied to any member by 
the company:

 (i)  personally;
 

 (ii)  by sending it through the post addressed to the member at his registered address or by leaving it at that address addressed to 
the member;

 

 (iii)  by means of a relevant system;
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 (iv)  where appropriate, by sending or supplying it in electronic form to an address notified by the member to the company for 
that purpose;

 

 (v)  where appropriate, by making it available on a website and notifying the member of its availability in accordance with this 
article; or

 

 (vi)  by any other means authorised in writing by the member.
 

   In the case of joint holders of a share, service, sending or supply of any notice, document or other information on or to one 
of the joint holders shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient service on or sending or supplying to all the joint holders.

 (B)  In the case of joint holders of a share, anything to be agreed or specified in relation to any notice, document or other information 
to be served on or sent or supplied to them may be agreed or specified by any one of the joint holders and the agreement or 
specification of the senior shall be accepted to the exclusion of that of the other joint holders and, for this purpose, seniority shall 
be determined by the order in which the names stand in the register in respect of the joint holding.

 

 (C)  If any member, including any joint holder, who is without a United Kingdom or United States postal address provides the 
company with such postal address is entitled to have notice or documents served or supplied to him at that address. If such a 
member fails to provide the company with a United Kingdom or United States postal address he may be ignored for the purposes 
of sufficient service or supply of any notice or documents.

 

 (D)  If on three consecutive occasions any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to a member has been 
returned undelivered, such member shall not thereafter be entitled to receive notices, documents or other information from the 
company until he shall have communicated with the company and supplied to the company (or its agent) a new registered address, 
or a postal address within the United Kingdom or the United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of 
documents and other information, or shall have informed the company of an address for the service of notices and the despatch or 
supply of documents and other information in electronic form. For these purposes, any notice, document or other information sent 
by post shall be treated as returned undelivered if the notice, document or other information is served, sent or supplied back to the 
company (or its agents) and a notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied in electronic form shall be treated as 
returned undelivered if the company (or its agents) receives notification that the notice, document or other information was not 
delivered to the address to which it was sent.

 

 (E)  The company may at any time and in its sole discretion choose to serve, send or supply notices, documents or other information in 
hard copy form alone to some or all members.

138. Record Date for Service
 

  Any notice, document or other information may be served, sent or supplied by the company by reference to the register as it stands at any 
time not more than 15 days
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  before the date of service, sending or supply. No change in the register after that time shall invalidate that service, sending or supply. 
Where any notice, document or other information is served on or sent or supplied to any person in respect of a share in accordance with 
these articles, no person deriving any title or interest in that share shall be entitled to any further service, sending or supply of that 
notice, document or other information.

139. Members Resident Abroad or on Branch Registers

 (A)  Any member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company a 
postal address within the United Kingdom or the United States at which notices, documents or other information may be served 
upon, or sent or supplied to, him shall be entitled to have notices, documents or other information served on or sent or supplied to 
him at that address or, where applicable, by making them available on a website and notifying the holder at that address. Any 
member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the United States and who gives to the company an address 
for the purposes of communications by electronic means may, subject to these articles, have notices, documents or other 
information served on or sent or supplied to him at that address or, where applicable, by making them available on a website and 
notifying the holder at that address. Otherwise, a member whose registered address is not within the United Kingdom or the 
United States shall not be entitled to receive any notice, document or other information from the company.

 

 (B)  For a member registered on a branch register, notices, documents or other information can be posted or despatched in the United 
Kingdom, the United States or in the country where the branch register is kept.

140. Service of Notice on Person Entitled by Transmission
 

  A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, upon supplying the company with a postal address within the United Kingdom or the 
United States for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other information shall be entitled to have served 
upon or sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or other information to which he would have been entitled if he 
were the holder of that share or, where applicable, to be notified at that address of the availability of the notice, document or other 
information on a website. A person who is entitled by transmission to a share, upon supplying the company with an address for the 
purposes of communications by electronic means for the service of notices and the despatch or supply of documents and other 
information may have served on, sent or supplied to him at such address any notice, document or other information to which he would 
have been entitled if he were the holder of that share or, where applicable, may be notified at that address of the availability of the notice, 
document or other information on a website. In either case, such service, sending or supply shall for all purposes be deemed a sufficient 
service, sending or supply of such notice, document or other information on all persons interested (whether jointly with or as claimants 
through or under him) in the share. Otherwise, any notice, document or other information served on or sent or supplied to any member 
pursuant to these articles shall, notwithstanding that the member is then dead or bankrupt or that any other event giving rise to the 
transmission of the share by operation of law has occurred and whether or not the company has notice of the death, bankruptcy or other 
event, be deemed to have been
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  properly served, sent or supplied in respect of any share registered in the name of that member as sole or joint holder.

141. Deemed Delivery

 (A)  Any notice, document or other information, if served, sent or supplied by the company by post, shall be deemed to have been 
received on the day following that on which it was posted if first class post was used or 48 hours after it was posted if first class 
post was not used and, in proving that a notice, document or other information was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to 
prove that the notice, document or other information was properly addressed, prepaid and put in the post.

 

 (B)  Any notice, document or other information not served, sent or supplied by post but left by the company at a registered address or 
at an address (other than an address for the purposes of communications by electronic means) notified to the company in 
accordance with these articles by a person who is entitled by transmission to a share shall be deemed to have been received on the 
day it was so left.

 

 (C)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by means of a relevant system shall be 
deemed to have been received when the company or any sponsoring system-participant acting on its behalf sends the issuer-
instruction relating to the notice, document or other information.

 

 (D)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company using electronic means shall be deemed to 
have been received on the day on which it was sent notwithstanding that the company subsequently sends a hard copy of such 
notice, document or information by post. Any notice, document or other information made available on a website shall be deemed 
to have been received on the day on which the notice, document or other information was first made available on the website or, if 
later, when a notice of availability is received or deemed to have been received pursuant to this article. In proving that a notice, 
document or other information served, sent or supplied by electronic means was served, sent or supplied, it shall be sufficient to 
prove that it was properly addressed.

 

 (E)  Any notice, document or other information served, sent or supplied by the company by any other means authorised in writing by 
the member concerned shall be deemed to have been received when the company has carried out the action it has been authorised 
to take for that purpose.

142. Notice When Post Not Available
 

  If there is a suspension or curtailment of postal services within the United Kingdom, the United States or some part of either the United 
Kingdom or the United States, the company need only give notice of a general meeting to those members with whom the company can 
communicate by electronic means and who have provided the company with an address for this purpose. The company shall also 
advertise the notice in at least one newspaper with a national circulation and make it available on its website from the date of such 
advertisement until the conclusion of the meeting or any adjournment thereof. If at
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Destruction of Documents  

  least six clear days prior to the meeting the sending or supply of notices by post in hard copy form has again become generally possible, 
the company shall send or supply confirmatory copies of the notice by post to those members who would otherwise receive the notice in 
hard copy form.

143. Presumptions Where Documents Destroyed
 

  If the company destroys or deletes:

 (i)  any share certificate which has been cancelled at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the date of cancellation, or
 

 (ii)  any instruction concerning the payment of dividends or other moneys in respect of any share or any notification of change of name 
or address at any time after a period of two years has elapsed from the date the instruction or notification was recorded by the 
company, or

 

 (iii)  any instrument of transfer of shares or Operator-instruction for the transfer of shares which has been registered by the company at 
any time after a period of six years has elapsed from the date of registration, or

 

 (iv)  any instrument of proxy which has been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one year has elapsed from the 
date of use, or

 

 (v)  any instrument of proxy which has not been used for the purpose of a poll at any time after a period of one month has elapsed 
from the end of the meeting to which the instrument of proxy relates, or

 

 (vi)  any other document on the basis of which any entry is made in the register at any time after a period of six years has elapsed from 
the date the entry was first made in the register in respect of it,

  and the company destroys or deletes the document or instruction in good faith and without express notice that its preservation was 
relevant to a claim, it shall be presumed irrebuttably in favour of the company that every share certificate so destroyed was a valid 
certificate and was properly cancelled, that every instrument of transfer or Operator-instruction so destroyed or deleted was a valid and 
effective instrument of transfer or instruction and was properly registered and that every other document so destroyed was a valid and 
effective document and that any particulars of it which are recorded in the books or records of the company were correctly recorded. If 
the documents relate to uncertificated shares, the company must comply with any requirements of the uncertificated securities rules 
which limit its ability to destroy these documents. Nothing contained in this article shall be construed as imposing upon the company 
any liability which, but for this article, would not exist or by reason only of the destruction of any document of the kind mentioned 
above before the relevant period mentioned in this article has elapsed or of the fact that any other condition precedent to its destruction 
mentioned



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: 3347
Name: GLAXOSMITHKLINE     

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: EX-1.1, Doc: 2, Page: 68
Description: Exhibit 1.1    

0/4701.01.68.00U08350BOT[E/O]
EDGAR 2 *U08350/7010168/4*

B
O

W
N

E
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 T

Y
PE

SE
T

T
IN

G
 S

Y
ST

E
M

C
R

C
: 3

34
7

N
am

e:
 G

L
A

X
O

SM
IT

H
K

L
IN

E
   

  
D

at
e:

  1
-M

A
R

-2
01

0 
11

:4
4:

50
.9

0
O

pe
ra

to
r:

 B
O

L
00

01
0T

Ph
on

e:
 0

20
-7

55
1-

50
00

Si
te

: B
O

W
N

E
 O

F 
L

O
N

D
O

N

U
08

35
0.

SU
B

, D
oc

N
am

e:
 E

X
-1

.1
, D

oc
: 2

, P
ag

e:
 6

8
D

es
cr

ip
tio

n:
 E

xh
ib

it 
1.

1 
   

0/
4

70
1.

01
.6

8.
00

U
08

35
0

B
O

T
[E

/O
]

E
D

G
A

R
 2

*
U
0
8
3
5
0
/
7
0
1
0
1
6
8
/
4
*

                    

  

Indemnity and Insurance  

CE080700048  

   

  above has not been fulfilled. References in this article to the destruction of any document include references to its disposal in any 
manner.

144. Indemnity of Directors

 (A)  To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or other officer of the company or of any associated company shall 
be indemnified by the company out of its own funds against all costs, charges, losses, expenses and liabilities incurred by him in 
performing his duties and/or in exercising his powers and/or in supposedly doing these things and/or otherwise in relation to or in 
connection with his duties, powers or office.

 

 (B)  To the extent permitted by the Companies Acts, every director or other officer of the company or of any associated company is 
exempted from any liability to the company where that liability would be covered by the indemnity in Article 144(A).

 

 (C)  Without prejudice to Article 144(A), the company may purchase and maintain insurance against any liability for any persons who 
are or were at any time directors, officers or employees of the company or of any associated company or trustees of any pension 
fund or employee share scheme in which employees of any such company are interested.

 

 (D)  No director of the company or of any associated company shall be accountable to the company or the members for any benefit 
provided pursuant to this article and the receipt of any such benefit shall not disqualify the person from being or becoming a 
director of the company.

 

 (E)  For the purposes of this Article, no person appointed or employed by the company or an associated company as an auditor is an 
officer.
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Exhibit 4.5

Mr Andrew Witty 
GSK House 
980 Great West Road 
Brentford 
Middlesex 
TW8 9GS  

4 February, 2010  

Dear Andrew  

The purpose of this letter is to update and amend your Service Agreement with GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited dated 18 June, 2008 (“the 
Service Agreement”).  

This letter amends the Service Agreement as follows:  

•  The existing Section 3.3 in its entirety shall have no further effect from the date of this letter and will be regarded as deleted, and will be 
replaced by the following new Section 3.3:

 

  “3.3   Subject to Section 3.4, the Company may, in its absolute discretion, lawfully terminate the employment of the Executive at any time 
by paying to the Executive a sum equal to his basic salary (excluding any other benefits) for the period this Agreement would otherwise 
continue. For this purpose, basic salary shall be the basic annual salary in effect at the date of termination of the employment.”

 

•  The following Section 3.4 shall then be inserted:
 

  “3.4   If the Company chooses to enforce the restriction in Section 17.2.1 to prevent the Executive from engaging in any business activities 
for any part of the Restricted Period following the Termination Date, then in addition to paying the sum provided in Section 3.3, the 
Company must also pay to the Executive a sum equal to his bonus (calculated on a time pro-rated basis and on the assumption of on-target 
bonus performance) for the above part of the Restricted Period.”
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All other contractual terms relating to your employment (including other terms in the Service Agreement relating to the termination of your 
employment) will remain in full force.  

It is hereby noted that your base salary has been reviewed since the execution of the Service Agreement and is paid at the rate of £1,000,000 
per annum as at the date of this letter.  

•  The existing Section 5.2 shall be amended from the date of this letter so that the following sentences shall be regarded as deleted:
 

  “Any shares received under the GlaxoSmithKline Performance Share Plan concerning Target Awards granted in respect of any 
Performance Period must be held by the Executive for a period of 2 years following vesting. For the avoidance of doubt, the two year 
period commences the day next after the cessation of the Performance Period notwithstanding that the Executive may defer payment of 
such a Final Award in accordance with the rules of the plan.”

 

•  The existing Section 16.1.5 in its entirety shall have no further effect from the date of this letter and will be regarded as deleted, and will be 
replaced by the following new Section 16.1.5:

 

  “16.1.5   Subject to Section 16.1.10, where the Company gives notice to terminate the Employment in accordance with Section 3.2 (except 
where termination is effected pursuant to the terms of Section 15) above then notwithstanding the continuation of the Employment during 
any period after notice has been given, including, any Garden Leave Period, within 30 days of the date such notice was given to the 
Executive, the Company shall pay to the Executive as a lump sum his full salary in respect of the entire period of notice (except for any 
part of it attributable to the period falling after the Executive’s Retirement Date and subject to deduction of tax and any other deductions 
required to be made) (the “Lump Sum”). For this purpose, full salary shall be the basic annual salary in effect at the date such notice is 
given to the Executive. For the avoidance of doubt, the payment by the Company to the Executive of the Lump Sum will extinguish any and 
all liability imposed on the Company under this Agreement to make any further payment to the Executive in respect of salary under this 
Agreement during any period after notice has been given, including, any Garden Leave Period.”

 

•  The following Section 16.1.10 shall then be inserted:
 

  “16.1.10   Where Section 16.1.5 applies, if the Company chooses to enforce the restriction contained in Section 17.2.1 to prevent the 
Executive from engaging in any business activities for any part of the Restricted Period following the Termination Date, then the Lump 
Sum in Section 16.1.5 shall include also the Executive’s bonus (calculated on a time pro-rated basis and on the assumption of on-target 
bonus performance).”
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If you agree to the above amendments to the Service Agreement, please countersign and date both copies of this letter and return one copy to 
me.  

Yours sincerely  

For and on behalf of 
GlaxoSmithKline Services Unlimited  

*******************************************  

I hereby agree that the above amendments to the Service Agreement will take effect from the date of this letter  

     
  
/s/ Victoria Whyte  
Victoria A Whyte 
Assistant Company Secretary 

 

 

     
/s/ Andrew Witty 
  

  05/02/10    
Andrew P Witty    Date   
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Exhibit 12.1

Section 302 Certificate  

Form of Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

I, Andrew Witty, certify that:  

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d) disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by 
the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and  

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of GlaxoSmithKline plc;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4.  The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

5.  The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

 a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

  
  
Date: March 1, 2010 /s/ Andrew Witty  
 Mr Andrew Witty  
 Chief Executive Officer  
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Exhibit 12.2

Section 302 Certificate  

Form of Certification Required by Rule 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934  

I, Julian Heslop, certify that:  

a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be designed under our 
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the company, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by 
others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;  

b) designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting to be designed under our 
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for 
external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;  

c) evaluated the effectiveness of the company’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the 
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and  

d) disclosed in this report any change in the company’s internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the period covered by 
the annual report that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the company’s internal control over financial 
reporting; and  

a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial reporting which are 
reasonably likely to adversely affect the company’s ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and  

  

1.  I have reviewed this annual report on Form 20-F of GlaxoSmithKline plc;
 

2.  Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to 
make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period 
covered by this report;

 

3.  Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material 
respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the company as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

 

4.  The company’s other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as 
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange Act 
Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the company and have:

5.  The company’s other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial 
reporting, to the company’s auditors and the audit committee of the company’s board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent 
functions):

 b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the company’s internal 
control over financial reporting.

  
  
Date: March 1, 2010 /s/ Julian Heslop  
 Mr Julian Heslop  
 Chief Financial Officer  
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Exhibit 13.1

Section 906 Certificate  

Certification Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 
(Subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States Code)  

Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 (subsections (a) and (b) of Section 1350, Chapter 63 of Title 18, United States 
Code), each of the undersigned officers of GlaxoSmithKline plc, a public limited company incorporated under English law (the “company”), 
does hereby certify, to such officer’s knowledge, that:  

The Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2009 (the “Form 20-F”) of the company fully complies with the 
requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and information contained in the Form 20-F fairly presents, in 
all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of the company.  

1

  

  
  
Date: March 1, 2010 /s/ Andrew Witty  
 Mr Andrew Witty  
 Chief Executive Officer  
 
  
Date: March 1, 2010 /s/ Julian Heslop  
 Mr Julian Heslop  
 Chief Financial Officer  
 



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: *
Lines: *Name: *

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: EX-15.1, Doc: 7

Validation: N * DOCHDR 7*BOT* *DOCHDR/7*

<DOCUMENT>
<TYPE>         EX-15.1
<FILENAME>     u08350exv15w1.htm
<DESCRIPTION>  EX-15.1
<TEXT>
 



BOWNE INTEGRATED TYPESETTING SYSTEM

CRC: 32382
Name: GLAXOSMITHKLINE     

Date:  1-MAR-2010 11:44:50.90Operator: BOL00010TPhone: 020-7551-5000Site: BOWNE OF LONDON

U08350.SUB, DocName: EX-15.1, Doc: 7, Page: 1
 

0/2715.01.01.00U08350BOT[E/O]
EDGAR 2 *U08350/7150101/2*

B
O

W
N

E
 I

N
T

E
G

R
A

T
E

D
 T

Y
PE

SE
T

T
IN

G
 S

Y
ST

E
M

C
R

C
: 3

23
82

N
am

e:
 G

L
A

X
O

SM
IT

H
K

L
IN

E
   

  
D

at
e:

  1
-M

A
R

-2
01

0 
11

:4
4:

50
.9

0
O

pe
ra

to
r:

 B
O

L
00

01
0T

Ph
on

e:
 0

20
-7

55
1-

50
00

Si
te

: B
O

W
N

E
 O

F 
L

O
N

D
O

N

U
08

35
0.

SU
B

, D
oc

N
am

e:
 E

X
-1

5.
1,

 D
oc

: 7
, P

ag
e:

 1
 

0/
2

71
5.

01
.0

1.
00

U
08

35
0

B
O

T
[E

/O
]

E
D

G
A

R
 2

*
U
0
8
3
5
0
/
7
1
5
0
1
0
1
/
2
*

  

  

Exhibit 15.1

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM  

We hereby consent to the incorporation by reference in the Registration Statement on Form F-3 (Nos. 333-149531, 333-149531-01 and 333-
149531-02) of GlaxoSmithKline plc, GlaxoSmithKline Capital plc and GlaxoSmithKline Capital Inc., and in the Registration Statements on 
Form S-8 (Nos. 333-13022, 333-88966, 333-100388 and 333-162702) of GlaxoSmithKline plc of our report dated 1 March 2010, relating to 
the financial statements and the effectiveness of internal control over financial reporting of GlaxoSmithKline plc, which appears in this Annual 
Report on Form 20-F.  

/s/ PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP  

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP 
London, England 
1 March 2010  




